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Highlights — continuing operations

e £633 5m Revenue 2007 (2006 £591 5m)

o £258 2m Profit before interest 2007 (2006 £236 2m)
e £147 8m Profit before tax 2007 (2006 £130 3m)

s £111 2m Profit after tax 2007 (2006 £91 Om)

* Total regulated capital investment for the year of £225 million, cumulative investment of £436 9 million
over last two years, on track to invest £1 billion by 2010

s Customers to benefit from price changes from April 2007 to March 2010 decision taken by NWL not to
increase prices by the full amount allowed by Ofwat at the last price review

o Continuing high levels of customer service and satisfaction

¢ Financial position strengthened by the 1ssue of two £100 million index linked Eurobonds to finance
capital investment through to 2010

s Proposed final dividend of 7 52 pence per share to be paid on 14 September 2007, giving a full year
ordinary dividend of 11 27 pence per share, an increase of 6 7%

¢ Delivering regulatory outputs for drinking water quahty and environmental improvement

e  Water supplies maintained without restriction, resource management imitiatives implemented, including
plans for a projected 60% increase in capacity at Abberton

o Leakage targets achieved for eighth consecutive year

s Best ever bathing water quality results




NWG at a glance

Northumbrian Water Group ple

Northumbrian Water Group plc (NWG) owns a number of compantes which, together waith NWG, form the
Group The largest of these companies, Northumbrian Water Limited (NWL), 1s one of the ten regulated water
and sewerage businesses 1n England and Wales N'WL operates 1n the north east of England, where 1t trades as
Northumbrian Water, and 1n the south east of England, where 1t trades as Essex & Suffolk Water
Northumbrnian Water currently provides water and sewerage services to 2 6 million people and Essex & Suffolk
Water provides water services to 1 7 million people

Water and waste water contracts
NWG owns a number of special purpose companies which hold water and waste water contracts in Scotland,
[reland and Gibraltar

Related services

Analytical & Environmental Services Limited (AES) provided environmental momitoring services, analysis and
technical consultancy to major industrial groups, environmental regulators and local authorities throughout the
UK and Ireland during the year On 31 March 2007, the business of AES merged with NWL and continues to
operate as a trading division of NWL

SA Agrer NV (Agrer) carries out project work 1n developing countnies through a number of overseas aid funded
agencies




Chairman’s statement

Throughout my career [ have been interested 1n the environment and public health, and have been 1n no doubt
about the central importance of water for our health, and for our social and environmental well-being I was,
therefore, delighted to join the NWG Board 1in 2003 and my very positive initial view of the Company has been
confirmed as [ deepen my understanding of 1ts values, what 1t does and the way 1t operates

I became Chairman of NWG and of 1ts core water services business, NWL, 1n July 2006, and look forward to
guiding the Group through the challenges ahead for the benefit of our three key groups of stakeholders our
customers, our employees and our shareholders

The Group continues to have a strong reputation and the Board believes this 1s important to the Group’s ability
to conduct business Maintaining that reputation 1s a critical part of sustaining the legitimacy of the business in
the eyes of customers and other stakeholders A strong reputation and a high standard of service to customers
build trust in the organisation

During the past year, we have performed well against a wide range of internal and external measures. These are
significant achievements set against the background of higher energy prices, which affect all areas of the
business | am particularly pleased to report that in our southern operating area we did not need to introduce
water restrictions last summer I would like to thank all our customers, who responded positively to our appeals
to use water wisely and enabled us to maintain their supplies

Mamtaining a high level of well directed investment 1s vital to our continuing success In June 2006, we
secured further funding to enable us to dehver the high levels of investment planned up to 2010 With funding
in place and its strong performance, NWL’s board decided not to increase prices by the amount allowed by the
regulator at the last price review The benefit to customers from 2007 to 2010 will be around £22 nullion

NWG’s revenue was £633 5 mullion for the year to 31 March 2007 and represents a 7.1% increase on the year
to 31 March 2006

Profit on ordinary activities before interest for the year was £258 2 muilion (2006 £236 2 million)

These results could not have been achieved without the skills and effort of everyone within the Group and 1
would like to record my thanks to them all

At the Annual General Meeting (AGM) on 2 August 2007, the Board will recommend a final dividend of 7 52
pence per share for the year ended 31 March 2007 Together with the interim dividend of 3 75 pence per share,
the dividend for the year will be 11 27 pence per share This represents an increase of 6 7% on the ordinary
dividend for the previous year in line with the dividend pohicy we announced in June 2005, which 1s to grow
the dividend by around 3% per annum, before inflation, in the current regulatory period

The Group has a significant impact on the environment and we are determined to continue to improve our
environmental performance, building on much good work already done

We need to be mindful of the effects climate change 1s expected to have on the water cycle Of course, those
effects cannot be predicted with certainty so we must prepare for an uncertain future, finding even more ways to
improve the way we retain, recycle and distribute water Our customers need to be confident that we will
continue to supply excellent dninking water, while managing safe and efficient waste water processes




We have embarked on a new mvestment programme and we are confident that we can manage the nsks and
uncertainties faced by the water industry Our strategy to reduce energy use and the risks from the effects of
climate change 1s underpinned by the work we have already done and sets a clear direction for the future We
will continue to use technology effectively to improve customer service, drive costs down and improve
efficiency

The Group has sustained 1ts focus on core competencies and merged the business of AES with NWL on 31
March 2007. We have brought together expertise from the two companies and are building on existing
strengths to deliver an improved service

In September 2006 Alex Scott-Barrett, a non-executive director of NWL, joined the NWG Board Dr Simon
Lyster was appointed to the NWL board 1in October 2006 He 1s a lawyer by profession, and 1s Chief Executive
of LEAD International (Leadership for Environment and Development) On leaving Ontanio Teachers’ Pension
Plan Board (OTPP) for another post, Ron Lepin resigned from the NWG and NWL boards on 1 December
2006 He was replaced by Claude Lamoureux, who 1s President and CEO of OTPP

As the business goes forward, our prionty 1s long term sustainability and we all know we must do everything
we can to achieve this for the business, our investors, customers and the environment
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Directors’ report and business review

The NWG directors are pleased to present therr report on the affairs of the Company, along with the audited
financial statements and the auditors’ report for the year ended 31 March 2007

DIRECTORS

The directors are Sir Derek Wanless, Sir Patrick Brown, John Cuthbert, Chris Green, Claude Lamoureux,
Martin Negre, Alex Scott-Barrett and Jenny Williams All were directors of the Company as at 31 March 2007
and served throughout the year, apart from Alex Scott-Barrett, who was appointed on 26 September 2006, and
Claude Lamoureux, who was appointed on 1 December 2006

Sir Fred Holliday, who was Chairman of the Board on 1 April 2006, retired on 27 July 2006 and was succeeded
as Chairman by Sir Derek Wanless Ron Lepin was a director at the start of the year, but resigned from the
Board on 1 December 2006

In accordance with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance (the Combined Code) and the Company’s
Articles of Association (the Articles), two directors will retire by rotation and offer themselves for re-
appointment at this year’s AGM Those directors are Sir Derek Wanless and Jenny Williams In addition, Alex
Scott-Barrett and Claude Lamoureux, having been appointed to the Board since the 2006 AGM, will offer
themselves for appointment at this AGM The directors’ biographies are set out on pages 29 and 30

ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group during the year were the provision of water, waste water management and
related services




BUSINESS STRATEGY

Our mission 1s clear - to be a national leader in the provision of sustainable water and waste water services, our
strategy reflects this and provides a clear direction for all of our activities

NWG has a well developed strategy. It continues to focus on the Group’s core competencies of water and waste
water management, and aims to deliver value to all stakeholders by being a leading performer in the industry.
All operations are geared to delivering efficient and effective outputs

NWG 1s firmly rooted within the communities 1t serves Our commitment to those communities 1s
demonstrated by our leadership in imitiatives such as ‘Water for health’” and 1n our approach to corporate
responsibility

To achieve the aspirations 1n our mission we focus on three strategic priorities

To maintain our strong reputation and relationships by
e creating sharcholder value,
¢ delivering excellent service to customers,
e delivening regulatory outputs, and
e nvolving our main stakeholder groups

To ensure a stable financial profile by
* maximising revenue,
e delivering operational efficiency, and
e securing low cost long term funds

To develop a culture of continuous improvement by
maintaining a rigorous risk management process,
promoting a flexible and proactive attitude,
embracing a sustainable and responsible approach,
ensuring a focus on safety, and

encouraging employees to fulfil their potential

Business planning 1s central to delivery of our long term objectives It identifies how we will achieve our
objectives and establishes the targets and principal actions against which business units are measured
Measurement focuses on key performance indicators (KPIs) set during the business planning process, which are
hnked to regulatory and business targets

NWL 1s, by far, the largest of NWG’s businesses and, like all UK water and sewerage companies, it 1s heavily
regulated Its success as a business depends on efficient delivery of its services and of quality improvements
required by the Water Services Regulation Authority (Ofwat) 1n order to outperform the regulatory financial
settlement




OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Geography
NWL operates in the north east and south east of England

Its northern operating area 1s i a region of modest economic growth, which 1s considerably stronger now than
in recent years It has a declining industrial customer base and industrial demand for water, but a growing
demand from domestic customers It has well developed resources, such as Kielder Water, and these, coupled
with above average rainfall in the region, enable 1t to meet expected demand. In addition to 1ts sewerage
services, NWL continues to provide expert industrial effluent treatment services through 1ts major treatment
works at Bran Sands on Teesside

In contrast, NWL"s southern operating area ts in a region of rapid economic and population growth, although 1t
too has seen a reduction 1n demand from heavy industry This emphasises the importance of the company’s well
developed plans for resource development to meet additional water demand 1n a region where water resources
are already constrained

Regulation
The UK water industry 1s highly regulated

Ofwat, the economic regulator, has set NWL’s price ltmits for the five years to 2010, using the following
assumptions.

e annual average operating efficiency improvements of 1 2% for water and 2 0% for sewerage,

e overall capital mamtenance efficiency improvements of 3 6% for water and 3 9% for sewerage (for the
full five year period),

e overall capital enhancement improvements of 14 8% for water and 14 6% for sewerage (for the full five
year period), and

o an industry cost of capital of 5 1% real, post tax

For the second year of this five year period, NWL’s operating costs were £7 2 million above Ofwat’s
assumption, due to the increase in energy costs Energy costs have since fallen by around 35% from their peak
and, 1f this level 1s maintained, we expect to achieve Ofwat’s efficiency targets in the remaining years to 2010
Prices 1n 2006/07 increased by 3 7% before inflation and for the next three years price hmits wali be

Price limits per year 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10
% increase above inflation 28 nil nil

This represents a reduction in the price imits set by Ofwat Customers are to benefit from price changes in the
period from April 2007 to March 2010 following confirmation from NWL that it will not increase prices by the
amount allowed by Ofwat at the last price review The cumulative benefit to customers from 2007 to 2010 will
be around £22 miilion

Market conditions have been favourable over the last 18 months and NWL has taken advantage of this and
secured funding on attractive terms for the capital programme through to 2010. The benefit of thes, together
with the strong performance to date, informed the decision of the NWL board to limit increases in bills in
2008/09 and 2009/10 to RPI

The price limit for 2007/08 of 3 2% has already been reduced to 2 8% and this 1s reflected 1n current bills The
price limits for 2008/09 and 2009/10, of 1% and 0 6% respectively, include financeability adjustments
introduced to ensure companies could finance their functions with adequate financial ratios throughout the
2005 to 2010 period These adjustments were to assist financing and were not available for distribution
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This has no impact on dividend policy and shareholders will continue to benefit from any outperformance

NWL’s Regulatory Capital Value (RCV), as advised by Ofwat, at 31 March 2007 was £2,817 million and for
the next three years will be

RCV at 31 March 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10
Outturn prices, assuming inflation of
2 5% per year (£ millign) 2,940 3,047 3,127

Over the five years to 2010, NWL will invest around £1 billion

Ofwat also momitors levels of customer service, whilst the Environment Agency (EA) deals with environmental
protection and the Drinking Water Inspectorate (DWI) monitors drinking water quality NWL has good
working relationships with them and with other regional orgamsations, such as local authorities, which have an
interest in the services 1t provides and have regulatory powers that affect the company

We are working with the EA to consider the drivers for investment beyond 2010, including the Water
Framework Directive (WFD) The quality of nivers and bathing waters 1n the north east 1s among the best in the
country and our initial view 1s that the investment required to comply with the WFD will be less than in many
other regions Nutrient removal, particularly phosphates, 1s hikely to be an important factor, with ammonia also
requinng attention n some cases In order to achieve a cost effective programme and meet the ‘polluter pays’
principle, other sources of these pollutants must also be addressed Removing the source of the problem, for
example by changing farming or land management practice, may be cheaper but could take longer to deliver.
We need to ensure that ‘end of pipe’ solutions are not viewed as an easy option The Consumer Council for
Water (CCWater), the independent body which represents customer nterests, 1s also fully engaged in work with
the EA and other stakeholders to develop a sustainable, coordinated approach to achieving environmental
objectives

1t will be increasingly important to ensure an appropnate balance between marginal improvements in river
quality and the energy, concrete and chemicals required to achieve this In some cases the increased carbon
footprint may outweigh the environmental benefit

Through Water UK, we have worked closely with the EA 1n developing ‘Together Towards Sustainable Water
— a sector plan for water’ which sets out a long term environmental vision for the water sector This 15 due to be
published later this year

We are participating in the Northumbria River Basin Liaison Panel which 1s developing the plan to meet the
WFD 1n the north east This panel 1s currenily considering the Significant Water Management Issues (SWMIs)
for the region Action plans to address the SWMIs will be a key element of the programme of measures to be
agreed by 2008

We have applied to the EA to have the consents for six coastal sewage treatment works (STWs) amended
These works discharge highly treated effluent through long sea outfalls The final stage of treatment, ultraviolet
(UV) disinfection, 1s energy intensive, contributing to significant CO, emissions Our modelhing concludes that
bathing waters 1n the vicinity would meet not only EU Mandatory but also the stricter Guideline Standard,
without UV treatment We have applied to restrict UV application to summer months. This application raises
umportant 1ssues about achieving the right environmental balance and we await a decision




NWL welcomes Ofwat’s new duty to contribute to sustainable development Many of the key challenges for the
water industry have sustainable development at their core implementing the WED, developing long term
maintenance strategies, balancing supply and demand, ensuring that bills remain affordable, and managing the
effects of climate change NWL will evaluate these 1ssues 1n the context of wader social and economic
considerations and as part of 1ts corporate responsibility programme

Regulators can play an important role in the water industry by incentivising sustainable approaches, but water
companies must take the lead 1n promoting sustamable development both 1n their planning and operations
NWL will continue to make these responsibilities a high priority

An important step leading up to the next price review 1n 2009 1s NWL’s Strategic Direction Statement Thas 1s
now being prepared and will outhne a 25 year vision for the company, as well as key objectives for the next
five years The Statement will be published n the autumn and will be used as the basis for a stakeholder

consultation exercise 1n each of our operating areas, which will in turn help inform the periodic review of prices
n 2009

The Water Supply Licensing regime has been slow to develop NWL has agreed Wholesale Master Agreements
with two new entrants but to date no customers have transferred

in April 2007, Ofwat published the findings of 1ts internal review of the current state of competition 1n the
water industry It 1s currently consulting on proposals that may help the current system to work more
effectively We will be responding to these proposals and will continue to make a full contribution to the debate
on the role of competition 1n water and waste water services

We welcome Ofwat’s decision to launch a wider review of the opportunities for extending the scope for
competition including the possibility of new legislation and more radical structural measures We think 1t 1s
right to engage 1n a full public debate on these 1ssues

In our view, any decisions on the role of competition need to be based on the best interest of customers We
regard competition as a means to an end rather than an end 1n 1itself. The essential characteristics of water
supply make the process something of a natural monopoly so the scope for competition 1s likely to be less than

n other utilities However, there may be opportunities to expand competition beyond 1ts current very limited
level

Relationships

The Group as a whole has a code of conduct covering 1ts relationships with 1ts customers, employees, supphers,
local communities, shareholders, other investors and regulators NWG communicates regularly with 1ts
stakeholders 1n face-to-face meetings, by printed and electronic forms of communication and through the
media

National

NWL 1s an active member of Water UK, the industry association that represents all UK water and waste water
service suppliers at national and European level It provides a positive framework for the industry to engage
with Government, regulators, stakeholder orgamisations and the public and helps to develop policy and improve
understanding of the industry

We also meet regularly with national, regional and local authorities and other appropnate organisations to
explain NWL’s activities and related 1ssues




Political

We do not support any political party and we do not, directly or through any subsidiary, make what are
commonly regarded as donations to any political party However, the wide defimition of donations 1n the
Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000 (PPERA 2000} covers activities which form part of the
necessary relationship between the Company and political orgamisations These activities include attending
Party Conferences, as these provide the best opportunity to meet a range of stakeholders, both national and
local, to explain our activities, as well as local meetings with MPs, MEPs and their agents The costs associated
with these activities during 2006/07 were as follows

Organisation £
Labour 7,585
Liberal Democrats 2,293
Caonservative 2,303
Total 12,181

The expenditure reflects the representation of political parties in NWL's areas of supply Shareholder authority
to permit the Company to continue with these activities until the 2008 AGM will be sought at this year’s AGM

During the year, the Group’s work with senior politicians of all parties, officials and opimon formers included
making representations on issues that NWG feels are important to our customers and communities such as
abstraction charges, Water for health, climate change, the WFD and legislative 1ssues which could
detrimentally affect our customers

Investors

Communication with shareholders during the year 1s mainly through the annual and half yearly reports, and
through mformation on the Company's website The executive directors maintain regular contact with the
Company's large institutional investors, as well as giving regular presentations to analysts and stockbrokers
During the year, the executive directors met 59 times with mnstitutional investors, imcluding a visit in March by
institutional investors and analysts to some of our southern operational sites Further information on NWG's
shareholder relations 18 contained 1n the corporate governance report on page 37

As at 5 June 2007, the Company had been notified of the following interests 1n 3% or more 1n the voting rights
of its 1ssued share capital

Number of shares Percentage of

share

capital

Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan Board 129,655,961 25 00
Amvescap PL.C 72,165,166 1392
Pictet Asset Management SA 37,040,370 714

Domestic customers

Our relationship with our customers 1s central to the success of our services Our reputation for providing value
for money and working to maintain high levels of customer satistaction has helped us achieve a positive
response to our appeals to use water carefully. As a result, we did not have to impose restrictions on using
water, even in the driest parts of our operating areas




NWL tries to keep customers informed about 1ts activities via direct communications sent with bills and an
annual magazine called “The Source’ Customers directly affected by our works recerve a note detailing the
work, when it will be complete and the benefits of the work Customers also have access to a range of
information relating to the company’s services, which 1s available on our websites at www nwl co uk and
www eswater co uk These were re-launched in January and provide a more flexible source of information for
customers, including details of activities in their area

NWL also communicates with local communities through public meetings and written material when we need
to explain the impact of work we are due to carry out

Business customers

We have regular meetings with the business community and 1ts representative groups such as the CBI and
Chambers of Commerce

The north east has a strong industrial base and NWL has well-established relationships with its key industrial
and commercial customers The availability of both high quahity potable and raw water together with access to
reliable eftfluent treatment services 1s valued by existing customers and 1s also attractive to prospective
investors 1n the region

Employees and employee policies

Each company within the Group has developed 1its own employee policies reflecting the framework set out 1n
NWG’s Our Code of Conduct, which 1s available on the Company’s website These policies are tailored to
specific business objectives and operating environments Each company aims to recruit and retain the best
people, with a diverse range of skills, experience and backgrounds, who are commutted to making the company
successful In return, companies aim to provide opportumties and training for employees to develop therr skills
and capabilities to equip them to meet the challenges of their roles, while rewarding the contributions of both
teams and individuals

Equal opportunities

The Group operates an equal opportunity pelicy and promotes equality of opportunity in recruitment,
employment continuity and training and career development. The pohicy 1s designed to ensure that no applicant
or employee receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of age, gender, disahlity, race, rehigion or sexual
orientation

We give full consideration to applications for employment from disabled people where the requirements of the
Job are appropnate or can be suitably adapted Where existing employees become disabled, 1t 1s our policy,
wherever practicable, to provide continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide
training and career development and promotion to disabled employees.

Consultation
Each company engages with 1ts employees through formal consultation processes These ensure that all
employees understand and have the opportunity to discuss i1ssues which affect the company

Tramming and development
All Group companies train and develop their employees to benefit both the company and the individual

One of our aims 1s to develop leadership skills in current and potential managers, and NWL has introduced a
Management Development Framework with the Newcastle Business School The five programmes will give
potential leaders a path from a diploma to an Honours degree 1n leadership and management and ultimately,

where appropriate, to a Masters degree




Annual appraisals are given high prionty, as s the identification of training needs, in recognition of the
importance of training and development in achieving the Group's goals and policies

NWL 1s recruting for its new apprentice programme for electrical and mechanical apprentices The four year
partially funded programme will guarantee permanent jobs for apprentices who have successfully completed the
scheme

Communication

‘Unplugged’, the new Group magazine, was launched during the year and includes articles on activities and
news from across the business, giving an increased focus on the people who work in the business and their
achievements The Group also uses a range of communication methods, including team briefing, magazines,
newsletters, intranet, noticeboards and regular team meetings

Whistleblowing

The Group encourages open feedback and 1s commutted to protecting employees who wish to voice concerns
about behaviour or decisions that they believe to be unethical The Audit Commuttee momitors the effectiveness
of our Disclosure Policy and receives reports on any incidents

Health and safety

A safe working environment 1s given a high prionty across the Group The health and safety policy 1s
maintained and implemented through each subsidiary's individual health and safety team The Group's medical
advisor, Grosvenor Health, provides occupational health services

Employee Share Incentive Plan (SIP)

The directors believe that employee investment strengthens the ties between the Company and the Group's
employees More than a third participate 1n the SIP, with an interest 1n 0 34% of 1ssued share capital The
scheme provides one free matching share for every three shares purchased by an employee Shares for the SIP
are purchased at market price by the Trustee, and dividends are paid in cash directly to participants There are
no performance conditions attached to the SIP, but free shares not held n trust for at least 12 months are
forfeited
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Corporate responsibility
NWG takes 1ts corporate responsibilities seriously, aiming to balance social and environmental priorities This

approach underpins all our activities and 1s integral to the way we do business

The Group has sigmficant resources 1n 1ts assets, land and employees and we believe we have a responsibility
to use these resources for the benefit of customers and shareholders and the wider communities we serve

During the year, we developed a model to help the business to focus on corporate responsibility as part of

normal business practice

- Water Managemeng

——
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NWG also replaced the Sustainable Development Commuttee with a new Corporate Responsibility Committee
(CRC) with a wider remit The new commuttee comprises directors, management team members and senior
managers and will review policies, agree targets and the framework for activity 1n the model Specialist
working groups are responsible for investigating and advising on specific environmental, workplace,

marketplace and commumty projects, such as climate change, energy use, transport and waste
The Managing Director 1s accountable to the NWL and NWG boards for the environment and sustainable

development policies
We are expected to provide a secure supply of water - a basic necessity for health - and to protect or enhance
the environment when we return waste to 1t However, our stakeholders also expect us to

e behave fairly and responsibly,
s use resources wisely,
s 1mprove quality of Iife, and

s contribute to economic development
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NWG helps 1ts communities 1n a number of different ways and these are covered in different parts of the model
shown on page 11 As well as financial support, employees are encouraged to volunteer and we provide
facilities to help the commumties in which we operate These activities are mainly targeted to support projects
that make the areas we serve better places in which to live, work or invest The programme focuses on key
themes throughout our commumties but, increasingly, we are developing initiatives which promote lasting
change 1n specific areas Much of the programme 1s covered under the following titles 1n the model

e community support,

e partnerships, and

e sustainable communities

Examples include

Community support

Employees and volunteering

Currently 35% of employees participate in the ‘Just an hour® volunteering scheme and last year gave over 3,300
hours to the community The ‘Care for safety’ scheme, which encourages employees to reduce aceidents and
associated lost time, has triggered payments totalling £72,270 for our nominated chanties Great North Air
Ambulance, Mencap’s Dilston College, RNLI, St Theresa's Hospice and the East Anghan Children’s Hospice.

Education

Educational support matenals have been developed during the year with the introduction of an interactive CD
ROM “Water made clearer’ for schools which won a prestigtous silver award from IVCA (International Visual
Communications Awards)

We have also supported schools awards, which recognise excellence 1n schools in both operating areas

Partnerships
Water for health

NWL 1s playing a leading role 1n the ‘Water for Health Alhiance’ which 1s encouraging people to drink more tap
water for their health Over £200,000 has been provided to date for water coolers 1n schools and over 410 have
been supplied to date in nearly 300 schools. The trials, and associated research, with water coolers 1n a day
centre and care home for older people, as well as two prisons, have continued

NWL assisted Water UK and Unison in the national launch of ‘Water@Work” which encourages employers to
ensure that employees have adequate access to drinking water

Environmental
NWL has developed key partnerships to help the conservation of biodiversity on our sites These involve
agreed action plans and objectives for biodiversity and catchment management for individual sites NWL’s
contribution to the partnerships includes funding of project officers Current partnerships include

o Northumberland Wildlife Trust — (Kielder and Bakethin),

e  Durham Whldlife Trust,

o Essex Wildlife Trust — (Hanmngfield),

o Broads Authonty — (Lound and Trinity Broads), and

e Davy Down Trust
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Sustainable communities
NWG supports a number of programmes which are long term 1nitiattves to bring about lasting change in the
community and make them more sustainable

Community Foundations

Endowment funds contributed by NWL over the last fifteen years, totalling nearly £1million, are held with
Community Foundations covering our areas of supply These are long term investments with the income from
the funds used to support community imnitiatives

NWG has been a member of the Per Cent Club of Business 1in the Community (BITC) for a number of years
We maintain this membership by donating at least 1% of pre-tax profits to community investment projects
through cash, employee time, and work 1n kind or use of facilities NWG continues to be a member of the
FTSE4Good Index and NWL was again ranked as one of the top 100 ‘Companies for corporate responsibility’
based on an assessment of the widely recognised BITC indices It achieved the highest possible award,
platitnum, for its community activities These indices enable NWL to measure, manage and report 1ts
responsible business practice underpinned by a rigorous external review process NWL has a *Big Tick’ Award
for Excellence from BITC for integrating responsible business practice 1mto mainstream operations for our ‘Just
an hour’ scheme (Healthy Communities)

The Group made chantable donations totalling £128,555 during the year

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Key performance indicators (KPIs)

NWG uses many performance indicators to monitor 1ts progress. For NWG, the KPlIs are all financial and the
non-financial KPIs relating to NWL are shown on page 17

The definition, purpose and source of each KPI are shown on pages 26 to 28

A summary of the Group’s performance against the KPIs are set out below

Performance apainst financial KPIs

The financial performance of NWG and NWL 1s monitored against the same KPIs

KPI Target Performance
Current year Previous year
NWG NWL NWG NWL NWG NWL
Gearing to RCV <80% <70%’ 74% 65% 77% 66%
Cash interest cover >7 5% >3 0x 29x 3 6x 27x 3 3x
Cash flow to net debt >13% >13% 15% 16% 15% 17%

* Less than 65% for the regulated business of NWL

The ncrease in cash interest cover for the year reflects the positive cash effects of the index linked bond
1ssuance since September 2005 More details are given in the capital structure section on page 15

For the regulated business within NWL, geaning decreased from 58% to 57%
The focus at NWL. continues to be improving efficiency levels and driving down operating costs Continuous

improvement will be necessary to ensure the company 1s successful in meeting the targets set by Ofwat in 1ts
final determination of price limts for 2005 to 2010
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Other measures and evidence

The Group prepares detailed medium term business plans and annual budgets, which are reviewed and
submutted to the Board for approval Targets are set to measure performance and regular financial forecasts are
made Business plans and budgets include an assessment of the key risks and success factors facing each
business umit On a monthly basis, management compares the actual operational and financial performance of
each business with plan and budget and this 1s reported to the Board

Financial results and dividends
The Group’s results and dividends are as follows

Year to 31.3.2007

£m
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1112
Interim dividend paid (ordinary — 3 75 pence per share) 194
Final dividend proposed (ordinary — 7 52 pence per share) 390

Revenue was £633 5 million for the year to 31 March 2007 and represents a 7 1% increase on the year to 31
March 2006 This increase 1s mainly due to the uplift in water and sewerage charges to support continuing high
capital investment as part of the regulatory price review in 2004

Profit on ordinary activities before interest for the year was £258 2 mullion (2006 £236 2 million) Operating
costs increased by £20 0 million (5 6%) to £375 3 million At NWL, operating costs have increased from

£320 9 mutlion to £343 9 million, principally reflecting a sigmificant mcrease in energy market prices and the
full year impact of increased pension costs following an actuarial review of the pension scheme, in addition to
the impact of inflation Operating costs for the appointed business in 2006/07 are £7 2 million higher than those
estimated 1n the 2004 final determination for the year due to energy costs Within water and waste water
contracts, the results include a credit of £3 million 1n respect of gas indexation on tanffs which 1s not expected
to be repeated 1n 2007/08

The net interest charge was £111 2 million (2006 £106 0 nulhion) This charge includes a credit of £7 7 million
(2006 £13 0 million) 1n respect of the amortisation of the debt fair value and a gain of £2 9 mutlion (2006 mnil)
n respect of the cancellation of a financial instrument

Profit on ordinary activities before tax for the year was £147 8 milhion, 13 4% higher than the previous year
(2006 £130 3 mullion) The tax charge of £36 6 million (2006 £39 3 million) reflects increased profitabihity,
adjustments m respect of prior periods ansing from changes in claims for capital allowances, a revision to

retirement benefits and a reduction in the amortisation of financing items The effective tax rate for the year to
31 March 2007 was 25% (2006 30%)

The Group’s gearing has decreased from 77% to 74% of NWL’s RCV, with net debt increasing by £69 2
million to £2,079 6 mullion over the year The decrease in the Group’s geaning 1s principally due to the growth
in RCV over the year from £2,624 miilion to £2,817 million at 31 March 2007 For the regulated business
within NWL, gearing decreased from 58% to 57%

Cash interest cover for the Group has improved from 2.7x to 2 9x 1n the year reflecting the positive cash effects
of the index linked bond 1ssuvance since September 2005 (see page 13 for further analysis)

Earnings per share and dividend cover

Basic and diluted earnings per share were 21 42 pence (2006 20 45 pence) and 21 38 pence (2006 2042
pence) respectively Earnings per share from continuing operations, adjusted for IAS 39, deferred tax and the
amortisation of debt fair value, were 24 95 pence (2006 19 52 pence)
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The dividend cover for the year 1s 1 9%, and 2 3x (2006 1 5x and 1 7x, including the special dividend)
excluding deferred tax and the amortisation of debt fair value

A final dividend of 7 52 pence per share for the year ended 31 March 2007 will be recommended by the Board
to sharcholders at the AGM on 2 August 2007 and, i1f approved, will be paid on 14 September 2007 to
shareholders on the Company’s Register of Members at the close of business on 17 August 2007 Together with
the ordinary interim dividend of 3 75 pence per share, the ordinary dividends paid and proposed for the year
will be 11 27 pence per share (2006 10 56 pence per share) This represents an increase of 6 7% on the
ordinary dividend for the previous year and 1s consistent with the Board’s decision to maintain a progressive
dividend policy with real increases of around 3% per annum The board of our main subsidiary, NWL, has

proposed a dividend policy consistent with the underlying assumptions adopted by Ofwat at its price review 1n
2004

Northumbrian Water Share Scheme Trustees Limited, which at the date of this report held 716,917 shares to be
used 1n the future to satisfy the vesting and exercise of awards under the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan
(LTIP), has waived the right to all dividends on the shares 1t holds Further details of the LTIP can be found 1n
the directors’ remuneration report on pages 41 and 42

Accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS) This 1s consistent with [FRS as adopted by the European Union as 1t applies to the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2007

Purchase of the Company’s own shares
During the year, and up to 5 June 2007, no market purchases have been made The directors’ authority to make

market purchases of the Company’s own shares expired at the 2006 AGM The directors are not seeking to
renew this authorty

Capital structure
In June 2006, Northumbrnian Water Finance plc (NWF), the finance subsidhary of NWL, issued two further
£100 million index linked Eurobonds with real coupons of 1 7118% and 1 7484% and with matunities of 2049

and 2053, respectively Index linked debt now comprises 18% of the gross debt portfolio, whilst fixed rate debt
amounts to 65%

On 28 June 2006, the Group redeemed the remaining £172 milhion 8 625% Eurobonds The redemption was
financed by the drawdown of £125 million of five year commutted bank facilities with the balance coming from
cash resources The loans were taken on a variable basis with interest rates hinked to LIBOR

In March 2007, the latest £100 million EIB facility was drawn by NWL The loan was advanced on a variable
interest rate basis, with a 15 year maturity and an amortising principal repayment profile

Credit rating

The credit rating for NWL has remained consistent throughout the year at BBB+ stable (Fitch and S&P) and
Baal stable (Moody’s)
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Treasury policies and objectives

The matn purposes of the Group’s treasury function are to assess the Group’s ongoing capttal requirement, to
maintain short term liqudity and to raise funding, taking advantage of any favourable market opportunities It
ensures access to medium term commuitted back up facilities on a five year basis

It also invests any surplus funds the Group may have, based on 1ts forecast requirements and in accordance with
the Group’s treasury policy On occasions, derivatives are used as part of this process, but the Group’s policies
prohibit their use for speculation Full details are provided 1n note 21 to the financial statements The Group 1s
operating in comphance with 1ts pohicies

Cash flows/liquidity
As noted previously, the Group has available substantial cash resources and undrawn commtted bank facilities
in order to maintain general hiquidity

Pensions

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme providing benefits based on pensionable remuneration
As at 31 March 2007, there were 2,310 (2006 2,351} active members. The surplus under [AS 19, at 31 March
2007, was £42 7 million (2006 deficit £3 7 million)

The Group 1s currently reviewing pension provision with the aim of introducing revised arrangements from 1
January 2008 Members as at 30 November 2007 would be eligible to participate n a revised defined benefit
section and entrants would be eligible for a new occupational trust-based defined contrnibution scheme, with a
choice of contribution rates

The most recent triennial actuarial valuation, as at 31 December 2004, reported that the scheme was 97 6%
funded and new employer contributions were recommended by the scheme actuary The Group agreed an
alternative proposal to make advanced payments of £36 1 million by April 2006 and £23 3 muilhion by Apnil
2007, covering both employee and employer contributions to 31 December 2010 In addition, the Group
launched a salary sacrifice arrangement, on 1 Apnl 2006, under which savings in employer national insurance
contributions are also paid into the scheme

The Group also operates an existing defined contnibution scheme and, as at 31 March 2007, there were 248
(2006 258) contributing members

Further details of both schemes are disclosed 1n note 26 to the financial statements

Creditors

The Company’s policy 1s to agree payment terms with supphers and to pay on time according to those agreed
terms In the absence of alternative agreement, the policy 1s to make payment not more than 30 days after
receipt of a vahid invoice The ratio, expressed in days, between the amount mnvoiced to the Company by 1its
supphiers during the year and the amount owed to 1ts trade creditors at 31 March 2007, was five days
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OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

KPIs

NWL use performance indicators to momtor progress As well as the financial indicators shown on page 13,
NWL use non-financial indicators throughout the business, which are reviewed by the management team each

month

The definition, purpose and source of the main KPIs are shown on pages 27 and 28

NWL performance against non-financial KPIs (unaudited)

North (N) Target Target Performance
South (8) 2007/08 2006/07 Current year | Previous year
Water
Water quality (%) N/S | Mamtain >99 9 Mamtain >99 9 999 999
Leakage (Ml/d) N <1545 <156 0 145 92 1571
(Ml/d) S <675 <68 3 6799 66 64
Environment
Sewage treatment works (%) N 100 100 99 8 100
Bathing waters Mandatory Standard (%6) N 100 100 100 97
Pollution incidents N 116 181 142 201
Customer — levels of service
Properties at nsk of low pressure N 274 274 298 312
S 126 126 130 136
Properties subject to unplanned N 014 014 4 57 039
mterruption of 6 hours or more (%) S 014 014 057 017
Properties subject to hosepipe bans at
any time during the year N/S 0 0 0 0
Properties subject to sewer flooding
incidents (overloaded sewers and other causes) | N 260 260 313 1,077
Properties at nisk of sewer flooding
incidents (once in ten years) N 78 95 116 142
Properties at risk of sewer flooding
incidents (twice in ten years) N 3l 60 229 162
Bulling contacts responded to (within N 990 990 993 992
five working days) (%) S 930 99 0 992 99 1
Written complaints responded to N 99 8 99 8 999 %99
(within ten working days) (%) S 998 99 8 99 9 999
Bills based on meter readings (%) N 99 65 99 95 99 84 99 95
S 99 95 99 65 99 94 99 97
All telephone lines busy (%) N 20 50 02 08
5 20 50 00 00
Abandoned telephone calls (%) N 23 15 32 23
S 23 15 23 12
Customer satisfaction
Overall service (%) N/§ Maintain Maintain 9175 93 00
Value for money (%) N/§ Maintain Maintain 8700 88 50
Employees
Lost time reportable acctdents (per 1,000
employees) N/S 6 8 8 7
Sickness absence (%) N/S 295 300 301 312
Employee turnover (rolling %)’ Industry average
N/S - 103 82 67

Notes

1 Performance atfected by two major bursts one 1n Middlesbrough on Teesside and one in Bedhngton in Northumberland

2 Notarget set, data for information
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Water

NWL achieved 1its best ever drinking water quality results in 2006 and the quality of drinking water supplied in
both operating areas remains among the best 1n the country One of the DWI’s key measures i1s Mean Zonal
Compliance and NWL achieved 99 97% 1n the south and 99 96% 1n the north Additionally, their Operational
Performance Index was 99 99% 1n the south and 99 84% 1n the north

During 2006/07, we completed sigmificant improvements to water treatment works (WTWSs) at Whittle Dene
and Horsley, on Tynestde, and Chigwell in Essex These works now have an additional treatment process to
remove pesticides from raw water Similar work at Warkworth in Northumberland will be complete 1n summer
2007 We also completed a major refurbishment of our Ormesby WTW 1n Suffolk

One of NWL’s key priorities 1s to reduce the amount of water lost from the networks We agreed leakage
targets with Ofwat of 156 M1/d in the northern operating area and 68 3 M1/d n the south, and both have been
met This means that leakage targets have been met consistently since 1998/99 The leakage in our southern
operating area has been among the lowest in the country for many years. NWL aims to set best practice

standards to reduce leakage and 1s playing a leading role 1n a review of leakage methodologies with the EA and
Ofwat

NWL has achieved national recognition for 1ts work on water efficiency This year Essex & Suffolk Water
again won the Economic Research and Innovation prize at the EA National Water Efficiency Awards and also
received a commendation for a project on domestic audits

NWL’s success in this area over the past ten years was recognised by the judges who presented the company
with a special award They commended the company for showing that water efficiency 1s not just a one-off
project, but a constantly evolving orgamsational challenge They praised the team’s enthusiasm and tenacity in

making water efficiency a core part of their company philosophy saying “This 1s a umque record and really sets
a standard for all other companzes ™

Comprehensive repairs to the two water mains supplying Hexham in Northumberland, which had been washed
away during the severe weather 1n 2005, are now complete The solution involved building a tunnel several
metres below the nverbed

In Essex, we laid 10 5km of pipeline to triplicate the strategic mamns taking water from our Layer-de-la-Haye
WTW and to improve the overall infrastructure In addition, 477km of mains was renewed or relined The
current rehabilitation programme 1n the south 1s now complete and the work in the north 1s due to be fimished 1n
2008 This work will help reduce incidents of discoloured water and also help further reduce leakage

Over the years, NWL has carefully designed 1ts systems to secure water supplies for its customers This 1s
particularly challenging in Essex, where there 1s limited water in the summer months The Langford Recycling
Scheme has improved the securnity of supply and can provide up to 30MI/d of water during the summer months

In the medium term, we plan to further improve the security of supply and augment resources in the Essex area
by increasing the capacity of the Abberton reservorr, as outlined on page 24

Environment

All 33 bathing waters passed the EU Mandatory Standard and, of these, 29 (88%) passed the more demanding
Guideline Standard Those passing the Guideline Standard are predicted to achieve good or excellent ratings
under the new Bathing Water Directive, which 1s expected to take effect from the 2015 bathing water season
To maintain this high performance we are working with the EA to 1dentify the impact of other stakeholders
including local authonties, highway authorities, farmers and land holders on the quality of bathing waters
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The performance of the 425 STWs operated by NWL continued to be high with 99 8% of the population being
served by works which met their consent standards

We had one category 1 pollution incident in 2006 and the EA has commended NWL for achieving above
average comphance with standards The number of minor incidents, such as blockages, continued to fall
significantly (by nearly 30%) compared to last year as a result of more proactive maintenance and our
investment in remote monitors We currently have around 450 monitors installed to warn of high or unusual
flows, so that we can take action to prevent spillages and flooding

NWL 15 working with other stakeholders in the region to reduce flooding and improve the way flooding
incidents are managed Regular meetings with CCWater, local authorities and local residents groups have
helped to improve communication with affected communities

In 2006/07, the number of properties flooded from sewers was 314, about the long term average As a result of
investment 1n improving the sewerage system, 129 properties were removed from the register of properties at
nisk of flooding during 2006/07 Ths takes the total to 228 properties, effectively delivering three years’
outputs 1n two years.

During the year, 98 sewage overflows have been improved This will improve local water courses, enhance
their visual appearance and reduce pollution incidents

Domestic customers
NWL 1s committed to providing a high standard of customer service that meets the expectations of both
customers and regulators

Based on information provided to Ofwat for 2006/07, NWL should remain n the top category for each Ofwat
level of service indicator, with the exception of DG3, which covers unplanned interruptions to supply
Performance here was affected by two major bursts, one in Middlesbrough on Teesside and one in Bedlington
in Northumberland

Although there has been a rise in written and telephone contacts, partly due to these bursts, the Customer
Centre still responded to 99 9% of written complaints within ten working days Durning 2006/07, the total
number of written complaints received was 11,496 The increase, when compared to 2005/06, can be attributed
to heightened national media interest 1n water shortages and leakage levels along with the large operational
incidents in our northern operating area Greater levels of debt recovery activity have also generated more
responses from our customers regarding billing arrears

CCWater formally reviews the quality of complaints handling During this process they audit procedures, track
samples of complaints correspondence through our systems and assess the quality of our responses In 2006/07,
all northern complaints and 80% of southern complaints were rated as 'good’

Despite regional socio-economic charactenstics, and increases n levels of water and sewerage charges during
the year, NWL has maintained 1ts collection rates, supported by 1ts successful imtiative to encourage as many

customers as possible to use direct debit This still proves to be the most efficient way to collect payment for
blls
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Business customers

NWL has continued to develop 1ts commercial business with major companies in the region Solvent Resource
Management Ltd at 1ts site in Sunderland, 1s recovering and recycling used solvents Effluent from this process
1s now being delivered for treatment at Hendon STW

Biofuels Corporation, the developer of Europe's largest biodiesel plant at Seal Sands on Teesside, 15 now
transferring effluent to Bran Sands effluent treatment works Biofuels Corporation produces 250,000 tonnes of
biodiesel a year at Seal Sands from renewable vegetable crops NWL also supplies the company with water
services

Corus has benefited from these effluent treatment services since 1998 N'WL has successfully completed
modifications to Bran Sands so that 1t can undertake additional effluent treatment for Corus This has extended
the long term relationship between the two companies

Leisure customers
There has been an increase 1n the number of visitor days as NWL has continued to develop its leisure facilities
at strategic sites

Events included
e over 13,000 customers visiting Kielder Winter Wonderland during November and December, and
s BBC Springwatch in May with over 6,000 visitors to Krelder

NWL 1s the lead member of the Kielder Partnership, which consists of orgamsations commuitted to the
economic development of the Kielder area through tourism, chaired by John Cuthbert This year saw the launch
of “The Big Picture’, a concept for the development of the area as a major visitor attraction which will further
contribute to the economy of the Tyne Valley

Customer satisfaction

NWL carries out regular quarterly tracking surveys and during the year customer satisfaction levels remained
very high, with 91 75% of our customers satisfied or very satisfied with the service NWL provides and 87%
feeling 1t provides value for money

Research with commercial and industnial customers showed that 91% are satisfied with the services provided
and 85% believe that they are receiving value for money In the case of managed account customers, these
results increased to 97% and 90% respectively

In our regular surveys, 93% of our leisure customers rated our services as good or excellent

Customers have always been central to NWL’s strategy and will continue to be so as we prepare for the next
price review 1n 2009 NWL began customer consultation at the start of 2007, building on the results of its
regular tracking surveys

Quality

NWL has maintained its certification to the international quality standard ISO 9001 2000 and to the
international environmental standard 1SO 14001 2004 across all areas of the business, including operational
sites and oftfice-based teams In addition, during 2007, we will seek certification to the international health and
safety standard, OHSAS 18001 1999
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Employees
Throughout the Group we have 3,040 employees, as set out below

Group business unit Average number of

employees %
Northumbnan Water Limited 2,554 84
Water and waste water contracts 153 5
Related services 333 11
Total employees 3,040 100

One of the strengths of NWL. 1s employee loyalty, evidenced by the fact that employee turnover 1s relatively
low at 8 2%, well below the UK water industry average of 10 3%

Employees have access to the mybenefits scheme which provides a range of money saving benefits including
tax efficient child care vouchers and discounted store vouchers This year also saw the launch of a Christmas
Savings Scheme Currently 20% of employees participate 1n the mybenefits scheme, up from 17% last year

NWL continues to seek the views of employees This year’s survey was completed by 56%, an increase of 7%,
who gave their views on their working life, training, communications, managers and the company The results
were reported back to all employees and discussed with representative bodies Overall, employee satisfaction
levels remain very high with over 72% of respondents stating they are proud to work for the company

The Group currently has a final salary pension scheme with 2,310 active members at 31 March 2007 In 2006
the Board announced a review of the scheme and a Pensions Working Group was formed, comprising employee
representatives, management representatives, and full-time union officers to discuss options

The views from the Pensions Working Group were presented to the Board in January 2007 and at the end of
March 2007, the Company proposed pension scheme changes for current members and a defined contribution
scheme for new entrants from | January 2008

Training and development
During the year, NWL introduced a pilot award scheme 1n the Customer Centre to enable employees trained to
NWL standards to achieve an NVQ level 2 or 3 By March 2007, 70 employees had attained their NVQ

Health and safety

The emphasis on health and safety within NWL has resulted in major improvements to our safety record in
recent years This year lost ime reportable accidents equalled our best performance of eight per 1,000
employees This has been accompanied by a further reduction in days lost through accidents

We continue to develop programmes to promote healthy eating and discourage smoking in our workforce and
offer excellent health screening and medical 1insurance schemes Around 1,700 employees have been through
our health screening and fitness standards programmes, both of which now include hifestyle advice elements
The success of these programmes has helped reduce NWL’s total sickness absence rate to 3 01%, which 1s well
below the sector norm
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Research and development

We run a programme of research and development linked to UK business operations This includes the
provision of technical solutions for water and waste water management and developing partnerships with
academic and research organisations During the year, the Group invested £2 1 million (2006 £2 3 mithon) in
research and development

Water and waste water companies

The Group is a member of two consortiums delivering private finance initiative contracts with Scottish Water
for waste water treatment At Levenmouth, where the Group has a 75% shareholding 1n both project and
operating companies, the effluent treatment plant 1s delivering against discharge consent conditions Practical
completion of the odour treatment and sludge drying facihities has been achieved and commissionming and
performance testing has been completed

At Ayrshire, the Group has a 75% shareholding 1n the project company and a 100% shareholding in the
operating company The three effluent treatment plants that make up this contract continue to perform
satisfactorily

In Ireland, the Group 1s part of a contractual consortium that designed and built a waste water treatment plant
for Cork City Council Under the consortium agreement, the Group has responsibility for the operation and
maintenance of the plant

AquaGib Limited, two thirds owned by the Group 1n joint venture with the Government of Gibraltar, operates
Gibraltar’s dual drinking water and sea water distribution systems under 1ts long term contract with the
Government of Gibraltar

Related services companies
UKAS gave AES 1ts best ever audit results in 2006 1t achieved muiti-site UKAS Accreditation for all
laboratory related activities and UKAS Accreditation for the Acoustics Section

During the year, AES won new contracts with blue chip clients including Marks & Spencer, the Ministry of
Defence, Northern Ireland Water Service, Anglian Water (Hartlepool) and Newcastle University, and won new
chents 1n the growing incineration industry AES 1s one of four laboratories authorised to work for Secondsite
Properties (British Gas)

AES has refurbished 1ts laboratones at Horsley and Howdon and the occupational hygiene and acoustic
consultancy sections opened an office in Huddersfield to service customers in the West Yorkshire and North

West regions

On 31 March 2007, the AES business combined with the NWL water and waste water comphiance teams to
form a new Scientific Services division within NWL

During the year, Agrer signed contracts for 29 new projects across a diverse range of sectors around the world
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RISKS AND RESOURCES

All subsidiaries within the Group 1dentify and assess the impact of risks to their business. The Group uses a
model that 1dentiftes risks under five headings — environment, external, operations, finance and reputation For
each risk the unmanaged and managed likelihood and consequence are 1dentified, management controls and
frequency of monitoring are reported and the scale of the risk 1s assessed

NWL has set measures to enable 1t to determine whether the nisks are significant to the business The NWL
management team reviews the model in detail every year to ensure that the inclusion and assessment of each
risk 1s still appropniate The NWG and NWL audit commuttees consider the outcome of this review In addition,
the NWL board considers the management of significant risks at each of 1ts meetings

Apart from NWL, none of the subsidiartes has risks considered to be significant to the Group’s short and long
term value The NWG Board considers social, environmental and ethical risks as outhned in the corporate
governance report on pages 36 and 37 Details of the Group’s treasury risks are contained in note 21 to the
financial statements

Changes to the regulatory environment and to legislation
Significant changes are occurring 1n economic, environmental and quality regulation

The EA, as part of 1ts Modern Regulation agenda, 1s moving to a more risk-based regulatory approach While
we support the principle, we expressed some concerns about the proposed timing and some of the detatled
changes proposed 1n the EA consultation papers We are pleased to note that the EA has responded positively to
consultation responses

The DWI, too, has adopted a rnisk-based approach Our response to 1ts consultation on the revisions to the
Drinking Water Regulations noted that much depends on the guidance supporting the Regulations, which are
yet to be 1ssued.

We believe Ofwat should also adopt a risk-based approach We recogmse that Ofwat had to respond to
musreporting 1ssues 1n the sector and fully accept that all companies must give top priority to ensuring the
regulatory data 1s of the highest quality and credibility We beheve the industry and Ofwat should now explore
how regulatory data can be streamlined and simphfied to improve regulatory processes

New legislation that will have a significant impact on the business includes
s Traffic Management Act to be implemented (April 2008), and

o transfer of private sewers which will increase the sewers owned and maintained by the company by about
50% (out to consultation)

Changes to weather patterns and their timpact

The Group’s mamn business, the provision of water and sewerage services, 1s closely linked to the water cycle
and 1s, therefore, influenced by the vagaries of the British weather NWL 1s skilled and experienced tn
managing the impact of having too hitle and too much rainfall These changing weather patterns are hkely to
continue to present an operational challenge

As part of NWL’s corporate responsibility model, rescarch has been carried out into the impact of chimate
change on assets and water resources and a Chmate Change Policy has been developed NWL 1s monitoring 1ts
carbon footprint and opportumties to reduce this are being pursued The water industry 15 one of the largest
users of energy in 1ts processes and we are working to inform customers about the energy wasted when water 1s
wasted
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Social, environmental and ethical risks

The principal social, environmental or ethical risk considered to be significant to the value of the Group 1s the
possibility of the removal of the opportunity to use sewage sludge as a soil conditioner on agricuitural tand If
this disposal route was lost the sector would need to find or develop alternative ways to re-use or dispose of its
sewage sludge This could mean higher capital and revenue costs to provide additional sludge processing
facilites. However, NWL’s existing contract with Lafarge to use sewage sludge pellets as a fuel replacement in
cement manufacture, gives NWL a viable alternative way of disposing of sludge 1n the medium term

Water resources

Following a wet winter, our reservoirs are 1n a strong position at the time of writing this report NWL has
sufficient water reserves in its northern area, largely due to Kielder Water and the ability 1t provides to augment
the major rivers n the area during periods of drought Its southern area 1s 1n one of the driest parts of the UK
and rainfall, until recently, has been low since November 2004

In Essex, NWL did not need to introduce a hosepipe ban during the drought which affected supplies across
much of south east England during 2006 Our investment to reduce leakage, our ability to pump water from
Norfolk via the Ely Ouse to Essex Transfer Scheme and the water available from the mnovative Langford
Recycling Scheme, helped maintain our reservorr levels The Langford Recycling Scheme provided 12% extra
water 1n Hanningfield reservoir last summer

Our ongoing and long running water efficiency promotions and good relationship with our customers produced
a positive response to our requests for additional efforts on water saving and a consequent significant reduction
in demand

Metering has an important role to play in managing demand In addition to our optional metering scheme, we
have introduced a successful scheme to install water meters when properties are sold 1n the Essex area and we
now have about 40% of domestic customers 1n Essex on a metered supply

Alongside these important measures to manage demand, we believe that we need to augment water resources 1n
the south to secure water supplies for customers 1in what 1s one of Britain’s driest regions. During 2007, we wall

be applying for planning permission for a project that will increase the capacity of the Abberton reservoir near
Colchester by 60%

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND INTERESTS
Information about directors’ remuneration and their interests in the shares of the Company 1s contained 1n the
directors’ remuneration report on pages 39 to 49

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has 1n place directors' and officers' msurance and, on 28 November 2005, entered into a deed of
indemmity to grant the directors further protection against hability to third parties, subject to the conditions set
out 1n the Companies Act 1985 Such qualifying third party indemnity provision remains 1in force as at the date
of approving the directors' report and business review The deed, together wath directors' service contracts, will
be available for inspection by shareholders at the AGM, or from the Company Secretary

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The notice convening the AGM, to be held on 2 August 2007, was sent to shareholders with this report,
together with an explanation of the business to be conducted at the meeting, and a form of proxy

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young LLP have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution proposing their
re-appointment as auditors will be put to shareholders at the AGM
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARATION AND GOING CONCERN

The directors consider that 1t 1s appropriate to prepare the financial statements for the financial year on a going
concern basis The directors have arrived at their decision based on consideration of the Company’s detailed
budget for 2007/08 and the business plan for the period to 31 March 2010 Their analysis included a review of
the capital expenditure and investment plans, the anticipated funding requirements and facilities available, and
the reasonableness of the underlying assumptions of both the budget and business plan

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

As required under Section 234ZA of the Compantes Act 1985, so far as each current director 1s aware, there 15
no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware, and each director has taken all the
steps that he or she ought 1o have taken as a director in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant
audit information and to estabhish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information

By order of the Board
AL brtrt

Martin Parker

Company Secretary

5 June 2007

Registered office Northumbria House, Abbey Road, Pity Me, Durham, DH1 5FJ
Registered in England and Wales No 4760441

25




Appendix to the directors’ report and business review

Group financial KPIs
Gearing to RCV

Definition and caleulation: The ratio of Group net debt to NWL’s Regulatory Capital Value (RCV) The
RCYV represents the total capital value of the appointed water and sewerage business on which Ofwat
allows a rate of return at price reviews based on its view of the cost of capital

Purpose: The RCV generates most of the revenue stream of the Group and regulatory gearing 1s an
important factor in credit ratings

Source of underlying data: NWL’s RCV is calculated by Ofwat and published each year Ofwat also
publishes anticipated values up to five years ahead, based on its last price determination Group net debt
15 disclosed 1n the audited financial statements

Cash interest cover

Definition and calculation: Cash generated from operations less tax divided by net interest paid

Purpose: Measures the ability of the Group to service its debt

Source of underlying data: Audited financial statements

Cash flow to net debt

Definition and calculation: Cash generated from operations less tax paid divided by net debt

Purpose: Indicates the Group’s ability to reduce debt in the absence of need for additional investment,
without resorting to asset disposal

Source of underlying data: Audited financial statements

NWL financial KPIs

Regulatory gearing

Definition and caleulation: The ratio of NWL. net debt to NWL’s RCV The RCV represents the total
capital value of the appointed water and sewerage business on which Ofwat allows a rate of return at price
reviews based on 1ts view of the cost of capital

Purpose: The RCV generates most of the revenue stream of the Group and regulatory gearing 1s an
important factor in credit ratings

Source of underlying data: NWL’s RCV 1s calculated by Ofwat and published each year Ofwat also
publishes anticipated values up to five years ahead, based on its last price determination NWL’s net debt
can be found in the audited regulatory accounts and Ofwat annual reports on financial performance.
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NWL non-financial KPIs

WATER
Drinking water quality

Definition and calculation: Comphance with drinking water regulations as monitored by the Drinking
Water Inspectorate (DWI)

Purpose: To monitor drinking water quality

Source of underlying data: Samples recorded by NWL and audited by DWi

Leakage

Definition and calculation: Total leakage from the water network (including customer pipes)

Purpose: To monitor compliance with Ofwat leakage targets

Source of underlying data: Information recorded by NWL and audited by Ofwat

ENVIRONMENT
Sewage treatment works

Definition and calculation: Percentage of population equivalent served by non-compliant works fatling
Look Up Tables’ consents

Purpose: To monitor the performance of NWL.’s sewage treatment works and their impact on the
environment

Source of underlying data Information recorded by NWL and the Environment Agency (EA) and
reported on by the latter

Bathing waters Mandatory Standard

Definition and calculation: Percentage of bathing waters complying with Mandatory Standards.

Purpose: To monitor the impact of NWL'’s coastal treatment works on the environment

Source of underlying data Information recorded and reported by the EA

Pollution incidents

Definition and calculation: Number of category 1, 2 and 3 pollution incidents 1n the calendar year as
defined by the EA

Purpose: To monitor the performance of NWL’s sewerage system and its impact on the environment

Source of underlying data Information recorded and reported to Ofwat by the EA

CUSTOMER
Customer — levels of service

Definition and calculation: Customer service standards are established by Ofwat, the economic regulator,
and calculated using source data 1n the company

Purpose;: To monitor performance of NWL

Source of underlying data Information collected by the company and submitted to Ofwat It 1s
independently certified

Customer satisfaction

Definition and calculation: Domestic customers™ satisfaction with overall service and overall value for
money, expressed as satisfaction averaged over the surveys carried out during the year

Purpose: To enable tracking of perception of reputation, service and value for money over time

Source of underlying data: Independent surveys of 500 customers (300 north, 200 south) chosen at
random, but representative of the customer base, carried out each quarter ~ a total of 2,000 customers
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EMPLOYEE
Lost time reportable accidents

Definition and calculation: Injury accidents that are reported to the Health & Safety Executive as required
by the Reporting of Injurnies, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1995  Calculated as
number of accidents reported in financial year per 1,000 employees

Purpose: To monitor the safety performance of NWL over time

Source of underlying data Completed NWL Accident / Incident report forms Employee numbers
provided by the Human Resources department

Sickness absence

Definition and calculation: Sickness absence days as a percentage of total working days multiplied by the
end of month headcount

Purpose: To track and trend sickness absence levels across the organisation

Source of underlying data: Sicknotes, return to work interviews and weekly returns by managers

Employee turnover

Definition and calculation: Number of leavers wathin the year as a percentage of average headcount

Purpose: To track the employee turnover within the business to ensure that 1t ts within benchmark data

Source of underlying data; Current employees are held within the human resources management system
— reports show leavers against headcount.
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Board directors’ biographies

Sir Derek Wanless Chairman

Sir Derek Wanless was appomted to the Board as an independent non-executive director in December 2003 He
was appointed to the board of NWL. 1n January 2006, and 1n July 2006 became Chairman of NWG and NWL
following Sir Fred Holliday s retirement He became a director of National Westrminster Bank plc in 1991 and
1ts Group Chief Executive in 1992 He retired from this position in 1999 [n 2002 and 2004, he reviewed and
reported on trends affecting health services for the UK Government Sir Derek 1s currently a non-executive
director of Northern Rock plc, Vice Chairman of the Statistics Commuission and a member of the Board for
Actuanal Standards at the FRC Sir Derck chairs the Nomination Committee and 1s a member of the
Remuneration Commuttee

John Cuthbert Managing Director

John Cuthbert was appointed to the Board in May 2003 John joined the water industry in 1991 and was
appointed Managing Director of North East Water plc in 1993, Following the acquisition of the former
Northumbrian Water Group plc by Lyonnaise des Eaux 1in 1995, he transferred within the Group to become
Managing Director of Essex and Suffolk Water plc John took over as Managing Director of the former
Northumbrian Water Group plc, and also of Northumbrnian Water Limited, in 2001 John 1s a member of the
Nomination Committee

Chris Green Finance Director

Chris Green was appointed to the Board in May 2003 Chnis joined the former Northumbrian Water Group plc
in January 1990 and was imtially involved in its diversified business activities before being apponted as
Finance Director in 1997 Chris was appointed as Finance Director of Northumbrian Water Limited in Apnil
2000 following the merger of that company with Essex and Suffolk Water plc

Sir Patrick Brown Senior Independent Non-executive Director

Sir Patrick Brown was appointed to the Board in May 2003 and to the board of NWL in January 2006 He held
various positions in the Department of Transport and the Department of the Environment, becoming Second
Permanent Secretary and Chief Executive of the Property Services Agency in 1990 He was Permanent
Secretary for the Department of Transport from 1991 to 1997 Sir Patrick became a non-executive director of
the Go-Ahead Group plc in 1999 and 1ts Chairman 1n 2002, a post that he still holds In 2004, Sir Patrick was
appointed non-executive Chairman of Amey plc and Amey UK plc Sir Patrick chairs the Audit Comnuttee and
15 a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees

Claude Lamoureux Non-executive Director

Claude Lamoureux was appointed to the boards of NWG and NWL on 1 December 2006 He is President and
CEO of the Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan Board (OTPP) Previously, he spent 25 years as a financial
executive with Metropolitan Life in Canada and the U S He also serves on the boards of the Ontario Securities
Commussion Investor Education Fund and the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Claude 1s a co-
founder of the Canadian Coalition for Good Governance and chair of the Accounting and Auditing Practices
Commuttee of the International Corporate Governance Network OTPP holds 25% of the 1ssued share capital of
Northumbrian Water Group ple and Claude 1s, therefore, not regarded as an independent director
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Martin Négre Independent Non-executive Director

Martin Négre was appointed to the Board in May 2003 and to the board of NWL 1n January 2006 He was,
between Apnl 2000 and April 2001, the CEO of the former Northumbrian Water Group plc and the chief
corporate representative of its parent company, Suez, 1n the United Kingdom He 1s currently the Chairman of
Ecofin Global Utilities Hedge Fund Limited, an Insh Stock Exchange hsted fund, Chairman of Ecofin Special
Situations Utilities Fund, a director of Ecofin Water & Power Opportunities plc, a London listed investment
trust of which he was Chairman for three years, as well as a director of Bolux Utlities (Sicav Luxembourg) All
the above funds are focused on utilities. In 2005, he was appointed a director of Promethean plc, an AIM-listed
investment company Martin chairs the Remuneration Commuttee and 1s a member of the Nomination
Commuttee

Alex Scott-Barrett Independent Non-executive Director

Alex Scott-Barrett was appointed to the Board of NWG in September 2006, having previously joined the board
of NWL in November 2005 Alex qualified as a chartered accountant with Coopers & Lybrand in 1981 and
Jomed Cazenove, a City corporate stockbroker, in 1982 He worked imitially as an analyst and transferred to the
corporate finance department in 1986, becoming a partner of the firm 1in 1988 In 1996, he became a director of
the firm's fund management division and from 2000-2003 was the Chief Operating Officer of that division
Alex left Cazenove in 2003, becoming non-executive Chairman of Suffolk Life Group plc in August 2003 and
a non-executive director of General Capital Group plc in June 2004 Alex 1s a member of the Audut,
Nomination and Remuneration Commtittees

Jenny Williams Independent Non-executive Director

Jenny Whilliams joined the Board in May 2004, and the board of NWL 1n January 2006 She 1s a Commisstoner
and Chief Executive of the Gambling Commussion [n addition to being Head of Water Finance and Flotation at
the time of water privatisation, Jenny has held a variety of directorships in a range of Government departments,
including the Home Office, the Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions and the Inland
Revenue She was a Director-General and board member of the Lord Chancellor’s Department from 2001 to
2003 Jenny 1s a member of the Audit and Nomination Commuttees

Martin Parker Company Secretary

Martin Parker was appointed as Company Secretary in May 2003 Martin joined the former Northumbrian
Water Group plc 1n 1990, concentrating on acquisitions, overseas projects and contracts with industrial
customers, before being appointed Head of Group Legal Services 1n 1998, and Company Secretary and Head of
Legal Affairs for NWL 1n 2000 Martin 1s Secretary of all the Board Commuttees, except the CRC
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Corporate governance report

Introduction and general compliance statement

The Board believes best practice in corporate governance 1s an impottant tool in helping 1t carry out its
responsibilities The Board considers that, during the year and up to the date of this report, 1t has comphed with
the main and supporting principles and the provisions of the Combined Code 2003, except in respect of
membership of the Remuneration Committee The reason for this departure is set out 1n the directors’
remuneration report This report, the directors’ report and business review and the directors’ remuneration
report describe how the Company has applied the principles of the Combined Code during the year A revised
Combined Code applies to the current financial year which commenced on 1 April 2007, and the Board
considers that 1t complies with the provisions of the revised Code

The board of NWL also endeavours to maintain its own high standards of corporate governance and to comply
with the Combined Code, wherever practicable

The Board endeavours to act in accordance with the Group’s code of conduct, which addresses the Group’s
responsibilities to a range of stakeholders and for the environment This code 1s on the Company’s website

The Board
The Board sets and implements the Company’s strategy and ensures compliance with Group polictes and legal

and regulatory obligations The Group’s mission and strategy 1s set out in the directors’ report and business
review on page 4

The Board agenda 1s proposed by the Managing Director and Company Secretary, with input from NWL’s
management team, for approval by the Chairman

During the year, the Company revised its guidelines which set out the matters reserved to the Board for
approval and matters which are, or can be, delegated to the committees and management These guidelines
include financial limits for each level of authonty below Board level Terms of reference of the main
committees have been approved by the Board, and are on the Company’s website Standing or Executive
Commuttees can take decisions not delegated to specific commttees between Board meetings All directors
receive notice of Standing Commuttee meetings and are able to participate 1f they wish Decisions taken by the
Standing or Executive Commuttees are reported at the next Board meeting

The Board met seven imes during the year and held an additional strategy meeting in March 2007 Attendance
at meetings was good throughout the year, with all current directors recording 100% attendance at Board and
appropriate committee meetings Sir Fred Holliday recorded 100% attendance at Board and appropnate
commuttee meetings from 1 April 2006 until his retirement from the Board on 27 July 2006 Ron Lepin, who
resigned from the Board on | December 2006, attended three out of the five Board meetings he was eligible to
attend

At each meeting the directors receive reports from the Managing Director, the Finance Director and the
chairmen of any committees which have met since the previous Board meeting

The Chairman ensures that important issues are given enough time at meetings and that all directors can
express their views This enables full and vigorous discussion of key items

The non-executive directors met formally on two occasions without the executive directors and are 1n regular

contact with each other throughout the year The non-executive directors also met once without the Chairman,
but did not consider additional formal meetings to be necessary
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Board balance and independence

There are currently eight directors — the Chairman, two executive directors, the senior independent non-
executive director and four other non-executive directors Sir Derek Wanless 1s the non-executive Chairman
He 1s also a non-executive director of Northern Rock ple The executive directors are John Cuthbert (Managing
Director) and Chris Green (Finance Director) Sir Patrick Brown 1s the senior independent non-executive
director and the other independent non-executive directors are Martin Négre, Alex Scott-Barrett and Jenny
Williams Claude Lamoureux is also a non-executive director, but 1s not independent as he 1s President and
CEO of OTPP, which holds 25% of the 1ssued share capital of the Company

The Company complies with the Combined Code’s requirement that half of the directors, excluding the
Chairman, are independent non-executive directors The Chairman was independent on appointment
Biographical details of the directors appear on pages 29 and 30 and details of their service contracts are 1n the
directors’ remuneration report on page 42

The Chairman and Managing Director have clearly defined written responsibilities that have been agreed by the
Board. The Chairman 1s responsible for leadership of the Board and for creating the conditions for overall
Board and individual director effectiveness, both inside and outside the boardroom He also conducts an annual
performance evaluation of each of the directors The Managing Director 1s responsible for running the
Company’s business on a day to day basis, and 1s assisted by NW1.’s management team

Sir Patrick Brown, as senior independent non-executive director, 1s available to shareholders who wish to raise
any concerns, and leads the non-executive directors in their evaluation of the Chairman’s performance

The non-executive directors bring to the Board many years of business experience as well as financial expertise
and the ability and willingness to challenge and support the executive directors

The Company Secretary, Martin Parker, assists the Board to ensure that good corporate governance complhiance
is achieved He 1s also Company Secretary of NWL, and 1s secretary to all commuttees (other than CRC)

Information and professional development

All directors have access to independent professional advice to assist them in the performance of their duties, at
the Company’s expense, and to the Company Secretary for advice and assistance The Chairman, with the
assistance of the Company Secretary, monitors the induction and training requirements of directors  All new
directors receive an induction information pack and are offered site visits and meetings with managers
Managers from within the Group submt papers or give presentations at Board meetings Industry
representatives meet the Board to discuss current 1ssues

The Company Secretary ensures that directors are kept informed and that information flows effectively within
the Group by

¢ keeping in regular contact with directors,

¢ sending Board papers to directors before each Board meeting,

¢ sending briefing packs to directors 1n the months when Board meetings are not held, and

e providing a Directors’ Team Room 1ntranet site containing Board and commttee papers, minutes, analyst

reports and reference documents, such as the Combined Code and the Articles, to which all directors have
access
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Performance evaluation

A full evaluation of the performance of the Board, 1ts commuittees and of individual directors was conducted 1n
October 2006 Each director completed a detailed questionnaire prior to a personal discussion with the
Chairman The questionnaire was prepared by the Chairman and Company Secretary and was designed to
address strategic 1ssues as well as the approach of the Board to operational and financial matters, the role of the
non-executive directors and the quality of information received by the Board The results of the evaluation were
considered by the Board at 1ts meeting 1n November and were generally very positive, but the Board agreed to
improve the induction process, to refine 1ts work on regulatory developments and to expand the NWG and
NWL strategy meetings The performance of NWL’s board, committees and individual directors was evaluated
at the same tune The Chairman’s comments on the evaluation of the directors seeking appointment or re-
appointment at the AGM, and the non-executive directors’ comments on the evaluation of the Chairman, who
15 also seeking re-appointment at the AGM, are provided n the notice of the meeting

External appointments

To date, executive directors have only accepted non-executive positions outside the Group where this would
benefit either the Group or the local community These positions have tended to be with educational
mstitutions, economic regeneration groups or similar bodies and any fees received have been paid over to the
Company or donated to charity The Board has now agreed that executive directors of the Company who are
appointed to non-executive directorships of a more commercial nature may retam the fees, subject to obtaining
the Chairman’s consent before an appointment 1s accepted Only one such external appointment per director
will generally be permutted and there are currently no such appointments

Board committees

The Board has Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Commuttees to assist it 1n the performance of 1ts duties
During the year, the Treasury Committee was disbanded and its work taken on by the Board as a whole The
Board sets the terms of reference of the committees and receives regular reports from their chairmen at board
meetings The terms of reference of commuttees were updated during the year, and are available on the
Company’s website or from the Company Secretary

Remuneration Committee
The work of the Remuneration Commuttee and details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in the directors’
remuneration report on pages 39 to 49

Nomination Committece

The members of the Nomination Committee are Sir Derek Wanless (Chairman), Sir Patrick Brown, John
Cuthbert, Martin Negre, Alex Scott-Barrett and Jenny Williams, and the membership 1s comphant with the
Combined Code Sir Fred Holliday was Chairman of the Commuittee until he retired from the Board on 27 July
2006 Alex Scott-Barrett joined the Committee on 30 November 2006

The main duty of the Nomination Commuttee 1s to 1dentify and nominate candidates to fili Board vacancies for
approval by the Board The Commutiee also reviews succession planning for the Board, NWL board and semor
appointments and will make recommendations to the Board when appropriate The Commuttee’s general pohcy
15 to use external recruitment consultants or to advertise 1n order to 1dentify suitable candidates Since 1 April
2006, all non-executive directors are appointed for a term of one year In accordance with the Articles, all
directors are subject to re-election at the AGM at Jeast every three years
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The Nomation Commuttee met five times during the year and all members attended all appropriate meetings
During the year, the Commuttee considered
¢ the appointment of Alex Scott-Barrett to the NWG Board External consultants were not used for this
appointment as Mr Scott-Barrett was already a director of NWL and had demonstrated his experience and
expertise External consultants had, however, been used to facilitate hus appointment to the NWL board,
e the appomntment of Simon Lyster to the NWL board following a search by external recruitment
consultants and interviews with potential candidates,
e the appoimntment of Claude Lamoureux to the NWG and NWL boards, following Ron Lepin’s resignation
from the boards and from OTPP,
treatment of fees received by executive directors for external directorships, and

* cxtensions to the appoimntments of non-executive directors on the NWG and NWL boards whase contracts
for services expired during the year

Accountability and audit

Audit Committee

The Audit Commuttee members are Sir Patrick Brown (Chairman), Alex Scott-Barrett and Jenny Williams Sir
Patrick and Jenny Williams have both served throughout the year Sir Derek Wanless stood down from the
Commuttee on 27 July 2006 when he became Chairman of the Board, and was replaced by Alex Scott-Barrett.
All members recorded 100% attendance at commaittee meetings

Sir Derek 15 a former director and Group Chief Executive of National Westmnster Bank plc and a non-
executive director of Northern Rock ple Alex Scott-Barrett 15 a chartered accountant and was Chief Operating
Officer of Cazenove’s fund management division before becoming non-executive Chairman of Suffolk Life
Group plc, and a non-executive director of General Capital Group ple The Board 1s satisfied that Sir Derek and
Alex Scott-Barrett both have recent and relevant financial experience

The Commuittee’s membership complies with the Combined Code The Chairman, Managing Director and
Finance Director are invited to Audit Committee meetings with the permission of its Chairman, but have no
nght of attendance Managers from within the Group are 1nvited to Audit Commiuttee meetings to discuss 1ssues
relating to their areas of the business Sir Patrick meets regularly with the Internal Audit Manager, and with the
external auditors

The Commuittee members receive regular briefings from the external auditors to enable them to keep up to date
on financial reporting standards

The purpose of the Audit Commiuttee 1s to assist both executive and non-executive directors of NWG to
discharge their individual and collective responsibilities in relation to

¢ ensuring the financial and accounting systems of NWG and 1ts subsidiaries are providing accurate and up
to date information on their current position,
« ensuring NWG’s published financial statements represent a true and fair reflection of this position, and

» assessing the scope and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management systems and the mtegnity of 1ts
internal financial controls
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The Commuttee met four imes during the year and its work included

¢ monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the Company,

e reviewing the Company’s mternal financial controls by considering reports of both the internal and
external auditors, directing questions to management and reviewing the financial risks and controls
information provided to them on an annual basis,

e monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function by reviewing the scope of the
annual audit plan, the results of those audits, and monitoring the completion of actions identified during
the audit In addition, a formal questionnaire was sent to committee members and Directors,

e momtoring and reviewing the performance and effectiveness of the external auditors, in particular by
reviewing the scope and costs of the audit process,

e reviewing the external auditors’ independence by montoring the extent of the provision of non-audit
services and receiving reports from the external auditors,

e monitoring the potential impact and management of sigmficant risks on the business using a nsk
methodology which meets the recommendations of the 2005 Turnbull gmidance This methodology sets
out and rates all identified nisks, including operational, external, financial, environmental, social and
governance risks,

* monitoring the effectiveness of the Group’s whistleblowing policy by receiving reports on any incidents,
and

¢ reviewing the Company’s interim and preliminary results” announcements and the associated interim and
final reports and financial statements

Given the importance of NWL to the Group’s business, the Commuttee works closely with the Audit
Commitee of NWL In particular, both commaittees review significant regulatory reports for Ofwat, and
regularly review NWL’s debt recovery strategy and performance

The Audit Committee Chairman reports to the Board following each meeting of the Committee, and commuttee
minutes are circulated to the Board

External auditors
Ernst & Young LLP have been the Group’s auditors since 2003 The key audit partner will change every five
years

Non-audit services

The Commuttee has approved a procedure for the approval of non-audit services to safeguard the objectivity
and independence of the external auditors, which complies with the requirements of the APB’s Ethical
Standard No 5 The external auditors are not permitted to provide bookkeeping, financial information systems
design and information, or internal audit outsourcing services Permutted services require prior approval, either
from the Audit Committee Chairman, 1f under £50,000, or from the Audit Commuttee, 1f over £50,000 The
Company requires the auditors to report annually details of all non-audit services provided A breakdown of the
cost of audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors 1s set out in note 4 to the financial statements

On 29 May 2007, Emst & Young confirmed to the Audit Commuttee, in accordance with ISA260
(Communication of audit matters to those charged with governance), that they have considered their
relationship with the Company and that, in their professional judgement, the objectivity of the audit
engagement partner and audit staff 1s not impaired
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Review of internal control

The Board has overall responsibility for mamntaining a sound system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness The system 1s designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives Regular reviews of the effectiveness of the internal control system are carried out 1n accordance
with the 2005 Turnbull guidance The actions necessary to address weaknesses and otherwise improve the
system of internal control are communicated to management Internal Audit monitor implementation of these
actions and report back to the Audit Commuttee This process has been in place throughout the year and up to
the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements 2006/07 There are inherent limitations 1n any
system of internal control and even the most effective system can only provide a reasonable, and not absolute,
assurance agamnst material misstatement or loss

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control, outhined below, as follows
during the year The Internal Audit team manages a process whereby all of the financial controls within the |
Company are 1dentified and certified by the relevant manager as having operated for the full year As partofa |
programme of work (which 1s agreed with the Audit Commuttee), these controls are tested throughout the year |
A report detailing any areas of concern 1s produced after each audit As part of the same process all of the key
business risks are 1dentified Each risk 1s assessed on an unmanaged basis, the controls that are 1n place to

mitigate the risks are detailed and the risk 1s then re-assessed after these controls

[nternal Audit’s findings and recommendations are presented to the Audit Commuttee along with agreed
actions Internal Audit updates progress against any agreed actions until the control weakness i1s resolved

Organisational structure

The trading subsidiaries have their own boards of directors (the Subsidiary Boards) which are responsible for
the operational and financial control of their own businesses The Subsidiary Boards report to the Managing
Director, or Finance Director, and to the Company’s Board on matters including major strategic, financial,
organisational, compliance and regulatory 1ssues

The NWL management team manages the major business of the Group and consists of John Cuthbert
(Managing Director), Chris Green (Finance Director), Graham Neave (Operations Director and on NWL
board), Cen Jones (Regulation & Scientific Services Director and on NWL board), John Devall (Water &
Networks (South) Director), 1an Donald (Customer Services Director), Diane Morton (HR Director), Colin
Price (Technical Director) and Henry Wilson (Waste water & Networks (North) Director) The NWL
management team meets monthly to consider and discuss progress against annual and monthly financial and
operational targets [t prepares an annual budget and business plan for consideration and approval by the NWL
board NWL operates a balanced scorecard system which monitors progress against KPIs and which covers all
areas of operation of the business

The Board 1s able to monitor the impact of socal, environment and ethical matters on the Group’s business, to

assess the impact of significant risks on the business, and to evaluate methods of managing these risks through
reports 1t receives from the Subsidiary Boards and the Audit Committee The only environmental risk

constdered to be significant by the Board 1s the potential loss of the use of agricultural land for processed |
sewage treatment sludge disposal How NWL 1s managing this risk 1s described 1n the directors’ report and ‘
business review on page 24 |

For a number of years, the Subsidiary Boards have performed a full annual business risk analysis, to meet the
recommendations of the 2005 Turnbull guidance This methodology 1s described above, 1n relation to the work
of the Audit Commuttee The resuits of the risk reviews are reported 1n detail to the Audit Commuttee, and a
summary 1s reported to the Company’s directors Accompanying the risk model 1s a detailed review of each
company’s nternal financial controls, along with either confirmation that the controls have operated throughout
the year or details of any exceptions Action points ansing from these reviews are followed up as part of the
internal audit process
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Some subsidiaries, such as NWL, consider risks more frequently The NWL management team considers
significant nisks in a structured way every two months, assessing the likehihood and potential impact of the
relevant risks both before and after risk management measures have been put in place Further details about
how nisks and uncertainties facing the Group are assessed and managed are included in the directors’ report and
business review on pages 23 to 24

On a monthly basis, the Managing Director and the Finance Director compare the actual operational and
financial performance of each business with 1ts plan and budget Targets are set to measure performance and
regular forecasts are made

Information and reporting system

Each Subsidiary Board holds a copy of the Company’s financial control manual and terms of reference, which
contain full details of the procedures for distribution of information and financial reporting Each Subsidiary
Board has developed financial control systems appropriate to 1ts activities

Budgets and business planning

The Group prepares detailled medium term business plans and annual budgets which are reviewed by the
Managing Director and Finance Director and submutted to the Board for approval Business plans and budgets
include an assessment of the key risks and success factors facing each business unit

The approval of the Board is required for major mvestments, including those in new markets, and large capital
expenditure programmes The treasury strategy, which 1s approved by the Board, requires that investments are
limited to certain money market and treasury instruments, and that the Group’s exposure to any single bank,
building society or market 15 controlled, with maximum deposits allowed with any single counterparty The
Group’s investment strategy aims to fix interest rates for part of the Group’s borrowings and investments for
periods determined by the forecast cash flow of the individual businesses This manages the exposure to the
nsk of changes m short term interest rates Foreign currency exposure 1s also managed as part of the treasury
strategy approved by the Board

The Board therefore believes that there are effective systems 1n place to 1dentify and manage significant risks
and that it recewves sufficient information to enable 1t to assess these risks

The work of the CRC is described on page 11 and on the corporate responsibility section of the Company’s
website

Investor relations

The Company welcomes constructive communmcation with all ts shareholders Details of the Company’s
investor relations activities during the year are described in the directors’ report and business review on page 8
Investor feedback reports from investor meetings, prepared by the Company’s advisers, are considered at Board
meetings, and analysts’ notes on the Company are made available to all directors on the Board’s intranet Team
Room The Board believes that these methods of investor feedback provide the senior independent non-
executive director and the other non-executive directors with a balanced understanding of the 1ssues and
concerns of major shareholders The senior independent director 1s available to shareholders who wash to raise
any matters of concern and the Chairman welcomes contact with any shareholders who have matters they wish
to discuss From February 2007, 1t was agreed that the Chairman would write to any new shareholders with
holdings over 1% of the 1ssued share capital confirming that the non-executive directors are available to meet
them upon request The Company has not received any requests from institutional shareholders to meet with
non-executive directors

All shareholders are encouraged to contact the Company with quenes or suggestions A welcome letter 1s sent
to all new non-corporate shareholders, which includes information on services available to shareholders
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AGM

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s AGM at which they can meet and question the directors
The Company will make a presentation at the AGM to highlight the key business developments and events
during the year The full Board 1s expected to be avatlable at the AGM to answer shareholders’ questions
Voting at the AGM will be on a show of hands but the proxy votes cast on each resolution will be displayed
after each resolution has been voted on If the voting on a show of hands produces a different result from that
which would have been achieved on a poll, the Chairman will call a poll so that the result of the voting on that
resolution reflects the wishes of the majority of shareholders The proxy votes cast at each AGM are disclosed
on our website

aAd gt

Martin Parker
Company Secretary
5 June 2007
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Directors’ remuneration report
Information not requiring audit

The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Commuttee of the Board (the Commuttee) determines the remuneration and terms of
employment of the Chairman of the Company, executive directors and senior management of the Group 1n
accordance with a remuneration policy approved by the Board The Commuittee members are Martin Négre
(Chairman), Sir Patrick Brown, Alex Scott-Barrett, who are all considered by the Company to be independent,
and Sir Derek Wanless Before Sir Derek’s appointment as Chairman of NWG on 27 July 2006 he was an
independent non-executive director and a member of the Remuneration Commuttee Although the Combined
Code 1n place on that date required all members of the Commiuttee to be independent non-executive directors,
the amendment permtting company chairmen to sit on the Remuneration Committee, with effect from 1 Aprl
2007, had already been published The Board wanted the Commuttee to continue to have the benefit of Sir
Derek’s experience and asked him to retain his seat on the Commuttee Therefore, between 27 July 2006 and 31
March 2007, the membership of the Commttee was not comphiant with the Combined Code

The Commuttee met five times during the year with 100% attendance by all members As the Committee works
closely with NWL’s Remuneration Commuittee, Commuittee papers and minutes are circulated to all NWL and
NWG non-executive directors, who can give their views direct to the Committee Chairman and can attend
meetings if they wish The Commuttee’s terms of reference are available on the Company’s website The
Committee received advice during the year from 1ts appointed remuneration consultants, New Bridge Street
Consultants LLP (NBSC), and also from the Managing Director NBSC continues to assist the Committee 1n
maintaining best practice 1n relation to remuneration NBSC does not provide any other service to the
Company

The Commuttee 1s always available to engage with major shareholders and their representatives to discuss
remuneration matters, although no such approaches have been received

During the year the Committee

e agreed bonuses for 2005/06,

e agreed salanes for 2006/07 and 2007/08,

* decided the vesting percentage to be applied to the LTIP awards made on 27 January 2004, which vested
on 27 January 2007,

e agreed performance conditions for future LTIP awards, after consultation with major shareholders
Further information 1s set out below under LTIP,

e agreed to increase the upper limits of future LTIP awards from 75% to 100% of annual salary, subject to
approval by shareholders at the AGM on 2 August 2007, and

» set performance targets for executive directors and senior managers

Statement of remuneration policy

The Commuttee has considered the principles and provisions of the Combined Code when setting its policy and
believes 1t 1s fully comphiant The policy of the Company, which applied throughout 2006/07 and applies for
2007/08 and subsequent financial years, 1s to provide remuneration that 1s sufficient to attract, retain and
motivate directors of the quality required to run the Company successfully That being said, the Committee’s
paramount principle 1s to pay fairly The Committee 1s aware of the risk of remuneration being ratcheted up as a
result of benchmarking exercises and confirms that this has not happened Consistent with its fair pay policy,
when considering the remuneration packages of senior executives and directors, the Commuttee takes into
account pay awards to other employees in the Group
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The remuneration policy of the Commuttee 1s

e the setting of base salaries to be largely influenced by individual contributions and internal relativities
rather than external comparators,

¢ the annual bonus plan should recognise the interests of all of the Company’s stakeholders (shareholders,
customers and employees) rather than be focused solely on profits, and

» management should share in the longer term value created for the Company’s investors, but equity
incentive schemes should only reward 1if there 1s clear outperformance of the market and other quoted
companies

The implementation of this remuneration policy 1s described below

Elements of remuneration

The remuneration of the executive directors consists of basic salary and benefits, including pension and
participation 1n the Companys SIP, all of which are not performance related The performance related elements
are annual bonus and LTIP awards The relative importance of the performance and non performance related
elements 1s monitored and the Commuittee recognises the importance of the performance related elements Even
with the proposed Increases, the LTIP awards will remain below general market levels

Executive directors: basic salary and benefits

The basic salaries paid to each director duning the year are set out 1n Table 1 on page 44 Basic salary 1s the only
pensionable element of the executive directors’ remuneration packages Data received from NBSC has
indicated that the Managing Director’s basic salary 1s less than the median paid to his counterparts at other
quoted water companies For the second year in succession, however, John Cuthbert has declined salary
increases recommended by the Commuttee He has, therefore, had no increase 1n his basic salary in 2006 or
2007

Benefits provided to the executive directors include membersmp of a defined benefit pension scheme, car
allowance and healthcare

Non-executive directors: fees and benefits

As Chairman, Sir Derek Wanless recetves an annual fee of £125,000. All other non-executive directors are paid
a fee of £30,000 per annum Additional fees of £5,000 and £7,500 per annum are paid to the Chairmen of the
Remuneration and Audit Commuittees respectively Sir Derek and the other non-executive directors do not
receive benefits in kind When Sir Fred Holliday was Chairman he received an annual fee of £125,000 and
benefits in kind, which included the use of'a company car and driver and work-related accommodation The
car, driver and accommodation were available to the Company when not being used by Sir Fred The Chairman
and the non-executive directors do not participate in bonus, pension or share schemes operated by the
Company Details of non-executive directors’ remuneration are set out in Table 1 on page 44

Non-executive directors” fees have not been reviewed for some time, but will in future be reviewed annually by
the Chairman and the executive directors From 1 April 2007, the Chairman’s annual fee will be £150,000 and
the non-executive directors’ fees will be £35,000 per annum, with the Chairmen of the Remuneration and Audit
Commuttees recerving additional fees of £5,000 and £10,000 per annum, respectively
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Annual bonus
Since 2005/06 the annual bonus plan reflects the interests of all of the Company’s stakeholders Maximum
annual bonuses for the executive directors 1n 2006/07 are 70% of salary, which are apportioned as follows

Stakeholder Bonus metric Maximum bonus available as a % of salary
Shareholders Profit before tax (PBT) 40
Customers Overall Performance Assessment (OPA) rating 5
Employees Percentage lost ime through sickness 5
Bespoke personal targets 20
Total 70

John Cuthbert's personal targets related principally to improving the sustamnability of the penston scheme,
business strategy, mvestor relations and succession planntng, as well as a range of financial matters Chris
Green's personal targets were focused mainly on funding and credit rating, the maintenance of key financial
ratios and measures, and the relationships with major debt and equity investors and analysts

Taking account of performance against personal targets and the OPA, PBT and lost time performance, bonuses
equal to 62% and 64 5% of basic salary were approved for payment to John Cuthbert and Chris Green,
respectively Bonus payments are included 1in Table | on page 44

LTIP

Under the LTIP, executive directors and senior managers may receive, at the discretion of the Remuneration
Commuttee, annual conditional awards of shares in the Company Details of the levels of award and
performance conditions are shown 1n Table 2 on page 45

A conclusion of the review that took place during 2005/06 was that the LTIP remamed the most appropriate
equity incentive plan, particularly in the light of the Company’s dividend policy The Comnuttee agreed that
total shareholder return (TSR) performance conditions remained the best performance measure to ensure that
executives are rewarded fairly for value created for the Company’s investors However, changes were made to
the structure of the TSR conditions, which are more consistent with best practice

Following the de-listing of several water companies, and after taking advice from NBSC, 1t was decided during
2006/07 that the water company comparator group was of insufficient size to be a fair comparator After
consultation with major shareholders, it was decided to replace this comparator group with a larger group
containing all the water and sewerage companies of England and Wales and using relative return on capital
employed as the performance target This target was chosen because
o 1t directly compares NWL’s financial performance against that of its peers,
e 1t1s objectively measured and verified by a third party (Ofwat),
e NWL s the largest company in the Group,
¢ there 1s no subjectivity 1n determinming what level of return would be a good and excellent result (it being a
relative measure to which quartile analysis 1s applied), and
e the comparative approach should be able to deal with the five year pricing reviews without the
Remuneration Committee having to reset targets

For the awards granted on 21 December 2006 the three years to be reviewed are 2006/07, 2007/08 and 2008/09
Over the three year performance period the return on capital employed will be calculated on a compounded
annuahsed return basis rather than a straight average of the three years As part of this review the Commuttee
back-tested this performance condition and 1t was observed that this was a tougher condition than TSR over
previous performance periods

In addition, awards will only vest if the Commuttee 1s satisfied that the Company’s TSR performance 1s
consistent with the underlying business performance of the Company
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In the event of a change of control, the Committee would determine the extent to which the performance
conditions had been met and the proportion of the performance period that had elapsed in deciding whether or
not any vesting of awards would take place

The performance conditions described above were chosen to align the interests of participants in the LTIP wath
those of shareholders Rewards should only be earned over a number of years in circumstances where
shareholders have benefited An independent firm 1s engaged by the Commuttee to calculate the TSRs and to
assess the extent to which the performance conditions have been met, so that the process 1s ngorous and
transparent

The first LTIP award, granted on 27 January 2004, became available to vest on 27 January 2007 The
Commuttee instructed PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC) to assess the level of vesting of this award PWC
reported that 73% of the award was available to vest (being 100% of the award relating to the Company’s TSR
performance against the FTSE 250 Index and 61% of the award relating to the Company’s TSR performance
against the other listed water companies) Details of the number of awards which lapsed and those which were
exercised by the directors of the Company are shown 1n Table 3 on page 46

Directors’ interests in LTIP awards
The directors’ conditional interests 1n the ordinary 10 pence shares of the Company, awarded 1n accordance
with the terms of the LTIP as at 31 March 2007, are set out in Table 3 on page 46

Ordinary 10 pence shares required to fulfil LTIP awards which have vested may be provided by Northumbrnan
Water Group plc Employee Trust, through Northumbrian Water Share Scheme Trustees Limited The Trustees
are Sir Patrick Brown, Martin Négre and Anita Frew (a non-executive director of NWL) At 31 March 2007,
the Trust held a total of 716,917 ordinary 10 pence shares In line with ABI guidelines, dividends are waived on
these shares and the voting nights attached to these shares will not be exercised at the AGM The shares held 1n
the Trust represent a percentage of the total number of shares awarded under the LTIP to hedge against 11s
potential obligation to provide shares for awards which vest

Performance graph
The TSR performance graph 1s shown at Table 4 on pages 46 and 47

Service contracts

From 1 April 2006, all non-executive directors are appointed for a term of 12 months with a six month notice
period on either side The executive directors have service contracts with 12 months’ notice periods and which
expire when the directors reach normal retirement age Details of the contracts of the executive and non-
executive directors who served during the year are shown n Table 5 on page 47

Terms and conditions of appointment of non-executive directors are available for inspection at the Company’s
registered office during normal business hours and at the AGM The terms of appointment set out the expected
time commitment for each non-executive director

External appointments of executive directors
The Board's position on external appointments 1s described 1n the corporate governance report on page 33 To
date, no fees for external appointments have been retained by executive directors

Directors’ pensions and pension benefits

The main features of the Northumbrian Water Pension Scheme are set out 1n note 26 to the financial statements
The Commuttee has reviewed 1ts penstons policy in the light of the introduction of the new pension rules 1n
Apnl 2006 and details are given in the notes below Table 6 on page 48
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It 15 intended that the executive directors’ pensions will be modified with effect from 1 January 2008, in line
with the changes proposed for the pension scheme as a whole It 1s also proposed to close the existing executive
pension arrangements to new entrants on that date

The accrued defined benefit pensions and corresponding transfer values for the executive directors are set out in
Table 6 on page 48

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

The directors’ beneficial interests 1n the ordinary 10 pence shares of the Company, and in debentures of
Northumbnan Services Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, as at 31 March 2007 are set out in Tables 7 and
8 on pages 48 and 49

Directors’ interests in shares under the SIP

The Company SIP 1s open to UK employees with more than three months’ service Further details of the SIP
are set out 1n the directors’ report and business review on page 10 During the year, the executive directors had
the opportunity to participate in the SIP and their interests 1n the ordinary 10 pence shares of the Company,
purchased and held 1n accordance with the terms of the SIP, are set out 1n Table 9 on page 49

This directors’ remuneration report, which has been produced in accordance with Schedule 7A of the
Companies Act 1985, as introduced by the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002, was approved by
the Board and signed on 1ts behalf by the Company Secretary It will be put to the shareholders for approval at
the Company’s AGM

ANPMW
Martin Parker

Company Secretary
5 June 2007
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These tables form the part of the directors’ remuneration report which are audited (except for Tables 2, 4 and 5
which do not require auditing)

Table 1
Directors’ emoluments (audited)
The emoluments of the directors of the Company for their services as directors of the Company and (where
relevant) 1ts subsidiaries, are set out below, rounded to the nearest thousand pounds

Total for the Total for the
year ended year cnded
Fees | Basic salary Benefits' Bonus® | 31 March 2007 | 31 March 2006
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive Directors

John Cuthbert - 270 6 167 443 398
Chnis Green - 200 9 129 338 275

Non-executive Directors
Sir Derck Wanless® 93 - - - 93 30
Sir Patrick Brown* 38 - - - 38 38
Christophe Cros® - - - - - 2
Bernard Guickinger’ - - - - - 2
Sir Fred Holliday® 40 - 10 - 50 149
Claude Lamoureux” ® 10 - - . 10 -
Ron Lepmn®® 20 - - - 20 12
Martin Negre'’ 35 - - - 35 35
Alex Scott-Barrett'! 15 - - - 15 -
Jenny Wilhams 30 - - - 30 30
Total remuneration 2381 470 25 296 1,072 971

Notes

e i B = NV Ry PR N

-

The remuneration of each executive director includes nonrcash benefits comprising the provision of car allowances and
healthcare The non-cash benefits for Sir Fred Holhday comprised the provision of the use of a company car, driver and work
related accommeodation

The annual bonus 1s payable 1n June 2007, for performance during the year endel 31 March 2007

Non-executive director during 2005/06 and from 1 April 2006 until his appointment as Chairman on 27 July 2006
I[ncludes additional fee paid as Chairman of Audit Committee

The fees of these directors were payable to Suez Both directors resigned on 28 Apnil 2005

Retired as Chairman on 27 July 2006

Appointed 1 December 2006

Fee payable to Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan Board

Resigned 1 December 2006

Includes additional fee paid as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Appointed on 26 September 2006
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Table 2

Summary of LTIP awards and performance conditions (unaudited)

LTIP awards made 27 January 2004 and 22 December 2004

Maximum award

75% of salary permitted Actual grants to executive directors were over shares worth
40% of salary

Performance conditions

Comparison of TSR with two comparator groups over three years

(1) 70% of award depends on the Company’s TSR performance against other listed
water companies AWG plc, Bristol Water Group ple, East Surrey Holdings ple, Kelda
Group ple, Pennon Group ple, Severn Trent ple and United Utilities ple, and

(2} 30% of award depends on the Company’s TSR performance agamst the FTSE 25q
Index, excluding investment trusts

East Surrey Holdings plc de-listed on 28 October 2005 and Bristol Water Group ple de-
histed on 18 May 2006 These companies have been left in the comparator group for the
purpose of the awards and their performance was frozen on the date each company de-
listed This means that a constant TSR has been applied at each date after the de-listing

Vesting schedules

(1) 30% vests at median performance with sliding scale based on ranking to 100% if
the Company tops the group Where the Company’s TSR performance 1s below the
median performance of the comparator group, none of thatelement of the award will
vest

(2) 30% vests 1if the Company's TSR equals the FTSE 250 Index, increasing to 100% if
the Company's TSR outperforms the Index by at least 6% Where the Company’s TSR
performance 1s less than that of the Index, none of that elenent of the award will vest

LTIP award made 9 December 2003

Maximum award

75% of salary permitted Actual grants to executive directors were over shares worth
70% of salary

Performance conditions

As above

Vesting schedules

(1) as above, but between median and upper quartile, the vesting wili be calculated on
a straight line basis comparing the Company’s TSR to that of the median and upper
quartile positions, rather than ranking

{(2) 30% vests at median performance with straight Itne pro-rating of TSR performance
against the members of the FTSE 250 Index, excluding mvestment trusts, to 100% for
upper quartile performance Where the Company’s TSR performance 15 below the
median, hone of that element of the award will vest

LTIP award made 21 December 2006 and future awards

Maximum award

75% of salary permitted Actual grants to executive directors were over shares worth
70% of salary

Performance conditions

(1) 50% of award depends on NWL’s return on capital employed relative to that of the
other water and sewerage companies of England and Wales

(2) 50% of award depends on the Company’s TSR performance against the FTSE 250
Index, excluding investment trusts

Vesting schedules

(1) 30% vests at median performance At upper quartile or above return on capital
employed, all of that half of the award will vest Between median and upper quartile
straight line pro-rating will apply Where the Group’s return on capital employed
performance 15 below the median, none of this element of the award will vest

(2) 30% vests at median performance with straight line prorating of TSR performance
aganst the members of the FTSE 250 Index, excluding investment trusts, to 100% for
upper quartile performance Where the Company’s TSR performance 1s below the
median, none of this element of the award will vest
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Table 3
Directors’ interests in LTIP awards (audited)

As at 31 March 2007, the directors had the following conditional interests 1n the ordinary 10 pence shares of the

Company, awarded 1n accordance with the terms of the LTIP

Awards
Award | Awards held at the | Awarded during | Awards lapsed | vesied during |  Awards held as at
date start of the year the year | during the year the year 31 March 2007
John Cuthbert 27 1 04° 85,603 - 23,866 61,737’ -
22 12 04° 67,001 - - - 67,001
912 05° 75,903 - - - 75,903
2112 06° - 66,721 - - 66,721
Totals 228,507 66,721 23,866 61,737 209,625
Chris Green 271 04° 56,618 - 15,785 40,833’ -
22 12 04° 44221 - - - 44,221
91205° 50,602 - - - 50,602
211206° - 49,423 - - 49,423
Totals 151,441 49,423 15,785 40,833 144,246
Notes
1 There have been no changes to any of the above interests in awards under the LTIP from the end of the year to3 June 2007
2 The market value of the shares on the date of the award was 113 50 pence per share Thethree year performance period ran from 1 October
2003 to 30 September 2006 and shares became available to vest on 27 January 2007
3 Shares vested on 29 January 2007 and the closing price on that date was 294 3 pence per share
4 The market value of the shares on the date of the award was 174 50 pence per share The three year performance pertod runs from 1 October
2004 to 30 September 2007
5 The market value of the shares on the date of the award was 252 00 pence per share The three year performance period nns from 1 October
2005 to 30 September 2008
6  The market value of the shares on the date of the award was 302 75 pence per share The three year performance period runs from 1 October
2006 to 30 September 2009
7 Ihe cost of conditional awards 1s charged to the income staternent over the three year performance period to which they relate after taking
account of the probatility of performance criteria bemng met In the year, #) 4 mithon was charged to equity
8  Details of the performance conditions are shown at Table 2 on page 45
9 The narket price of the shares on 31 March 2007 was 310 00 pence per share Durning the year, the lighest market price was 320 00 pence
per share and the lowest market price was 231 50 pence per share
10 Aggrepate gross gains made by direciors on exercise of awards at date of vesting was £302,069 (2006 £ml)
Table 4

TSR graph (unaudited)

The graph below shows a companison between the TSR for the Company’s shares for the period 23 May 2003
(the date the Company’s shares were listed on AIM) to 31 March 2007, and the TSR for the companies
comprnising the FTSE 250 Index (excluding investment trusts) over the same period This index has been
selected as the Company 1s a constituent of the FTSE 250
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This graph shows the value, by 31 March 2007, of £100 invested in Northumbrian Water Group ple on 23 May 2003 (the date the Company’s
shares were listed on AIM) compared with the value of £100 invested in the FTSE 250 Index (excluding mmvestment trusts) over the same period

Table 5

Directors’ service contracts (unaudited)

Details of the contracts of the directors who served during the year are shown below

Imtial Current contract Notice
appointment start date | Unexpired term' pertod by Current contract end date
either side
Executive Directors’
John Cuthbert 22 May 2003 22 May 2003 Not fixed term 12 months Normal retirement age (65)
Chris Green 22 May 2003 22 May 2003 Naot fixed term | 12 months Normal rettrement age (65)
Non-executive Directors’
Sir Derek Wanless 1 December 2003 1 December 2006 6 months 6 months 30 November 2007
Sir I'red Holliday 23 May 2003 23 May 2006 N/A N/A Retired 27 July 2006
Sir Patrick Brown 12 May 2003 12 May 2007 11 months 6 months 11 May 2008
Ron Lepin 24 Qctober 2005 24 October 2006 N/A N/A Resigned | December 2006
Martin Négre 12 May 2003 12 May 2007 11 months 6 months 11 May 2008
Alex Scott-Barrett 26 September 2006 26 September 2006 4 months 6 months 25 September 2007
Claude Lamoureux 1 December 2006 1 December 2006 ¢ months 6 months 30 November 2007
Jenny Wilhams 27 May 2004 27 May 2007 12 months 6 months 26 May 2008

Notes
Calculated as at 5 June 2007 and rounded to nearest whole month
The service contracts of the executive directors do not contam provisions relating to compensation for termmation In the event of
termination by the Company, the Remuneration Committee would make recommendations to the Board on what payments, 1f any,
should be made to the director, depending on the circumstances of the terminatien, and takinginto account the provisions of the
Combined Code regarding non-payment for fallure The Company would also expect directors to seek 1o mitigate their loss

1
2

Contracts do not provide for compensation for loss of office 1n excess of fees accrued
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Table 6

Directors’ pensions and pension benefits (audited)

The accrued defined benefit pensions and corresponding transfer values for the executive directors are set
below

Iransfer

value of net Transfer Transfer
Increase Imerease in value of value of | Total change
Accrued Accrued n accrued accrued accrued accrued n transfer
pension at | pension at | Increasc in pension pension less | pension at pension at value less
31 March 31 March accrued net of directors’ I April 31 March directors
2006 2007 pension inflation | contributions 2006 2007 | contributions
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
John Cuthbert 1259 1338 79 18 310 1,983 2 2,3010 3178
Chris Green 67 4 83.3 i59 127 2086 1,077 5 1,373 6 2961

Notes

1 Accrued pensions shown are the anounts that would be paid annually on retirement based on service to the end of the year

2 Voluntary contributions pard by the directors and resulting benefits are not shown

3 The change m transfer value allows for fluctuattons in the transfer value due t factors beyond the control of the Company and
directors, such as changes in stock market conditions

4  The transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuanal advice 1n accordance with Actuarial Guidance Note GNI1 1

The directors participate in a salary sacrifice arrangement and, therefore, paid no contnibutions to the scheme during the year

6 From 6 April 2006, following pension changes introduced 1n the Finance Act 2006, the Scheme removed the earnings cap
restriction Benefit calculations for John Cuthbert and Chris Green had been subject to the earnings cap As a result of the
removal of the earnings cap, an unfunded unapproved pension arrangement, designed to provide John Cuthbert with pension
benefits based on salary in excess of the earnings cap, was terminated The additional hability on the pension scheme as a
consequence of the removal of the earmings cap was met by the Company

wn

Table 7
Directors’ interests in shares (audited)

The directors had the following beneficial or family interests 1n the ordinary 10 pence shares of the Company as
at 31 March 2007

Number of shares held at the
start of the year or subsequent | Number of shares held as at
date of appointment 31 March 2007
Sir Patrick Brown 43,000 43,000
John Cuthbert’ 100,000 126,350
Chris Green’ 65,000 89,042
Sir Fred Holliday® 8,700 -
Claude Lamoureux’ - -
Ron Lepin® - -
Martin Négre' 190,000 170,000
Alex Scott-Barrett® - -
Sir Derek Wanless 30,000 30,000
Jenny Williams 6,000 6,000
Notes
1 There have been no changes in any of the above interests from the end of the year to5 June 2007
2 26,350 of the shares held at 31 March 2007 are beneficially owned by Mrs Lynn Cuthbert
3 These shares are beneficially owned by Mrs Geraldine Green
4  Retired 26 July 2006
5 Appomted 1 December 2006
6 Resigned 1 December 2006
7  Mrs Linda Négre beneficially owned 20,000 of the shares held at 1 April 2006 M Négre sold her shares on 16 August 2006
8 Appomted on 26 September 2006
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Table 8
Directors’ interests in debentures (audited)

The directors had the following beneficial or family interests in debentures of Northumbrian Services Limited
as at 31 March 2007

Amount of debentures Amount of debenture
held at the start of the year or held as at

subsegquent date of appointment' 31 March 2007
40,000 -
25,000 -

Class of debentures
8 625% Curobonds 28 6 2006
8 625% Lurobonds 28 6 2006

John Cuthbert
Chris Green®

Notes
I These debentures were redeemed on 28 June 2006 at par
2 These debentures were beneficially owned by Mrs Geraldine Green

Table 9

Directors’ interests in shares under the SIP (audited)

The directors who held office as at 31 March 2007 had the following interests 1n the ordinary 10 pence shares
of the Company, purchased and held in accordance with the terms of the SIP

Number of SIP shares held at the
start of the yecar’

Number of SIP shares held as at
31 March 2007

Number of SIP shares held as
at 5 Junc 2007

John Cuthbert 2,780 3,565 4,176
Chns Green 2,780 1,565 4,176
Notes

I These figures include the shares paid for by the participant and the free shares granted by the Company
2 A summary of the SIP can be found 1n the directors’ report and business review on page 10
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in relation to the Group financial
statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance
with applicable United Kingdom law and those International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted
by the European Union

The directors are required to prepare Group financial statements for each financial year which present fairly the
financial position of the Group and the financial performance and cash flows of the Group for that period In
preparing those Group financial statements the directors are required to

» select suitable accounting policies 1n accordance with IAS 8- Accounting Policies, Changes 1n Accounting
Estimates and Errors and then apply them consistently,

¢ present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, rehable, comparable
and understandable information,

s provide additional disclosures when compliance with specific requirements in [FRS 1s mnsufficient to
enable users to understand the 1impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the Group’s
financial position and financial performance, and

« state that the Group has complied with IFRS, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Group and enable them to ensure that the Group financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other wrregularities
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Report of the Auditors on the Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Northumbrian Water Group plc

We have audited the Group financial statements of Northumbrian Water Group plc for the year ended 31 March
2007 which comprnise the Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated statement of recognised income and
expense, the Consolidated balance sheet, the Consolidated cash flow statement and the related notes 1 to 30
These Group financial statements have been prepared under the accounting pohcies set out therein

We have reported separately on the parent Company financial statements of Northumbrtan Water Group plc for
the year ended 31 March 2007 and on the information in the Directors’ remuneration report that 1s described as
having been audited

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as a body, 1n accordance with Section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members
those matters we are required to state to them 1n an auditors' report and for no other purpose To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements n
accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
adopted by the European Union are set out 1n the Statement of directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility 1s to audit the Group financial statements 1n accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and lreland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give a true and fair view and
whether the Group financial statements have been properly prepared 1n accordance with the Companies Act
1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation We also report to you whether 1n our opinion the information given
in the Directors' report and business review 1s consistent with the financial statements

In addition we report to you 1f, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit, or 1f information specifted by law regarding director’s remuneration and other transactions
1s not disclosed

We review whether the Corporate governance statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine
provisions of the 2003 Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authority, and we report 1f 1t does not  We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on
internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures

We read other information contained 1n the Annual Report and consider whether 1t 1s consistent with the
audited Group financial statements The other information compnses only Highlights, NWG at a glance, the
Chairman’s statement, the Directors’ report and business review, Appendix to the directors’ report and business
review, Board directors’ biographies, the Corporate governance report, the unaudited part of the Directors’
remuneration report and Shareholder information  We consider the implications for our report 1f we become
aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Group financial statements Our
responstbilities do not extend to any other information
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Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit 1n accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the
Auditing Practices Board An audit tncludes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the Group financial statements It also includes an assessment of the sigmificant estimates
and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the Group financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropnate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary 1n order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Group financial
statements are free from matenial misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregulanty or error In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information 1n the Group
financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion

¢ the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, 1n accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2007 and of its profit for the year then
ended,

e the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985
and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation, and

¢ the information given in the Directors’ report and business review 1s consistent with the Group financial
statements
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Emst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor

Newcastle upon Tyne
5 June 2007
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Northumbrian Water Group ple

Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 March 2007

Year to Year to
3132007 3132006
Notes £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 2 633.5 5915
Operating costs 3 (375 3) (355 3)
Profit on ordinary activities before interest 2 2582 2362
Fmance costs payable 6 (127 0) (1127
Finance income receivable 6 15.8 67
Share of profit after tax of associates and jontly controlled entities 038 01
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 2 147.8 1303
- current taxation 7 (8 6) (15 6)
- deferred taxation 7 (28.0) (23 6)
- overseas tax 7 - D
Profit for the year from continuing operations 111.2 916
Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 8 - 154
Profit for the year 1112 106 4
Attributable to
Equity shareholders of the Company 110.9 1059
Minoruy interests 0.3 05
1112 106 4
Basic earnings per share for profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent 9 2142p 2045p
Diluted earnings per share for profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent 9 21.38p 2042p
Basic earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attnibutable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent 9 21.42p 17 48p
Diluted earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent 9 2138p 17 45p
Adjusted earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent{excluding deferred tax, amortisation
of debt fair value and IAS 39 adjustments) 9 24.95p 19 52p
Ordinary final dividend proposed per share 10 7.52p 7 04p
Special dividend paid per share 10 - 282p
Dividend paid per share 10 10 79p 10 65p
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Northumbrian Water Group ple

Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense
For the year ended 31 March 2007

Year to Year to
3132007 3132006
£fm £m
Actuarial gains 25.0 527
Losses on cash flow hedges - 38
Gains on cash flow hedges 24 10
Tax on items charged or credited to equity (75) (15 6)
Translation differences 02) -
Total mcome and expense recognised in equity 197 343
Transferred to the income statement on cash flow hedges 2.9 -
Profit for the vear 1112 106 4
Total recognised income and expense 128.0 140 7
Attributable to
Equity shareholders of the Company 1277 140 2
Minority interests 03 03
128 0 140 7
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Northumbrian Water Group plc

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 March 2007

3132007 3132006
Notes £m £fm
Non-current assets
Goodwill 11 3.6 37
Other intangible assets 11 64 2 6472
Property, plant and equipment 12 3,119.9 29856
Investments 1n jointly controlled entities 13 3.6 36
Financial assets 180 201
Pension asset 26 42.7 -
Other investments 13 0.2 03
3,2522 3,077 5
Current assets
Inventories 14 3.7 33
Trade and other receivables 15 124.5 1116
Cash and cash equivalents 16 316.9 176 6
445.1 291 5
Total assets 3,697.3 3,369 0
Non-current habilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 18 2,382.1 1,972 9
Provisions 20 29 31
Deferred mncome tax liabilities 7 531.2 495 6
Pension hability 26 - 37
Other payables 10.0 106
Grants 193.3 1793
3,119 5 2,665 2
Current habiliies
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 18 34.5 2367
Provisions 20 0.2 03
Trade and other payables 17 1656 156 3
Income tax payable 44 97
204.7 403 0
Total habihties 33242 3,068 2
Net assets 373.1 3008
Capital and rescrves
Issued capital 22/23 51.9 519
Share premium reserve 23 446.5 446 5
Cash flow hedge reserve 23 1.0 15
Treasury shares 23 (13) {7
Currency translation 23 02) -
Retained earmnings 23 {126.5) {198 9
Equity shareholders’ funds 3714 2993
Minonty interests 22 1.7 15
Total capital and reserves 373.1 300 8

Approyed by the Board on 5 June 2007 and signed on 1its behalf by

. G

T Derek Wanless
Chairman

/
VRUMItIsdn /.
John Cuthbert
Managing Director
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Northumbrian Water Group ple

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 March 2007

Year to Year to
31.3.2007 3132006
Notes £m £m
Operating activities
Reconcibiation of profit before interest to net cash flows from operating activities
Profit on ordinary activities before interest 2582 2362
Profit before interest on discontinued operations - 12
Depreciation and other similar non-cash charges 92.9 884
Other non-cash charges (6.2) 48
Net charge for provisions, less payments (0 3) 05
Difference between pension contributions paid and amounts recognised in the
income statement 44 28
Increase m inventories (0 4) (26)
{Increase)/decrease n trade and other receivables (13.0) 40
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 0.9 97N
Cash generated from operations 3359 3150
Advanced contnbutions in respect of retirement benefits (25.8) (22 8)
Net interest paid (124.7) (119 7)
Income taxes paid (14 6) {6 5)
Net cash flows from operating activities 170 8 166 0
Investing activities
Interest received 125 41
Capntal grants recetved 18.8 214
Purchase of subsidiary undertaking (net of cash acquired) - 24
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiary undertakings - 186
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 22 20
Dividends received from jointly controlled entities 0.9 08
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (211.4) (206 7)
Other cash items - 02
Net cash flows from investing activities (177.0) (157 2)
Financing activities
New borrowings 425.0 2102
New loans 1ssued - 2 1)
Maturity of investments 21 20
Settled hedge instruments 34 (EN))
Issue costs of new borrowings (0.4) (14)
Own shares purchased (0.2) {0 8)
Dividends paid to minority interests (0.1) {0 3)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders (55.8) (69 7}
Repayment of borrowings (201.1) (46 6)
Payment of principal under hire purchase contracts and financeleases (4.8) “n
Net cash flows from financing activities 168.1 829
Increase 1n cash and cash equivalents 161.9 917
Cash and cash equivalents at start of vear 16 153.9 622
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 16 315.8 1539
Net cash flow in respect of discontinued operations
Cash consideration - 298
Cash and cash equivalents disposed - (111
Expenses paid in connection with disposals - 0D
- 18 6
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Northumbrian Water Group plc

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Accounting policies

(a) Statement of comphance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with [FRS as adopted by the European Union as 1t applies to
the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2007 and n accordance with the Companies Act 1985 The
consohdated financial statements are also consistent with IFRS as issued by the IASB The directors consider the following
accounting pohicies to be relevant in relatton to the Group’s financial statements The financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2007 were authonised for 1ssue by the Board of directors on 5 June 2007 and the balance sheet was signed on the
Board’s behalf by Sir Derek Wanless (Chairman) and John Cuthbert (Managing Director)

Northumbrian Water Group plc 1s a public hmited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales The Company’s
ordwnary shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange

The Group financial statements are presented 1n sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest one hundred thousand pounds (£0 1
million} except where otherwise indicated

(b) Basis of consohdation

The consoldated financial statements include the Company and itssubsidiary undertakings The results of subsidianes acquired
during the period are included from the date of their acquisition The results of subsidiaries disposed of during the period are included
to the date of thewr disposal Inter segment sales and profits are eliminated fully on consolidation Where, for commercial reasons, the
accounting reference date of a subsidiary 1s a date other than that of the Company, management accounts made up to the Company’s
accounting reference date have been used In accordance with SIC 12 “‘Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities’, the financial
statements of two companies are consolidated as special purpose entities, with effect from 12 May 2004, the date of the transaction
which utilised these entities

Where necessary, adjustments arec made to bring the accounting policies used under relevant local GAAP 1n the mdividual financial
statements of the Company, subsidiaries and jomtly controlled entities into line with those used by the Group under IFRS

Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries that 1s not held by the Group and 1s presented
separately within equity n the consolidated balance sheet, separately from parent shareholders’ equity

(¢} Associates and jointly controlled entities

Investments in associates and jontly controlled entities i the Group financial statements are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting where the Group exercises significant influence over the associate Significant infhtere 1s generally presumed to exist
where the Group’s effective ownership 15 20% or more The Group’s share of the post tax profits less losses of assoctates and jontly
controlled entities 15 included n the consolidated income statement and thecarrying value i the balance sheet comprises the Group’s
share of their net assets/habilities less distributions received and any impairment losses. Goodwill ansing on the acquisition of
associates and jointly controlled entities, representing the excess of the cest of mvestment compared to the Group’s share of net fair
value of the associate’s 1dentifiable assets, habilities and contingent habihties, 15 included 1n the carrying amount of the associate and
1s not amortised Financial statements of jointly contmlled entities and associates are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Group Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies used into linewith those of the Group, to take into
account fair values assigned at the date of acquisition and to reflect impairment losses whereappropnate Adjustments are also made
to the Group’s financial statements to elimmate the Group’s share of unrealised gans and losses on transactionshetween the Group
and 1ts Jontly controlled entities and associates

(d) Goodwil]

Goodwitl ansing on the acquisithion of subsidiary undertakings and businesses represents the excess of the fair value of the
consideration given over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired Followng imtial recognition, goodwill 1s
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses The Group has £0 2 million of goodwill at 1 Apnit 2004 Prior to 1 April
2004, goodwill was amortised over 1its estimated useful life, such amortisation ceased on 31 March 2004 Goodwill relating 1o
acquisitions since 1 April 2004 1s not amortised Goodwill 1s reviewed for impanment, annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill 1s
allocated to the related cash-generating units monitored by management at statutory company level Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit 1s less than 1ts carrying amount, including goodwill, an imparmat loss 15 recognised in the income statement
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to a cashrgenerating unit 1s taken into account when determming the gain or loss on
disposal of the unit, or of an operation within 1t
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(e} Intangible assets other than goodwill

Other intangible fixed assets represent the right to receive income under the operating agreement with the Environment Agency 1n
respect of the Kielder Water transfer scheme The value of this intangible asset has been assessed with referene to the net monies
raised in accordance with the *Kielder securitisation’ on 12 May 2004 The tenm of the operating agreement 15 1n perpetuity and
accordingly no amortisation 1s provided The value of this intangible 1s assessed for imparment on an annud basis, n accordance with
IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’

Expenditure on internally developed intangible assets, excluding development costs, 1s taken to the income statement n the year in
which 1t 15 mcurred Intangible assets acquured separately from a busmness are carried mtially at cost An wtangible asset acquired as
part of a business combination 1s recognised outside goodwill if the asset 1s separable or anises from contractual or other legal rights
and 1ts fair value can be measured rehably Development expenditure 1s recognised as an intangible asset only after its technical
feasibility and commercial viability can be demonstrated, the availabihty of adequate technical and financial resources and an
intention to complete the project have been confirmed and the correlaton between development costs and future revenues has been
established

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, including assets i the course of construction, comprise infrastructure assets (being mans and sewers,

mmpounding and pumped raw water storage reservorrs, dams, sludge pipehines and sea outfalls) and other assets (including properties,
overground plant and equipment)

Property, plant and equipment are included at cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment Cost comprises
the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset and includes costs directly
attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended Borrowing costs attributed to assets under construction are
recognised as an expense as tncurred

Freehold land 1s not depreciated Other assets are depreciated evenly over their esimated economic hives, whichare principally as
follows freehold buildings, 30-60 years, short leasehold land and buildings, 25 years or lease term 1if shorter, operational structures,
plant and machinery, 4-92 years, infrastructure assets 13-200 years (see below}, fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment, 4-10 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment :f events or changesin circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable, and are written down immedsately to their recoveable amount Useful lives and residual
values are reviewed annually and where adjustments are required these are made prospectively

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until commissioned

Infrastructure assets

In the regulated water services business, infrastructure assets comprise a network of systems being mains and sewers, reservoirs, dams
and sea outfalls

Infrastructure assets were measured at a date prior to transition to IFRS (23 May 2003} at thew fair value, which was adgted as
deemed hustoric cost on transition to IFRS  The assets and habthties were measured at fair value as a result of the acquisitionon 23
May 2003

Expenditure on infrastructure assets which enhances the asset base 15 treated as fixed asset addinms whilst maintenance expenditure
which does not enhance the asset base 1s charged as an operating cost

Infrastructure assets are depreciated evenly to therr estimated residual values over their estimated economic lives, which are
principally as follows

Dams and impounding reservoirs 150 years
Water mains 100 years
Sea outfalls 60 years
Sewers 200 years
Dedicated pipelines 4-20 years
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(g) Financial assets

Financial assets comprise loans to third parties, recoverable i more than one year and include cash held on long term deposit as a
guaranteed investment contract relating to the Kielder secuntisation These assets are recogmised at cost and are measured annually
based on the abihity of the borrower to repay Any impanment 15 taken to the mcome statement in the period m which it anises Loans
and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method The Group assesses at each balance sheet date
whether a financial asset or group of financial assets 1simpaired

(h) Foreign currencies and foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are initiaily recorded in the functional currency by applying the spot exchange rate ruling at the date
of the transaction Monetary assets and habilities denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the functional currency rate of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date The functional and presentational currency of Northumbrian Water Group ple 1s United
Kingdom sterling (£) Assets and habiiities of subsidiaries and jomtly controlled entities 1in foreign currencies are translated into
sterling at rates of exchange ruling at the end of the financial period and the results of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the average
rate of exchange for the peniod Differences on exchange arising from the retranslation of the opening net investment 1n subsidiary
companies and jontly controlled entities, and from the translation of the results of those companies at average rate, are taken to

equity All other foreign exchange differences are taken to the income statement 1n the period in which they arise

Unreahsed gains and losses arising from changes in foreign currency exchange rates are not cash flows However, the effect of
exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents held or due m a foreign currency 1s reported in the cash flow statement in order 1o
reconcile cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and the end of the period

This amount 15 presented separately from cash flows fromoperating, mnvesting and financing activities and includes the differences, 1f
any, had those cash flows been reported at end of penod exchange rates

(1) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost comprisesdirect matenials and, where applicable, direct labour
costs, as well as an element of overheads that have been mcurred in bringing the mventories to their present locations and condition

(}) Revenues

Provision of services

Revenue, which excludes value added tax, represents the fair value of the income receivable in the ordinary course of business for
services provided Revenue 1s recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be rehably measured

Revenue 15 not recognised until the services have been provided to the customer Revenue for services relates to the year, excluding
any amounts paid 1n advance Revenue for measured water and waste water charges includes amounts billed plusan estimation of the
amounts unbiiled at the year end The accrual 1s estumated using a defined methodology based upon daily average water consumption,
which 1s calculated based upon listorical bilhng information

Long term contracts revenue (included in results for discontinued operations) 1s recogmised to reflect the proportion of the work
carried out at the year end, by recording revenue as contract activity progresses Revenues derived from variations on contracts are
recognised only when they have keen accepted by the customer

Interest
Revenue 1s recognised as the interest accrues, takig into account the effective yield of the asset

Dwvidends
Revenue 15 recogmised when the shareholders’ right to recerve the revenue 15 established

(k) Grants and contributions

Grants are recogrused at their fair value where there 15 reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions
will be complied with Revenue grants are credited to the income statement 1n the penod to which tley relate Capital grants and
contributions relating to property, plant and equipment are treated as deferred income and amortised to the income statement over the
expected useful economic lives of the related assets

(1) Leases

Where assets are financed by leasing arrangements which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group,
the assets are treated as 1f they had been purchased at their fair value or, 1f lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments
Rentals or leasing payments are treated as consisting of a capital element and finance charges, the capual element reducing the
outstanding hability and the finance charges bemng charged to the income statement over the period of the leasing contract at a
constant rate on the reducing outstanding hability
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Rentals under operating leases (where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership) are expensed in the
income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term

(m) Pensions and other post-employment benefits

Defined benefit scheme

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit scheme 1s determmed using the projected umit credit method, which attnbutes
entitlement to benefits to the current period (to determine current service cost) and to the current and prior periods (to determine the
present value of defined benefit obhigation) and 1s based on actuarial advice Past service costs are recognised inthe income statement
on a straight line basis over the vesting period or immediately 1f the benefits have vested When a settlement (eliminating all
obligations for benefits already accrued) or a curtaiiment (reducing future obligations as a result of a matenial reduction in the scheme
membership or a reduction in fuwre entitlement}) occurs, the obhigation and related plan assets are remeasured using current actuarial
assumpuions and the resultant gain or loss recognised n the income statement during the period in which the settlement or curtalment
occurs

The interest element of the defined benefit cost represents the change 1 present value of scheme obligations resulting from the
passage of tune, and 1s determined by applying the discount rate to the opening present value of the benefit obligation, taking nto
account material changes m the obligatien during the year The expected return on plan assets 1s based on an assessment made at the
begnning of the year of longterm market returns on scheme assets, adjusted for the effect on the fair value of plan assetsof
contributions received and benefits paid during the year The difference between the expected return on plan assets and the interest
cost 1s recognised in the ncome statement within operating costs

Actuanal gains and losses on experience adjustmerts and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised n full in the period
which they occur in the SORIE

Defined contribution scheme
The Group alse operates a defined contribution scheme Obligations for contributions to the scheme are recognised asan expense in
the income statement tn the period in which they arise

(n) Share-based payments

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees 1s measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted
and 1s recogmised as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled
to the award Fair value 15 determined by an external valuer using the MonteCarlo simulation model In valuing equity-settled
transactions, no account 1s taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company
{market conditions)

No expense 15 recogmised for awards that do not ulimately vest, except for awards where vesting 1s conditional upon amarket
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition 15 satisfied, provided that all other
performance conditions are satisfied

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense 15 calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period
has expired, management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of nommarket conditions and the number of equity
mstruments that will ulimately vest or 1n the case of an mstrument subject toa market condition, be treated as vesting as described
above The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date 15 recogmised 1n the income statement, with a
corresponding entry 1n equuty

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified or a new award 1s designated as replacing a cancelled or settled award, the
cost based on the onginal award terms continues to be recognised over the onginal vesting period In addition, an expense (s
recogmsed over the remainder of the new vesting pertod for the incremental fair value of any modification, based on the difference
between the fair value of the ongmal award and the fair value of the modified award, beth as measured on the date of the
modification No reduction 1s recogmsed if this difference 1s negative

(0) Taxes

Current tax

Current tax assets and habilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from, or paid,
to the taxation authorities The tax rates and tax laws used tocompute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s provided using the habihity method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets
and habilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes
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Deferred tax habilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except

¢ where the deferred tax liabihty anses from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset orhability i a transaction that 1s not
a business combmation and, at the tume of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss, and

. 1 respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments n subsidiares, associates and interests in jontly
controlled entities, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and 1t 1s probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses,

to the extent that 1t 1s probable that taxable profit will be available aganst which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry

forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utihised except

. where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference anses from the initial recognition of an asset or
liabihity 1n a transaction that 1s not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss, and

. in respect of deducttble temporary differences associated with investments n subsidianies, associates and interests m jointly
controlled entities, deferred tax assets are recogmsed only to the extent that 1t 1s probable that the temporary differences will
reverse 1n the foreseeable future and taxable profit wilt be available against which the temporary differences can be utihsed

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 1s reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that 1t 1s no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered

Deferred tax assets and habilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 1s realised or the
hability 1s settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted, or substantively enacted, at the balance sheet date

Deferred tax 15 recogmsed mn the mcome statement unless 1t relates to 1tems accounted for in equity

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabihtses are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax habilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority

Value added tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax except

. where the value added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services 1s not recowrable from the taxation authority, in which
case the value added tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable,
and

. receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of value added tax included

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authonty 15 ncluded as part of recervables or
payables in the balance sheet

(p) Derivative financial mnstruments
The Group utihses interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements and forward exchange contracts as derivative financial instruments

A denivative instrument 15 considered to be used for hedging purposes whenit alters the risk profile of an underlying exposure of the
Group in hine with the Group’s risk management policies Interest rate swap agreementsare used to manage interest rate exposures
Derivative financial instruments are stated at their fair value

Under IAS 39, derivative financial instruments are always measured at fairvalue, with hedge accounting employed in respect of those
denvatives fulfilling the stringent requirements for hedge accounting as prescribedunder IAS 39 In summary, these criteria relate to

mitial designation and documentation of the hedge relationship, prospective testing of the relationship to demonstrate the expectation

that the hedge will be highly effective throughout 1ts life, and subsequent retrospective testing of thehedge to verify effectiveness

The fair value of forward exchange contracts 15 calculated byreference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar
maturity prefiles The fair value of interest rate swaps 1s determined by referenceto market values for similar instruments

Hedgmng transactions undertaken by the Company are classified as either fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes

in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability, or cash flow hedges where they hedgeexposure to variability in currency cash flows
that 13 either attributable to a particular nisk associated with a recogmised asset or hability or a forecasted transaction

61




In relation to fair value hedges, which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging
mstrument at fair value 15 recogmsed immediately in the income statement Any gain orloss on the hedged 1tem attributable to the
hedged risk 1s adjusted agamst the carrying amount of the hedged 1item and recogmised in the income statement Where the adjustment
15 to the carrying amount of a hedged interest-bearing financial mstrument, the adjustment 15 amortised 1o the net profit and loss such
that 1t 15 fully amortised by maturity

In relation to cash flow hedges to hedge firm currency commitments which meet theconditions for hedge accounting, the portion of
the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that 1s determined to be an effective hedge 1s recognised directly in equity and the
effective portion 1s recognised in the income statement.

When the hedged firm commitment results in the recogmtion of a non-financial asset or a non-financial hability then, at the time the
asset or liability 1s recognised, the associated gains or losses that had previously been recogrused in equity are included in the imitial
measurement of the acquisition cost or other carrying amount of the assetor hability For all other cash flow hedges, the gains or
losses that are recognised 1n equity are transferred to the income statement 1n the sameperiods in which the hedged firm commitment
affects the net profit and loss

For denivatives that do not quahfy for hedge accounting, any gams orlosses arising from changes m fair value are taken directly tothe
income statement

Hedge accounting 15 discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or 1ssold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualtfies for
special hedge accounting At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised m equity is kept in
equity until the forecasted transaction occurs If a hedged transactton 1s no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss

recognised m equity 1s transferred to the income statement

(q) Interest bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are mnitially stated at the amount of the net proceeds, being fairvalue of the consideration received net of
1ssue costs assoclated with the borrowing Finance costs (including 1ssue costs) are taken to the income statement over the term of the
debt at a constant rate on the balance sheet carrying amount The carrying anount 1s increased by the finance charges amortised and
reduced by payments made m respect of the accounting pernod Loans and borrowings acquired at acquisition are restated to fair
value The adjustment arising on acquisition 1s amortised to the income datement on the basis of the maturity profile of each
mstrument Realised gans and losses that occur from the early termination of loans and borrowings are taken to the income statement
n that period

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when ncurred
Net debt 1s the sum of all current and non-current habilities less cash and cash equivalents, financal investments and loans receivable

(r) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determunable payments that are not quoted 10 an active market,
do not quahify as trading assets and have not been designated as either fair value through profit and loss or available for sale Gains
and losses are recognised in income when the investments are derecogmised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process

{(s) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents disclosed in the balance sheet compnise cash atbank and in hand and short term deposits with a remaining
maturity of up to ten months or less, which are held for the purpose of meeting shortterm cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes Cash equivalents being readily converttble to a known amount of cash and subject to an nsignificant
risk of changes i value

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts

(t) Trade and other recervables

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectable amounts Invoices for
unmeasured water and waste water charges are due on fixed dates, other receivables generally have 30 day payment terms An
estimate for doubtful debts 1s made when callection of the full amount s no longer probable Bad debts are written off when
identified Trade and other receivables do not carry any interest

(u) Investments

Investments are imtially recorded at the fair value of the consideration given and including the acquisition charges assocrated with the
mvestment
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(v) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 1t 15 probable that
an outflow of resources will be required and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation

{w) Impairment of assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there 15 an indication that an asset may be impared If any such indicanion exists,
or when annual impairment testing for an asset 1s required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount An asset’s
recoverable amount 1s the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value 1n use and 15
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash mflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 1ts recoverable amount, the asset 1s considered impaired
and 1s wrnitten down to its recoverable amount In assessing value 1n use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks speific to
the asset Impaument losses on continuing operations are recogmised in the income statement 1n those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset

An assessment 15 made at each reperting date as to whether there 1s anyindication that previously recogmsed mpairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased If such indication exists, the recoverable amount 1s estimated A previously recognised
imparrment loss 1s reversed only 1f there has been a change 1n theestimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recogmsed [f that 1s the case the carrying amount of the asset 1s increased to 1ts recoverable amount That
increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amountthat would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years Such reversal 1s recognised inthe income statement unless the asset 1s carried at revalued
amount, in which case the reversal 1s reated as a revaluation mcrease  After such a reversal the deprecianon charge 15 adjusted n

future periods to altocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful
life

(x) De-recogmition of financial assets and habilities

A financial asset or hability 1s generally de-recognised when the contract that gives nise to 1t 1s settled, sold, cancelled or expires
Where an existing financial hiabihty 1s replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 1s treated as a derecognition of the original hability and
the recognition of a new hability, such that the differene n the respective carrying amounts together with any costs or fees mcurred
are recogmised 1n the income statement.

(y) Accounting Standards

During the year, the IASB and IFRIC have 1ssued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of
these financial statements

International Accounting Standards (IAS / IFRS) Effective date
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures 1 Januwary 2007
IFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009
IAS 1 Amendment to [AS |- Presentation of Financial Statements Capital disclosures 1 January 2007

International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (1IFRIC)

IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2 1 May 2006
IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Denvatives 1 June 2006
IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment | November 2006
IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions 1 March 2007
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements 1 January 2008

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a material impact on the Group’s
financial statements 1n the period of mstial application

Upon adoption of [FRS 7, the Group will have to disclose additional information about its financial instruments, ther significance and
the nature and extent of nisks that they give rnise to More specifically the Group will need to disclose the fair value of its financial
instruments and i1s nisk exposure 1n greater detail There will be no effect on reported income or 1et assets

(z) Key assumptions
The directors consider that the key assumptions applied at the balance sheet date, which may have a signtficant nsk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and habilities within the next financid year, are those assumptions used 1n

arriving at the pension asset/liability under IAS 19 These key assumptions and their possible impact are disclosed in note &,
‘Pensions and other post-retirement benefits’
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2 Segmental analysis

The primary segment reporting format 1s determined to be business segments The secondary segment reporting 15 determined to be
geographical, more than 98% of the Group's activities are within the UK and therefore revenue profit before interest, assets and
liabilities are attnibutable to one geographical segment

Northumbrian Water Limited

NWL 15 one of the ten regulated water and sewerage busimesses in England and Wales NWL operates 1n the north east of England,
where 1t trades as Northumbnan Water, and 1n the south east of England, where 1t trades as Essex & Suffalk Water NWL alsc has
non-regulated activities closely related to its principal regulated activity

Water and waste water contracts
NWG owns a number of special purpose companies for specific water and waste watr contracts in Scotland, Ireland and Gibraltar

Related services

AES provides environmental monitoring services, analysis and technical consultancy to major mdustrial groups, environmental
regulators and local authorities throughout the UK and Ireland On 31 March 2007, the business of AES merged with NWL and
continues to operate as a trading division of NWL

Agrer provides overseas aid funded project work in developing countries through a number of funding agencies

Transfer prices between business segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties

Segment revenue, segment expense and segment result include transfers between business segments Those transfers are eliminated on

consolidation

Revenue
Total revenue
Northumbrnan Water and from
Water  waste water Related Discontinued continuing
Limited contracts services Total  operattons operations
£fm £m £m fm £m £m
Year ended 31 March 2007
Segment revenue 586.5 370 253 648 8 - 648 8
Inter segment revenue - - {15 3) (153 - (15 3)
Revenue 1o external customers 586.5 370 10.0 6335 - 633.5
Year ended 31 March 2006
Segment revenue 5555 284 533 6372 (28 5) 608 7
Inter segment revenue - 20} (24 5) (26 5) 93 (17 2}
Revenue to external customers 5555 264 28 8 6107 (192) 5915

All revenue above represents the rendering of services
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Profit on ordinary activities before mterest

Total profit
Northumbnan Water and from
Water  waste water Related Discontinued continuing
Limited contracts services Total  operations operations
£m £m £fm £m £m £m
Year ended 31 March 2007
Segment profit before interest 242.6 119 03 254 8 - 254.8
Central unallocated costs and
provisions 3.4
Profit on ordinary activities before
mterest 2582
Net finance costs (111 2)
Share of profit from associates and
jomtly controlled entities 08
Profit on ordinary activities before
taxation 147 8
Taxation (36 6)
Profit for the year from continuing
operations 1112
Year ended 31 March 2006
Segment profit before interest 2346 18 16 4 2528 (15 8) 2370
Central unallocated costs and
Provisions (0 8)
Profit on grdinary activities before
interest 2362
Net finance costs (106 0)
Share of profit from associates and
jouwntly controiled entities 01
Profit on ordinary activities before
taxation 130 3
Taxation {39 3)
Profit for the year from continuing
operations 910

The profit disclosed 1n 2006 as discontinued operations 1s mncluded in the resuit of related services and comprises a trading profit
£1 2 mithon and a gain ondisposal of £14 6 million
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2. Segmental analysis continued

Assets and habilities
Northumbrian Water

Water and waste water

Limited contracts Related services Total
31.32007 3132006 3132007 3132006 31.32007 3132006 313.2007 3132006
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Segment assets 3,159.8 3,007 8 1375 1392 40 67 3,301.3 3,1537
Unallocated assets 396.0 2153
3,697.3 3,3690
Segment habilities 301.7 2722 20.7 252 58 31 328.2 300 5
Unallocated hiabilities 2,996.0 2,767 7
3,324 2 3,068 2
Unallocated net assets and habilities comprise taxation, mterest, pension and net debt
QOther segment information
Property, plant and
equipment additions 2250 2119 1.0 09 12 10 227.2 213 8
Goodwill, property, plant and
equipment additions on
acquisition - - - 68 4 - - - 68 4
Depreciation 86.7 840 54 33 0.7 11 92.8 884
Impairment of intangible - - - 0.1 - 6.1 -
3 Operating costs
Year to Year to
31.3.2007 3132006
£m £m
Materials and consumables 204 200
Manpower costs {see note 5) 92.7 973
Own work capitahsed (24 4) (22 5)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 928 880
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2.1 (18)
Impaiment of goodwill 01 -
Amortisation of capital grants (4.5) 37
Costs of research and development 2.1 23
Operating lease payments 12 12
Bad debt charge 133 122
Other operating costs 183.7 162 3
Operating costs 375.3 3553
4 Auditors’ remuneration
Year to Year to
31.3 2007 3132006
£m £m
Audit of the financial statements * 0.3 03
Other fees to auditors
- taxation services - 01
- regulatory services 0.1 -

* £84,000 of this relates to the Company (2006 £80,000)
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5. Employee information
The total employment costs of all employees (including directors) of the Group were

Year to Year to

31.32007 3132006

£m £m

Wages and salaries 796 8l e
Social security costs 68 68
Other pension costs 6.3 89
Total employment costs 92.7 973

Total employment costs were charged as follows

Capital schemes and infrastructure renewals 24.2 221
Manpower costs 63.5 152
92,7 973

Included 1n wages and salaries 15 a total expense of shared-based payments of £0 7 milhion (2006 £0 6 milhon) which arises from
transactions accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The average monthly number of employees of the Group during the year was

Year to Year to

31.3.2007 31 32006

Number Number

Northumbrian Water Limited 2,554 2.540
Water and waste water contracts 153 150
Related services 333 733
3,040 3,423

The average number of employees for related services includesnil employees (2006 378) in respect of discontinued operations
The information required by Schedule 6 of the Companes Act 15 contained in the directors’ remuneration report under directors’

emoluments, directors’ pensions and pension benefits, directors’ interests in shares and debentures, directors” interests in LTIP awards
and directors’ interests in shares under the Share Incentive Plan

6. Finance costs payable/(income receivable)

Year to Year to

31.3.2007 31 32006

£m £m

Finance costs payable on debentures, bank and other loans and overdrafts 128.4 122 4
Amortisation of discount, fees, loan 1ssue costs and other financing 1tems (7.1} (127
Settled hedge instruments 29 -
Finance costs payable on hire purchase contracts and finance leases 2.8 30
Total finance costs payable 127 0 1127
Finance income recetvable (15.8) 67
Net finance costs payable 111.2 106 0
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7. Taxation
(a) Tax on profit on ordinary activities

Year to Year to
3132007 3132006
£m £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax - continuing operations 21.0 163
- discontinued operations (see note 8) - 06
- mcome tax reported m equity on cash flow hedges 01 -
- adjustment 1n respect of prior periods (12 5) 07
UK corporation tax 86 162
Qverseas tax - 01
‘Total current tax 8.6 163
Deferred tax
Origimation and reversal of temporary differences in the year
Deferred tax - continuing operations 210 225
- discontinued operations (see note 8) - 01
- ncome tax reported in equity on cash flow hedges (0.1} -
- adjustment in respect of prior periods 71 11
Total deferred tax 280 237
Tax charge 1n the ncome statement 36.6 40 0
The tax charge in the income statement 1s disclosed as follows
Tax expense on continuing Operations 36.6 393
Tax expense on discontinued operations (see note 8) - 07
36.6 400
{b) Tax relating to items charged or credited to equity
Year to Year to
31.32007 3132006
£m £m
Current tax
Current tax recycled to mcome statementon cash flow hedges on -
Deferred tax
Actuanal gains and losses on pension schemes 75 158
Deferred tax recycled to income statementon cash flow hedges 0.1 -
Tax on share-based payment - 02
Tax charge n the statement of recognised mcome and expense 7.5 156

=]

68




{c) Reconcihiation of the total tax charge

Year to Year to
3132007 3132006
£m £im
Profit before taxation from continuing operations 147.8 1303
Profit before taxation from discontinued operations - 16 1
Accounting profit before tax 147 8 146 4
Accounting profit multiphed by standard rate of corporation tax (30%) (2006 30%) 443 439
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 0.7 08
Depreciation 1n respect of non-quahfying tems 0.7 09
Non-taxable income s (05)
Non-taxable profit on disposal of subsidiaries - 44
Retirement benefits - 28
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior periods (5.9) 04
Non-taxable amortisation of financing items (2.3) 39
Other (0.6) -
Total tax expense reported in the income statement 36.6 400

The effective tax rate for the current year was 24 8% (2006 27 3%) The reduction of 2 5% 1s explamed by adjustments 1n respect of
prior pertods arising from changes in capital allowances claims and a revision to retirement benefits, a reduction in the amortisation of
financing items, and the absence of any disposal of subsidiaries in the current year

(d) Unrecognised tax losses

The Group has tax losses of £2 1 million (2006 £10 § million) which have arisen n 1ts Gabraltar subsidiary for which a deferred tax
asset has not been recogmsed as they may not be used to offset taxable profits elsewhere in the Group and 1t 1s not expected that the
subsidiary will utilise significant amounts in the foreseeable future The losses are, however, available for offset against future taxable
profits without time himit

(e) Temporary differences associated with Group investments

At 31 March 2007, there was no recognised deferred tax lrabihity (2006 £nil) for taxes that would be payable on the unremutted
earnings of the Group's subsidiaries as the Group has determined that undistributed profits of 1ts subsidianes will not be distributed 1in
the foreseeable future

The temporary differences associated with investments 1n subsidiaries for which a deferred tax hiability has not been recognised
aggregate to £7 2 mllion (2006 £7 0 million)

(f) Deferred tax
The deferred tax included in the income statement 1s as follows

Year to Year to
31.3 2007 3132006
£m £m
Accelerated capital allowances 223 204
Provisions 13 09
Deferred income 53 4 3)
Retirement benefits 5.4 72
Losses carned forward (0.3) (035
Finance costs payable 55 -
Other (0.9) 02
280 237
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The deferred tax included in the balance sheet 15 as follows

Year to Year to
31 3.2007 3132006
£m £m
Deferred tax assets
Provisions 17 30
Deferred income 56 7 514
Retirement benefits - 29
Losses available for offset against future taxable income 56 48
Share-based payments 03 03
Finance costs payable - 55
Cash flow hedges 12 12
Other 03 04
Deferred tax asset 658 69 5
Deferred tax habilities
Accelerated capital allowances 53551 5324
Intangible asset 193 193
Fair value adjustment on previous business combinations 126 130
Retirement benefits 9.9 -
Other 01 04
Deferred tax liability 5970 565 1
Net deferred tax hability 5312 495 6

(g) Factors that may affect future tax charges

The Group expects to continue to mcur high levels of capital expenditure and be able to claun tax relief in excess of depreciation for
the remamder of NWL’s current regulatory pertod The annual excess was already expected to reduce because tax deductions for
deferred revenue expenditure are now claimed on a depreciation basts (as set out in HM Revenue and Customs’ Tax Bulletin 53 but
the timing of future capital allowances claims 1s subject to proposals announced by the UK Government on 21 March 2007 to revise
the rates of allowances with effect from | Aprnil 2008 A reduction in the main rate of corporation tax from 30% to 28% hs also been
proposed with effect from the same date

The proposed changes to capital allowances that are expected to affect the Group are a reduction 1n the rate of allowances for items of
general plant and machinery from 25% to 20% per annum, an increag n the rate of allowances for long life assets from 6% to 10%
per annum , the phased abohition of industral building allowances by 31 March 2011, and the intreduction of a new allowance rate of
10% per annum for ‘buildingrelated’ fixtures (the definition of which 1s to be the subject of consultation)

The 2007 Finance Bill includes proposals for the reduction in the rate of corporation tax from 30% to 28% as well as for the remeval
of potential balancing adjustments 1n respect of assets on which indusrial buildings allowances are being claimed These changes had
not been enacted or substantively enacted by the date of these financial statements In the directors’ view, had the above changes been
enacted, the Group’s deferred tax habihty at 31 March 2007 would have been increased by approximately £74 million
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8. Discontinued operations

In hine with the Group’s focus on core competencies of water and waste water management, the Group disposed ofFastflow Pipeline
Services Limited (FPS) on § July 2005, Entec UK Limited (Entec) on 5 October 2005 and ULG Northumbnan Lunited (ULG) on 10
April 2006 The results of the discontinued operations are disclosed within related services No tax awse on the disposals due to the
availabihty of the substantial shareholdings exemption The results of FPS, Entec and ULG for the period to their date of disposal are
presented below

Year to Year to
3132007 3132006
£m £m
Revenue - 285
[nter segment - {(93)
External revenue - 192
Operating costs - {180
Profit on ordinary activities before interest - 12
Profit on disposal of discontinued operations - 14 6
Profit before interest on discontinued operations - 158
Net finance costs - 03
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation - 161
Current tax - (0 6)
Deferred tax - {01
Profit for the year from discontinued operations - 154
The tax charge 15 analysed as follows
On profit on ordinary activities for the year - (07
The major classes of assets and liabiltties of FPS, Entec and ULG at their date of disposal were as follows
£m
Assets
Property, plant and equpment 473
Inventories 38
Recervables 91
Deferred taxation 05
Cash and cash equivalents 111
28 8
Liabihties
Payables 110
Provisions 13
Loans 04
127
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9. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordiary equity holders of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordmary shares in 1ssue during the year Treasury shares held are excluded from the weighted average number of
shares for basic EPS EPS for continuing operations 1s also disclosed

Weighted Weighted

average average
nember of Earnings number of  Earmings
Earnings shares pershare  Earnings shares  per share
3132007 3132007 3132007 3132006 3132006 3132006
£m million pence £m million pence

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
— continuing operations 110.9 517.7 21 42 90 5 5179 1748
Net profit attnbutable to equity holders of the parent
- discontinued operations - - 154 297
Basic EPS 1109 5177 21 42 105 9 5179 20 45

The weighted average number of shares for diluted EPS 1s calculated by including the treasury shares held

Weighted Weighted
average average
number of Earnmings number of  Earmings
Earnings shares pershare Eamings shares  per share
31.32007 313.2007 3132007 3132006 3132006 3132006
£m million pence £m million pence
Net profit attributable to equity helders of the parent
— continutng operations 1109 5186 21.38 90 5 5186 17 45
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
— discontinued operations - - 154 297
Diluted EPS 1109 5186 21.38 1059 5186 2042

Adjusted EPS 1s considered by the directors to give a better indication of the Group’s underlying perbrmmance due to the non-cash
nature of the adjusted items and 1s calculated as follows

Weighted Weighted

average average
number of Earnings number of Earnings
Earnings shares pershare Eamings shares  pershare
313.2007 3132007 3132007 3132006 3132006 3132006
£m million pence £m million pence
Basic EPS 110.9 5177 21.42 905 5179 17 48
Deferred tax 28.0 5.41 236 455
Amornisation of debt fair value (77 (149) (13 0) (2 51)
Derivatives 2.0) (0 39) - -
Adjusted EPS 129 2 517.7 24 95 Lol 1 5179 16 52
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10 Dividends paid and proposed

Year to Year to
31.32007 3132000
£m im
Declared and paid during the year
Equity dividends on ordinary shares
Final dividend for 2005/06 7 04p (2004/05 7 13p) 364 369
Interim dividend for 2006/07 3 75p (2005/06 3 52p) 19.4 182
Special dividend for 2006/07 ml (2005/06 2 82p) - 14 6
Dhividends paid 558 697
Proposed for approval by shareholders at the AGM
Final dividend for 2006/07- 7 52p (2005/06 7 D4p) 39.0 36 5
11. Intangible assets
Goodwill Other Total
f£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2005 02 642 64 4
Acquisition of subsidiary 36 - 36
At 1 April 2006 and 31 March 2007 3.8 64 2 68 0
Impairment
At 1 April 2005 and 1 April 2006 0n - o1n
Impairment on - n
At 1 April 2006 and 31 March 2007 {0.2) - (02)
Net book value at 31 March 2007 3.6 64 2 67.8
Net book value at 31 March 2006 37 642 679
Net book value at 1 Apnl 2005 01 642 643

As from 1 April 2004, the date of transition to 1IFRS, goodwillis no longer amortised but 1s now subject to an annual impairment

review

Goodwil] has been allocated to the water and waste water cash-generating unit and the other intangible asset has been allocated to the

Northumbrian Water Limited cash-generating unit, which are also the reportable segments

The other intangible asset represents the right in perpetuity to receive income under the operating agreement with the Environment

Agency i respect of the Kielder Water transfer scheme and, therefore, the directors consider the asset has an indefinite hife

Accordingly, future cash flows, which increase in hne with inflation, have been discounted at a rate of 5 08% n perpetwity This
represents a long term nominal gilt yield and an assumed credit spread This calculation satisfied the Group that the carrying value at
31 March 2007 had not been tmpared Furthermore, it 15 itnprobable that the discount rate would increase to such a level that the

carryng value would be impaired
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Short Operational Fixtures,

Freehold leasehold Infra-  structures, fittings, tools Assets 1n the

land and land and  structure plant and and  course of

buildings  buildings assets  machinery  equipment construction Total

£m £m £m fm £fm £m £m

Cost
At 1 April 2005 876 50 13016 1,693 9 1502 690 3,3673
Additions - - 03 08 12 2115 213 8
Schemes commussioned 07 - 780 1026 116 (192 9) -
Acquisition of subsidiary - - - 389 259 - 64 8
Discontinued operations (05) 44 - “4m {43) - (13 2)
Reclassifications {(12) - 157 160 230D (73 01
Dhsposals {02) {0 6) (121 {05) (0N - (13 5)
At 1 April 2006 864 - 1,443 5 1,847 7 161 4 803 3,6193
Additions - - 02 03 17 2250 22772
Schemes commissioned 62 - 100 1 94 6 4 4 (205 3) -
Reclassifications - - 06 (06) - - -
Disposals {02) - 99 - 02 - {10 3)
At 31 March 2007 92 4 - 1,5345 1,942 0 167.3 100.0 3,836.2
Depreciation
At 1 April 2005 272 29 3717 403 5 957 - 5670
Charge for the year 14 01 193 610 66 - 88 4
Reclassifications - - 09 (04) - - 035
Discontinued operations - 29) - (32) 2 8) - 89
Disposals (06) (0 1) (12 1) {62) (CE)] - (133
At 1 April 2006 280 - 458 460 7 992 - 633 7
Charge for the year 22 - 204 60 4 98 - 928
Disposals on - (CE)] - 02) - (10 2)
At 31 March 2007 30.1 - 563 521.1 108.8 - 716.3
Net book value at 31 March 2007 62.3 - 1,478.2 1,420.9 58 5 100 0 3,119.9
Net book value at 31 March 2006 584 - 1,397 7 1,387 0 622 803 29856
Net book value at | Apnil 2005 60 4 21 1,323 9 1,290 4 545 690 2,800 3

Operattonal structures, plant and machinery include an element of land and buildings dedicated to those assets The Group des not
capitalise finance costs

The net book value of property, plant and equipment held under hire purchase centracts and finance leases was as follows

313.2007 3132006

£m £m

infrastructure assets - 22
Qperational structures, plant and machinery 232 240
23.2 262

13 Investments

3132007 3132006

£m £m
Investments i jointly controlled entities 3.6 36
Other investments 02 03
38 39

(a) Investments 1n associates

The Group held a 50% interest n Ayr Environmental Services Limited (Ayres), the principal trading associate On 23 December
2003, the Group ncreased 1ts shareholding from 50% to 75% for a consideratton of £1 5 milion. Following the increase in
shareholding, Ayres is fully consolidated into the Group’s results The Group previously accounted for its interest in Ayres using the
equity method
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The financial information of the Group’s mvestment 1n Ayres up to the date of full consohidationconsisted of £4 3 milhon and £0 6

million n respect of revenue and loss after tax, respectively

Business combination

Following the increased shareholding in Ayres, on 23 December 2005, book and fair values of the net assets at date of acquisiion

were as follows

Fair value to

Book values  the Group
£m fm
Property, plant and equipment 64 8 64 8
Receivables 91 91
Cash and cash equivalents 39 39
Payables (32) (32)
Borrowings (70 7) 707
Deferred tax 53 4) 54
Net habilities (15 (13
Goodwill anising on acquisition 36
21
Discharged by
Cash consideration 13
Associate losses accounted under equity method—now written off 06
21

From the date of acquisition, 23 December 2005, Ayres has contributed a net loss to the Group of £0 4 million  If the combmation
had taken place on | April 2005, the profit of the Group would have been £105 8 million and revenue from continuing operations

would have been £600 0 million

No tangible assets were 1dentified on acquisition Accordingly, £3 6 million of goodwill was recognised, being the premium paid

over the fair value of net habilhities

{b) Investments 1n jointly controlled entittes

The Group holds 50% of the nommal value ofissued ordinary £1 shares in Vehicle Lease and Service Lamited (VLS), the Group’s
principal jointly controlled entity VLS was incorporated in England and Wales and undertakes the busmmess of hiring, leasing and

servicing of vehicles and plant

The Group also holds a 50% nterest 1n Agreco, a jontly controlled entity incorporated in Belgium
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The following table illustrates summarised financial information of the Group’sshare of the results of VLS and Agreco

VLS Agreco VLS Agreco

31.3.2007 3132007 3132006 3132006

£m £m £m £m

Revenue 58 1.3 60 09
Operating costs (4.9 (1.1 50 07
Profit on ordmary activities before interest 0.9 02 10 02
Finance costs payable (0.3) - (03) -
Finance income receivable 0.1 - - -
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 0.7 0.2 07 02
- current taxation (0.1) - (02) -
Prafit for the year 0.6 02 05 02

Share of the jointly controlled entities’ balance sheet

Non-current assets 5.6 - 52 -
Current assets 5.1 15 61 07
Share of gross assets 10.7 15 113 07
Current liabilities (3.5) (13 39 {0 5)
Non-current habilities (3.8) - “0) -
Share of gross Liabilities (73) (1.3 )] (0 5)
Net assets 3.4 02 34 02

(¢) The Group’s interests in prineipal subsidiaries at 31 Mareh 2006 and 31 March 2007 were as follows:

Name of undertaking

mcorporation or
registration and

Description of shares
held

Proportion of

nominal

value of

1ssued shares

held by

Group Business activity

Northumbrian Services Limited

England and Wales

Ordnary shares of £1

100 Holding of investments and

loans

Northumbnan Water Limited

England and Wales

Ordinary shares of £1

100 Water and sewerage services

Northumbrian Water Finance plc

England and Wales

Ordinary shares of £1

100 Holding of finance instruments

Caledoman Environmental Services

ple

Ordinary shares of £1

75 Waste water services

Caledonian Environmental
ELevenmouth Treatment Services
Limited

Ordimary shares of £1

75 Waste water services

Ayr Environmental Services Limited

Ordinary shares of £1

75 Waste water services

Ayr Environmental Services
Operations Limited

Ordinary shares of £1

100 Waste water services

AquaGib Limited

Ordinary shares of £1

67 Water and sewerage services

Northumbrian Water Projects
Limited

England and Wales

Ordmary shares of £1

100 Waste water services

Analytical & Environmental Services England and Wales

Limited *

Ordinary shares of £1

100 Analytical laboratory and

scientific services

SA Agrer NV

Ordinary shares of £1

100 _Aud funded project work

* On 31 March 2007, the business of AES merged with NWL and continues to erate as a trading division of NWL

The directors consider that to give full particulars of all subsidiary and associated undertakings would lead to a statement of excessive
length The above nformation relates (o those subsidiary and associated undertdings or groups of undertakings whose results or
financial position, in the opnton of the directors, principally affect the figures of the Group A full hst of the Company’s subsidiaries
1s attached to the Company’s latest annual return filed at Companies House
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14. Inventories

313.2007 3132006
£m £m

Stores 3.7 33

15. Trade and other receivables

31.3.2007 3132006

£m fm

Trade receivables 61.7 539
Amounts owed by jointly controlled entities 0.7 09
Prepayments and accrued income 45.6 407
Fiancial assets 21 25
Other receivables 14.4 13 6
124.5 1116

16. Cash and cash equivalents

3132007 3132006

£m fm

Cash at bank and in hand 533 48 4
Short term deposits 263 6 128 2
3169 176 6

Cash at bank earns mterest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates Short term deposits are made for varying periodsof up
to ten months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group

For the purposes of the consohidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at 31 March

313.2007 3t 32006

£m fm

Cash at bank and in hand 533 48 4
Short term deposits 263 6 1282
Bank overdrafis (1.1) 227
315.8 1539

17. Trade and other payables

3132007 3132006

£m £m

Trade payables 8.7 110
Other payables 17.2 16 1
Interest payable 43.5 494
Accruals and deferred income 962 798
165 6 156 3
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18. Interest bearing loans and borrowings

31.3.2007 3132006
£m £m
Current
Bank overdrafts 11 27
Current instalments due on borrowings (principal £2 5 million, 2006 £201 § milion) 286 209 5
Current obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (see note 19) 48 435
345 236 7
Non-current
Non-current obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (principal £% 4 mithon, 2006
£56 7 million) (see note 19) 565 569
Non-current nstalments on borrowings {principal £2,281 6 million, 2006 £1,866 6 million) 2,325 6 1,916 0
2,382.1 1,972 9
Borrowings compnse the following
Loans (principal £569 9 million, 2006 £374 9 milhon) 579.0 3863
Eurobonds — due 28 June 2006 bearing interest rate of 8 625% (principal £nil, 2006 £171 2 miliion) - 1723
Eurobonds — due 11 October 2017 bearing interest rate of 6 0% (principal £300 0 mithion, 2006 £300 0
million) 3121 3133
Eurobonds — due 6 February 2023 bearing interest rate of 6 875% (principal £350 0 million, 2006
£350 0 million) 3955 398 5
Eurobonds — due 29 Apnil 2033 bearing interest rate of 5 625% (principal £350 0 million, 2006 £3500
million} 3456 3455
Eurobonds — due 23 January 2034 bearing interest rate of 5 87526% (primcipal £248 0 million, 2006
£248 0 imillton) 240 1 2397
Eurobonds — due 31 March 2037 bearing interest rate of 6 627% (principal £61 6 million, 2006 £61 6
million) 586 586
Index linked Eurobonds — due 15 July 2036 bearing interest rate of 2 033% (principal £157 6 mullien,
2006 £152 6 million) 156 5 1514
Index linked Eurcbonds — due 30 January 2041 bearing nterest rate of 16274% (principal £61 6
million, 2006 £60 | million) 618 599
Index linked Eurobonds — due 16 July 2049 bearing interest rate of | 7118% (principal £102 7 million,
2006 £mil) 102.5 -
Index linked Eurcbonds — due 16 July 2053 bearning interest rate of t 7484% (principal £102 7 million,
2006 £ml) 102 5 -
2,354.2 2,1255
Less current instalments due cn bank loans (principal £22 5 million, 2006 £201 8 mithon) 28.6 209 5
2,325.6 1,916 0

The difference between the principal value of £2,281 6 million (2006 £1,866 6 million) and the carrying value of £2,325 6 million (2006 £1 916 0

million) are unameortised tssue costs of £16 1 nullion (2006 £16 7 nullion) and a credit of £60 1 miilion (2006 £66 1 million) 1n excess of the

original loan proceeds to reftect the fair value of loans owed by subsidiares acquired in 2003

['he Eurobonds — due 23 January 2034 are secured on the income recervable under the Kielder Water iransfer scheme for the period to 23 January

2034

The value of the capital and interest elements of the index linked Curobonds are hinked 1o movements in the UK Retail Price Index
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19. Obhigations under hire purchase contracts and finance leases

31.3.2007 3132006

£m £m
Amounts due
Not later than one year 48 45
After one year but not more than five years 21.3 177
Later than five years 535 581
796 803
Less finance charges allocated to future pertods (18 3) {189
Present value of minimum lease payments 61.3 61 4
Disclosed as due
Not later than one year 48 45
After more than one year 56 5 569
613 614

Lease commitments
The Group has entered mto non-cancellable operating leases in respect of Jand and buildings, plant, machmery and motor vehicles
The future minimum rentals payable undernon-cancellable operating leases are as follows

31.3.2007 3132006

£m £fm
Not later than one year 06 10
After one year but not more than five years 28 26
After five years 25.9 259
29.3 295
2{. Provisions
£m
At 1 Apnl 2006
Current 03
Non-current 31
34
Utilised (03)
At 31 March 2007 3.1
Analysed as
Current 02
Non-current 29
3.1

The provision represents outstanding discretionary pension liabihittes The discretionary pension habilities have been calculated by an
mdependent actuary and are expected to be paid over the remaining lives, which 1s approximately ten years
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21 Financial instruments

(a) Group strategy

The level of capital expenditure which the Group 1s obliged to incur 15 such that it cannot be wholly financed by internally gerrated
sources As aresult, the Group must rely upon raising additional finance on a regular basis, to be principally used to fund the long
term assets required n 1ts regulated business The Group’s strategy 1s to finance such mvestment by raising medim to long term debt,
to provide a balance sheet match with long term assets and to fix a major proportion of interest rates

(b) Treasury operations

The main purpose of the Group’s treasury function 1s to assess the Group’s ongoing capital requirement andto raise funding on a
timely basis, taking advantage of any favourable market opportunities It also invests any surplus funds the Group may have, based
upon 1ts forecast requirements and m accordance with the Group’s treasury pohicy On occasions, derratives are used as part of this
process but the Group’s pohicies prohibit their use for speculation

{c) Risks anising from the Group’s financial instruments

The mamn risks anising from the Group’s financial mstruments are hquidity nisk, interest rate sk and foreign currency nisk The Board
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below All treasury activities are conducted 1n
accordance with these policies

(d) Liquadity risk

As regards day to day hquidity, the Group’s policy 1s to have available standby committed bank borrowing facilities with a value of no
less than £50 0 mullion and with a bank agreement availability period of no less than three months At 31 March 200, the Group had
£75 0 million available in standby committed bank facihities (2006 £275 0 milhon)

(e) Interest rate risk

The Group finances 1ts operations through a mixture of retained profits and bank borrowings Tt borrows at both fixed and floating
rates of interest and, accordingly, uses mnterest rate swaps to generate the desired interest profile and to manage the Group’s exposure
to interest rate fluctuations The Group’s policy 1s to keep a mimimum 60% of its borrowings at fixed rates of interest At 31 March
2007, 65% (2006 80%) of the Group’s borrowings were at fixed rates of interest Index hinked borrowings are treated as vanable rate
debt

(f) Foreign currency risk
The Group’s policy 1s that any foreign currency exposure in excess of £100,000 sterling equivalent of a tranactional nature, or £3 0
milhon sterling equivalent of a translation nature, should be covered immediately on 1dentification

(g) Market price risk

The Group’s exposure to market price risk principally comprises mterest rate exposures The Group’s pohq 1s to accept a degree of
interest rate risk On the basis of the Group’s analysis, 1t 1s estimated that a 1% rise 1n interest rates would not have a matenal effect
on the Group’s pre-tax profits

(h) Credit nsk

There are no sigmificant concentrations of credit risk within the Group The maxunum credit risk exposure relating to financial assets
1s represented by carrying value as at the balance sheet date
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(1) Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and habilities
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and habilinies of the Group as at 31 March 1s as follows

Year ended 31 March 2007 Within 1 More than 5

vear 1-2 years 2-3years 3-4dyears  4-5years years Total

£m £fm fm fm £m £m £m

Fixed rate
Loans receivable 02 - - - - 10 12
Eurobonds 40 (4 0) “@n 44 (51 (1,3303) (1,3519)
Subordinated loans - - - - - 63) 6 3)
Bank loans (21 8) (20 3) (194) (178 {16 1) (119 9) (215 3)
Obhigations under finance leases and hire
purchase contracts (22) (18) (12) (D) 03 [(B))] 63)
Fixed rate at 31 March 2007 (278) (26.1) (24.7) (22.9) (21.5)  (1.4556) (1,578.6)
Variable rate
Cash and cash equivalents 3169 - - - - - 3169
Financial imvestments 19 17 14 12 0% 118 189
Eurobonds - - - - - (423 3) (423 3)
Bank loans (28) (779 25 (127 5) (101 2) (45 5) (357 4)
Overdrafts (1n - - - - - (an
Obhigations under finance leases and hire
purchase contracts (26) 34 40 46 53 (351 (55 0)
Variable rate at 31 March 2007 312.3 (79.6) 51 {130.9) (105.6) (492 1) (501.0)
Net borrowings at 31 March 2007 (2,079 6)
Year ended 31 March 2006 Within 1 More than 3

year |-2years 2-3years 3-dyears 4-5years years Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Fixed rate
Loans receivable 04 02 - - - 10 16
Eurobonds {176 3) (4 0) 39 @0 410 (1,3356) (1,5279)
Subordinated loans - - - - - (6 1) wn
Bank loans (1535) 211 (20 6) (19 3) (17 7) (135 8) {230 0)
Obhgations under finance leases and hire
purchase contracts 22) (an (3 en (0 3) (02) (64
Fixed rate at 31 March 2006 (193 6) (26 6) (25 8) (24 0) 221) (14767 (1,768 8)
Vanable rate
Cash and cash equivalents 176 6 - - - - - 176 6
Financial investments 21 19 17 14 12 127 210
Eurobonds - - - - - 211 3) 2113)
Bank loans (17 5) 28) 28 29 (25) (1217 {150 2)
Overdrafts 227 - - - - - 227
Obligations under finance leases and hire
purchase contracts (23) (23 GD (CH)) 43 (3% 1) (55 0)
Variable rate at 31 March 2006 1362 34 42) (52) (56) (359 4) (241 6)
Net borrowings at 31 March 2006 (2,010 4)

The vaniable rate net borrowings compnise sterhng denominated bank borrowings and deposits that bear interest at rates based upon

up to 12 months LIBOR

{)) Currency exposures

At 31 March 2007, after taking into account the effects of forward foreign exchange contracts, the Group had no currency exposures

(2006 £mil)
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(k) Borrowing facihities
The Group has various undrawn committed borrowing facilities The facilities available at 31 March, n respect of which all
conditions precedent have been met, are as follows

31.32007 3132006

£m £m

Expiring 1n one year or less - 2000
Expiring in more than two years but not more than five years 75.0 750
75.0 2750

(1) Fair values of financial assets and financial habilities
A comparison by category of book values and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and habilities as at 31 March 1s set out below

Book value Fair value
3132007 3132006 31.32007 3132006
£m £m £m £m

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 316.9 176 6 3169 176 6
Financial investments 18.9 210 189 210
Sterling loans recervable 12 16 1.2 16
Interest rate swaps - - - 10
Financial habihities
Overdraft ain 22 7) (1.1) 227
Bank loans (principal of £563 6 million, 2006 £368 8 million) (572 7) (380 2) (566.3) (377 2)
Subordinated loan stock {6 3) 6 1) (6.3) 61)
Eurcbonds (princtpal of £1,734 2 mullion, 2006 £1,693 5 million) (1,775.2)  (1,7392) (1,837.8) (1,861 ()
Oblhigations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts
(principal of £61 2 million, 2006 £61 2 million) (61 3) 61 4) 613 {61 4

(2,079.6)  (2.0104) (2,135.8) (2.1282)

The fair values of the nterest rate swaps, forward foreign currency contracts and sterling denominated long term fixed rate debt with a
book value of £1,775 2 million {2006 £1,739 2 million), have been determimed by reference to prices avatlable from the marketson
which the mstruments involved are traded All the other fair values shown above have been calculated by discounting cash flows at
prevailing interest rates

The difference between the principal value of £2359 0 million (2006 £2,123 5 million) and the carrying value of £2409 2 milhon
(2006 £2,180 8 million) are unamortised 1ssue costs of £16 1 million (2006 £16 7 million) and a credit of £66 3 million (2006 £74 0
mulion) in excess of the original loan proceeds to reflect the fair value of loansowed by subsidiaries acquired in 2003

(m) Hedges

Cash flow hedges — currency forward contracts

At 31 March 2007, the Group held the following forward exchange contracts, designated as hedges of expected future purchases for
which the Group has firm commtments The forward currency contracts are being used to hedge the foreign currency nsk of the firm
commitments The terms of these contracts are as follows

Exchange rate

Currency bought Maturity €
Eur 6743192 3042007 1 4693
Eur 192,376 30 4 2007 14693
Eur 535,000 10 52007 14739
Eur 473,100 29 62007 15088
Eur 473,100 2892007 15022
Eur 473,100 30 112007 14978
Eur 473,100 3132008 14891

These hedges were designated as mghly effective At 31 March 2007, no change occurred in the fair value and, therefore, no gam ar
loss has been included in equity
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At 31 March 2006, the Group had two forward exchange contracts, designated as hedges of expected future purchases for whichthe
Group has firm commitments The forward currency contractswere being used to hedge the foreign currency nsk of the firm
commitments The terms of these contracts were as follows

Exchange rate

Currency bought Maturity €
Eur 61,586 98 284 2006 1 4338
Eur 505,980 06 216 2006 1 4338

These hedges were designated as highly effective At 31 March 2006, no change occurred in the fair vatue and, therefore, no gamn or
loss was mcluded in equity

Cash flow hedges — mterest rate swap
At 31 March 2007, the Group held one interest rate swap, designated as a hedge of future interest cash flows, for which the Group has

firm commitments The swap 15 used to convertcash deposit interest receipts to a fixed rate basis The terms of this swap are as
follows

Termination Fixed rate
Noticnal amount Start date date %
GBP 50 milhion 16 32007 16 3 2009 5 665

This hedge was designated as highly effective

During the year, the Group entered into a hedging instrumentin order to protect the Group agamnst movement n real nterest rates
prior to the launch of the two £100 miilion index lmked bonds issued 1 June 2006 The bonds were priced on 24 May 2006 and the
hedging instrument was iquidated on the same day resuling in a gain of £0 5 mtlhon This gamn has been transferred to equity

At 31 March 2006, the Group held one forward starting interest rate swap, designated as a hedge of future interest cash flows, for
which the Group had firm commitments The swapwas used to convert loan interest payments Iinked to LIBOR to a fixed rate basis
The terms of this forward starting swap were as follows

Termination Fixed rate
Notional amount Start date date %
GBP 125 milhion 28 6 2006 28 62011 4626

This hedge was designated as highly effective and an unrealised gain of £1 0 million relating to the interest rate swap 15 included in
equity On 26 June 2006, the interest rate swap was cancelled As a result, the Group discontinued hedge accounting prospectively for
the mterest rate swap and the cumulative gain of £2 9 million was transferred out of equity into the income statement for the year
ended 31 March 2007 The increase in fair value to the date of disposal of £1 9 milhion gain was included inequity

22 Authonsed and i1ssued share capital

3132007 3132006

£m f£m
Authornised
700 million ordinary shares of 10 pence each 70.0 700
Allotted, called up and fully paid
518 6 million ordinary shares of 10 pence each 519 519

The Northumbrian Water Group plc Employee Trust, through Northumbrian Water Share Scheme Trustees Limited, currently holds
716,917 (2006 976,668) ordinary 10 pence shares in the Company for use under the Company's Long Term IncentivePlan (LTIP)
All of these shares have been conditionatly awarded under the LTIP Details of the mam features of the LTIP and the conditions for
vesting can be found 1n the directors’ remuneration report on pages41 to 45 As at 31 March 2007, the share price of the ordinary 10
pence shares in the Company was 310 00 pence (2006 238 75 pence)
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23. Reconcihation of movements in equity

Equity Share Cash flow
share premium hedge Treasury Currency Retamed Total Mmonty
capital  reserve reserve shares translation  earmings equity 1nterests Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 April 2005 519 4463 43 (RS - (272 4) 2292 11 2303
Shares purchased - - - 08 - - (0 8) - 0 38)
Refund of share 1ssue
costs - 02 - - - - 02 - 02
Total recognised income
and expense for the year - - 2% - - 143 0 140 2 05 140 7
Share-based payment - - - - - 02 02 - 02
Equity dividends paid - - - - - {697 697 01N (69 8)
At 1 April 2006 519 446 5 15 a7n - (198 9) 2993 15 3008
Shares purchased - - - 02) - - (0 2) - 02
Total recognised income
and expense for the year - - (0 5) - 02 128 4 1277 03 128 0
Share-based payment - - - - - 04 04 - 04
Exercise of LTIP awards - - - 06 - (0 6) - - -
Equity dividends paid - - - - - (55 8) (55 8) 0N (559
At 31 March 2007 519 446 5 1.0 (1.3) (0.2) (126 5) 3714 1.7 373.1

Nature and purpose of other reserves

Cash flow hedge reserve

This reserve 1s used to reflect the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that 1s determined to be an

effective hedge
Treasury shares

The Northumbriar Water Group plc Employee Trust, through Northumbrian Water Share Scheme Trustees Limited, acquires shares
to be used mn the future to satisfy the vesting and exercise of awards under the Company’s LTIP

24 Additional cash flow information

Analysis of net debt as at 31 March 2007

Other

As at non-cash As at

142006 Cash flow movements 31 3 2007

£m £m fm £m

Cash and cash equivalents 1539 161 9 315.8

Loans (principal of £2,284 0 million, 2006

£2,045 8 mullion) (2,102 9) (225 6) 56) (23341
Finance leases {principal of £61 2 million, 2006

£61 2 milhon) (61 4) 48 A7 (613)

(2,010 4) (58 9) (103) (2,079 6)

The difference between the principal value of £2,345 2 mallion (2006 £2,107 ¢ milhon) and the carrying value of £2,395 4 million
(2006 £2,164 3 million) are unamortised 15sue costs of £16 1 million (2006 £16 7 million) and a credit of £66 3 million (2006 £74 0
miliion) in excess of the origimal loan proceeds to reflect the fair value of loans owed by subsidiaries acquired i 003

Non-cash movements on loans relate to the principal uphft on index hinked borrowings and amortisation of loan 1ssue costs offset by
the amortisation of debt fair value for the year Non-cash movements on finance leases relate to the inception of new finance leases on
the acquisition of plant and machinery during the year
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Analysss of net debt as ar 31 March 2006

Other

As at In respect of Inrespectof  non-cash As at

142005 Cash flow acquisitions disposals movements 31 3 2006

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 622 98 9 39 (11 1) - 1539

Loans (prncipal of £2,045 8§ mullion, 2005

£1,810 1 million) (1,8812) (162 1) (707 14 97 (2,102 9)
Finance leases (principal of £61 2 million, 2005

£61 8 million) (62 0) 47 - - 4D (61 4)

(1,881 0) {58 5) (66 8) (97) 56 (2,010 4)

The difference between the principal value of £2,107 0 mullion (2005 £1,871 9 million) and the carrying value of £2,164 3 million
(2005 £1,943 2 million) are unamortised 1ssue costs of £16 7 milhien (2005 £15 7 milhion) and a credit of £74 0 million (2005 £87 0
million) in excess of the original loan proceeds to reflect the fair value of loans owed by subsidiaries acquired in 2003

25. Fmancal commitments
Capital expenditure

313.2007 3132006
£fm £m
Expenditure contracted for 109.0 96 8

In addition to these commitments, the Group has longer term expenditure plans, which include investment to meet shorifalls in
performance and condition, and to provide for new demand and growth within the water and sewerage business

26. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme providing benefits based on final pensionable remuneration to 2,30 active
members at 31 March 2007 (2006 2,351) The Northumbrian Water Pension Scheme (NWPS), comprnises four unitised sub-funds -
WPS, Northumbnan Water (North), Northumbnan Water (South) and MIS

The assets of the NWPS are held separately from those of the Group n independently admmnistered funds

The most recent actuarial valuation of the NWPS was at 31 Decenber 2004 At that date the market value of assets amounted to £520
million The valuation also took account of debt on the employer payments in respect ofthe withdrawal of two participating
employers and added £10 million to the asset value The 2004 valuation disclosed that the combined value of the assets represented

97 6% of the value of the accrued habilities

The following table sets out the contribution rates recommended n the NWPS actuary’s draft valuation summary

Sub-fund
WPS North South MIS
% % % %
Members contnbutions 6 5 S 5/6
Lmployers’ contributions 291 231 26 73

The recommended employer contribution rate was assessed using the projecied unit method and the following actuanal assumptions

Investment return %
Pre-retirement 62
Post-retirement 33
Pay increases 375
Pension increases 30
Price inflation 30
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The Group responded to the recommendattons with an alternative proposal to make capital injections of £36 1 milhon by Apnl 2006
and £23 3 nullion by Apnl 2007 The capital injections cover

e employers’ contributions, and the strain on the fund ansing from ilthealth retirements, for the five years commencing 1January

2006, and
+» employee contributions for members electing to participate 1n a salary sacrifice arrangement effective for the period from 1 April

2006 to 31 December 2010

For the period 1 January 2006 to 31 March 2006, all members contmmued to pay cortributions to the NWPS  Members electing not to
jom the salary sacrifice arrangement continue to pay contributions to the NWPS from 1 April 2006 In addition, the employers have
agreed to pay any savings in employer national insurance contributions ansng from this arrangement into the NWPS and this amounts
to £0 3 mulhon per annum

The employers’ proposals were accepted by the NWPS Trustee

The Group also contributes to a defined contribution scheme, the Northumbrian Water Group Personal Pension Plan(NWGPPP)
Members and employers contribute 3% and 6% of salary respectively The NWGPPP 15 provided by an insurance company and
members have their own mdividual policy There were 48 contributing members at 31 March 2007 (2006 258) The Group made

contributions amounting to £0 3 milhon (2006 £0 3 nullion) to the defined contribution pension scheme

The additional disclosures regarding the Group’s defined benefit scheme as required under JAS 19 ‘Employee benefits’, and the
relevant impact on the Group’s financial statements are set out below

A qualfied actuary, using revised assumptions that are consistent with the requirements of IA$ 19, has updated the actuanal valuation
described above as at 31 March 2007 Investments have been valued, for this purpose, at fair value

IAS 19 actuarial assumptions

31.3.2007 31320006

Pay increases * 4.1% 39%
Pension increases 3.1% 29%
Price inflation 3.1% 29%
Discount rate 5.3% 4 9%
Mortality assumptions PMA/PFAY92 PMA/PFA92

-Life expectancy for an active member— female (years) 276 275

-Life expectancy for an active member— male (vears) 24.6 245

* mcluding promotional salary scale

The fair value of the assets in the NWPS, the present value of the habilities 1n the scheme and the long term expected rate of return at
31 March were

Long term Long term
expected rate expected rate |
of return of return
31.3.2007  31.3.2007 3132006 3132006
% £m % £m
Equities 75 498.5 72 4516
Corporate bonds 53 50.3 49 482
Government bonds 4.5 65.9 42 60 5
Property 6.0 867 57 651
Cash 53 9.4 45 34 4
Total fair value of assets 710.8 659 8
Present value of habihities (668 1) (663 5)
Surplus/{deficit) 427 37
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The amounts recognised 1n the income statement and n the staterent of recognised income and expense for the year are analysed as
follows

31.3.2007 3132006

£m fm
Recognised m the income statement
Current service cost 15.6 120
Past service cost 04 -
Interest cost 324 323
Expected return on plan assets (42.9) (36 5)
Losses on curtatlments and settlements - 03
Recognised i operating costs in arriving at profit on ordinary actwities before tnterest 55 81

The 1ncrease 1n the current service cost in 2007 reflects the salary sacrifice arrangement whereby the majortty of employees opted
for a reductton mn salary in return for the employer meeting their pension contrbution

Recognised in the statement of recogmised income and expense
Net actuarial gains recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense 25.0 527
Cumulative recognitions since adopting the standard 135.4 1104

History of experience gamns and losses

31.3.2007 3132006 3132005 3132004

£m £fm £m £m
Fair value of assets 7108 6359 8 5238 472 1
Present value of defined benefit obligation (668 1) {663 5) (600 2) {5657
Surplus/(deficit) 427 37 (76 4) (93 6)
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets 06 871 256 285
Experience adjustments anising on plan habilities 24.4 {34 4) {4 4) 20

Changes m the present value of the defined benefit pension obligations areanalysed as follows

313.2007 3132006

£m £m
At'1 Apnl 663.5 600 2
Current service cost 15.6 120
Past service cost 04 -
Interest cost 324 323
Contributions by plan participants 03 33
Actuarial (gains)/losses on obligations (24.4) 34 4
Income which increases habihties - 07
Benefits paid (197) (183)
Losses on curtailments and settlements - 03
At 31 March 668 1 663 5
Present vatue of funded obligations 668.1 6619
Present value of unfunded obligations - 16
Present value of defined benefit obligations 668 1 663 5
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Changes 1n the fair value of plan assets are analysed as follows

3132007 3132006

£m £m
At 1 Apnl 659.8 5238
Expected return on plan assets 429 365
Actuarial gains on plan assets 0.6 871
Contributions by employer 269 281
Contributions by plan participants 0.3 33
Income which increases habilities - 07
Benefits paid (19.7) (18 3)
At 31 March 710.8 659 8

The Group through its subsidhary, AquaGib, also operates a non-contributory defined benefit scheme The deficit at 31 March 2007,
under local GAAP, was £0 7 million (2006 £1 0 million) The Group made contrbutions amounting to £0 5 mllion (2006 £0 5
million) to the defined benefit pension scheme

Sensitivity to key assumptions
IAS 1 requires disclosure of the sensitivity of the results to the methods and assumptions used

The costs of a pension arrangement require estimates regarding future experience The financial assumptions used for IAS 19
reportig are the responsibility of the directors of the Company These assumptions reflect market conditions at the balance sheet date
Changes 1 market condrtions which result n changes in the net discount rate (essentially the difference between the discount rate and
the assumed rates of increases of salaries, deferred pension revaluation or pensions in payment), can have a significant effect on the
value of the habilities reported

A reduction in the net discount rate will increase the assessed value of hiabilities, as a higher value 1s placed on benefits paid n the
future A nise in the net discount rate will have an oppostte effect of sumilar magmtude Tle overall effect of a change 1n the net
discount rate of 0 1% would change the habilities by around £25 mullion

There 15 also uncertainty around life expectancy for the UK population The value of current and future pension benefits will depend
on how long they are assumed to be in payment

The disclosures have been prepared using the same mortality assumptions as those used at the most recent formal valuation- namely
the standard PA92 tables, including an allowance for future improvements in mortalitybased on the year of birth of the membership
These assumptions imply an assumed life expectancy for a member aged 60 at 31 March 207 of 24 6 years (2006 24 5 years) for
males and 27 6 years (2006 27 5 years} for females

The effect of mcreasing the assumed life expectancies by one year would be to mcrease the value of habihities by around 2 5%

27. Share incentive plans

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

Under the LTIP, executive directors and senior managers may receive, at the discretion of the Remuneation Committee, annual
conditional awards of shares in the Company Further details of the L-TIP can be found tn the directors’ remuneration report on pages
41 and 42

The following table illustrates the movements inconditionat share awards during the vear

31.3.2007 3132006

Number Number
Qutstanding at 1 Apnl 1,216,320 915,784
Granted during the year 360,022 374,615
Forfeited/lapsed during the year (131,876) (44,451)
Exercised (329,751) (29,628)
Qutstanding at 31 March 1,114,715 1,216,320
Exercisable at 31 March 11,418 -

The weighted average exercise price throughout the year was £n11 (2006 £nil} The fair value of conditional share awards granted
during the year was £0 1 milhon (2006 £0 1 mllion)
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The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the conditional share awards 15296 92 pence (2006 250 25 pence)

For the conditional awards outstanding as at 31 March 2007, the weighted average remaining contractual hfe 15 1 7 years (2006 17
years)

The fair value of conditional share awards granted was estinated using the Monte-Carlo model The sigmificant inputs to the model
were as follows

31.3.2007 3132006

Dividend yield 4.0% 4 5%
Expected share price volatihty 22% 23%
Expected comparators’ share price volatihity n/a 16%-21%
Share price at award 302.75p 252 00p
Expected FTSE 250 imdex volatility 12% 11%
Risk free interest rate 5.01% 433%
Expected life of option (years) 3 3

The expected life of these options 1s based on historical data and 15 not necessanly mdicative of exercise patterns that may occur  The
expected volatlity reflects the assumption that the historical volatihity 15 indicative of future trends, whichmay also not necessarily be
the actual outcome

Expected comparators’ share price volatility 1s not a valid input for theawards granted in 2006/07 due to this measure bemg removed
Share Incentive Plan (SIP)

The SIP scheme provides one free matching share for every three shares purchased by an employee Shares for the SIP are purchased
at market price by the Trustee, and dividends are paid 1n cash directly to participants

The following table illustrates the movements n conditional share awards durig the year

3132007 3132006

Number Number
QOutstandmng at | April 136,168 212,119
Granted during the year 118,625 154,478
Forfeited during the year (3,358) (5,425)
Exercised (136,216)  (225,004)
Qutstanding at 31 March 115,219 136,168

28 Special purpose entities

As noted under accounting policy 1(b), under SIC 12, two companies are consolidated as special purpose entities The principal
special purpose entity 1s Bakethin Holdings Limited, the shares in which areowned by Bakethin Charitable Trust The other special
purpose enfity 1s Bakethin Finance ple, which 1s a wholly owned subsidiary of Bakethin Holdings Limited

Bakethm Finance plc was established for the purpose of issuing guaranteed secured Eurobonds On 12 May 2004, Bakethin Finance
plc 1ssued £248 million of guaranieed secured bonds maturing January 2034 Bakethin Finance ple used the proceeds of the bond

1ssue to make a loan to Reiver Finance Limited to fund the consideration given by that company toNorthumbrian Water Limited for
the securitisation of the cash flows recervable from the Environment Agency under the Water Resources Operating Agreement relating
to Kielder Reservoir The assignment s for a period of 30 years
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The summansed combined financial statements of the special purpose entities are as follows

31.32007 3132006

£m £fm
Income statement
Finance costs receivable 150 150
Finance costs payable (14.9) {150)
Profit for the year 0.1 -
Balance sheet
Investments 240.1 2397
Current assets 45 45
Non-current liabihties (241 8) (241 4)
Current habilities 2.7 (28
Net assets 0.1 -
Cash flow statement
Investing activities - 06
Increase in cash and cash equivalents - 06

29. Related parties

During the year, the Group entered mnto transactions, in the ordmary course of business, with other related parties Those transactions
with directors of the Company are disclosed in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 39 to 49 In accordance with 1AS 24, the
directors consider that there are no further disclosures in respect of key management Transactions entered nto, and trading balances
outstanding at 31 March with other related parties, are as follows

Purchases Amounts Amounts
Salesto from related owed by owed to
related party party related party related party
£m £m £m £m
Related party
Associates
2007 - - - -
2006 33 - - -
Jontly controlled entities
2007 - 52 07 6.2
2006 - 43 09 62

Purchases from jointly controlled entities include £ 5 million (2006 £1 6 mitlion) in respect of capital purchases under finance
leases, £2 2 mullion (2006 £2 2 million) in respect of operating leases and £0 5 mulhon (2006 £0 5 mullion} in respect of finance costs
payable under finance leases

Qutstanding balances due from related parties are expected to be settled within 60 days and amounts due to related parties are in
respect of leasing arrangements, where the amounts owed will relate specifically to the terms of the lease

30. Contingent hability

The Group's subsidiary responsible for a contract with Scottish Water, Caledonian Environmental Services ple (CES), has received a
claim from 1its Design and Construction Consortium (DCC), primanly m respect of the DCC's additional costs attributed by 1t to non
conforming influent at the treatment works CES 1s defending this claim and has also 1ssued a counterclaim aganst the DCC As non-
conforming influent i1s ultimately the responsibihity of the client, CES has protected its position by 1ssuing a claim against Scottish
Water The directors do not expect any matenal loss to anise as a result of these claims
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Directors’ responsibilities

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in relation to the parent Company financial
statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements 1n accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements 1n accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) The financial
statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the

profit or loss of the Company for that period In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required
o

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

¢ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

» state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and

» prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 1t 1s inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue 1n business

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 1985 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties
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Report of the Auditors on the Company financial statements

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Northumbrian Water Group plc

We have audited the parent Company financial statements of Northumbrian Water Group plc for the year ended
31 March 2007 which comprise the balance sheet and the related notes 1 to 10 These parent Company
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein  We have also audited the
mformation 1n the Directors’ remuneration report that 1s described as having been audited

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of Northumbrian Water Group plc for the year
ended 31 March 2007

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Section 2335 of the
Companies Act 1985 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose To the fullest
extent permitted by taw, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opimons we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ remuneration report and the
parent Company financial statements 1n accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out tn the Statement of directors’
responsibilities

Our responsibility 1s to audit the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
remuneration report to be audited 1n accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We report to you our optnion as to whether the parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view
and whether the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be
audited have been properly prepared 1n accordance with the Compantes Act 1985 We also report to you
whether 1n our opimon the information given in the Directors' report and business review 15 consistent with the
financial statements

In addition we report to you 1if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, 1f we have
not recerved all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or 1f information specified by law
regarding directors’ remuneration and other transactions 1s not disclosed

We read other information contained 1n the Annual Report and consider whether 1t 1s consistent with the
audited parent Company fmancial statements The other information comprises only Highlights, NWG at a
glance, the Chairman’s statement, the Directors’ report and business review, Appendix to the Directors’ report
and business review, Board directors’ biographies, the Corporate governance report, the unaudited part of the
Directors’ remuneration report and Shareholder information We consider the imphications for our report 1f we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or matenial inconsistencies with the parent Company financial
statements Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information
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Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the
Auditing Practices Board An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to
be audited It also includes an assessment of the sigmficant estimates and judgments made by the directors 1n
the preparation of the parent Company financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
approprate to the Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we constdered
necessary 1n order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent Company
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other 1rregularity or error In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information 1n the parent Company financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ remuneratton report to be audited

Opinion

In our opinton

e the parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, 1n accordance with Umted Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 March 2007,

» the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited
have been properly prepared 1n accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

* the information given in the Directors’ report and business review 1s consistent with the parent Company

financial statements ‘ﬁ

Emst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
Newcastle upon Tyne
5 June 2007
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Northumbrian Water Group ple

Company balance sheet
As at 31 March 2007

3132007 31320006
Notes £m £m
Fixed assets
Investments in subsichary undertakings 4 1,022.6 1,022 6
1,022.6 1,022 6
Current assets
Debtors receivable within one year 5 6.9 74
Cash at bank 156 127
225 201
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6 (109 9 35)
Net current assets 11.6 10 6
Total assets less current habhihties 1,034 2 1,033 2
Creditors _amounts falling due after more than one year 7 (490 ) (490 0)
Net assels 544 2 543 2
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 8 51.9 519
Share premium account 9 446 5 446 5
Treasury shares 9 a3 an
Profit and loss account 9 471 46 5
Equtty sharcholders’ funds 544 2 5432

Approvedty the Board on 5 June 2007 and signed on its behalf by

na

Derek Wanless
Chairman

/
LM~
John Cuthbert
Managing Direct
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Northumbrian Water Group plc

Notes to the Company financial statements

1 Accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting

The financial staternents have been prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting standards The
accounting policies have been reviewed 1n accordance with the requirements of FRS 18 The directors consider the following
accounting policies to be relevant in relation to the Company’s financial statements The Company s financial statements are included
in the consolidated financial statements of Northumbrian Water Group plc Accordmngly, the Company has taken advantage of the
exemption from publishing a profit and bss account and cash flow statement and from disclosing related party transactions with its
subsidiaries The Company 1s also exempt from disclosing the information otherwise required by paragraphs 51 to 93 of FRS25
Financial Instruments Disclosure and Presentation, as the consohidated financial statements, m which the Company 1s included,
provide equivalent disclosures for the Group under IAS 32 Financial Instruments Presentatien and Disclosure.

(b) Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at their purchase cost, less any provision for impairment

(c) Taxation

Corporation tax 1s based on the profit for the year as adjusted for taxation purposes using the rates of tax enacted at the balance sheet
date Provision 1s made for deferred tax 1n respect of all iming differences that have onginated but not reversed at the balance sheet
date that will result 1n an obligation to pay more, or a right to pay less, tax in future periods Deferred tax 1s calculated at the tax rates
that are expected to apply n the periods 1n which uming differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date Deferred tax assets are recogmised only to the extent that the directors consider hat 1t
15 more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences
can be deducted As permitted by FRS 19, the Company hasadopted a policy of discounting deferred tax assets and habilities to
reflect the time value of money over the period between the balance sheet date and the dates on which it 15 estsmated that the
underlying timing differences will reverse The discount rates used reflect the posttax yields to matunity that can be obtained at the
balance sheet date on UK Government bonds with similar maturity dates to those of the deferred tax assets or habilities

{d) Interest bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are imitially stated at the amount of the ret proceeds, being fair value of the consideration received net of
1ssue costs associated with the borrowing Finance costs (including 1ssue costs) are taken to the income statement over the term of the
debt at a constant rate on the balance sheet carryingamount The carrying amount 1s increased by the finance charges amortised and
reduced by payments made 1n respect of the accounting period
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2  Auditors' remunerafton
Auditors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2007 was £84,000 (2006 £80,000)

Fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP for non-audit services to the Company itself are not disclosed in the individual financial statements
of the Company because Group financial statements are prepared which are required to disclose such fees on a consohidated basis

3. Profit attributable to members of the parent Company
The profit dealt with 1n the financial statements of the parentCompany 1s £56 9 milhon (2006 £71 0 million)

4. Investments in subsidiary undertakings

£m
At 1 Aprif 2006 and 31 March 2007 1,022 6
The Company’s interests in principal subsidianies at 31 March 2006 and 31 March 2007 were as follows
Proportion of
nominal

Country of value of

mecorporation or 1ssued shares

registration and Description of shares  held by
Name of undertaking operation held Group Business activity
Northumbrian Services Limited England and Wales Ordmary shares of £1 100 Holding of investments and

loans

Northumbrian Water Limited England and Wales Ordinary shares of £1 100 Water and sewerage services
Northumbnan Water Finance plc England and Wales Ordinary shares of £1 100 Holding of finance instruments
Catedonian Environmental Services  Scotland Ordinary shares of £1 75 Waste water services
ple
Caledoman Environmental Scotland Ordinary shares of £1 75 Waste water services
Levenmouth Treatment Services
Limited
Avyr Environmental Services Limited Scotland Ordinary shares of £1 75 Waste water services
Ayr Environmental Services Scotland Ordinary shares of £1 100 Waste water services
Operations Lamited
AquaGib Limited Gibraltar Ordinary shares of £1 67 Water and sewerage services
Northumbrnian Water Projects England and Wales Ordinary shares of £1 100 Waste water services
Limnited
Analytical & Environmental Services England and Wales Ordinary shares of £1 100 Analytical laboratory and
Limited * scientific services
SA Agrer NV Belgium Ordinary shares of £1 100 Auid funded project work

* On 31 March 2007, the business of AES merged with NWL and continues to opeate as a trading division of NWL

The directors consider that to give full particulars of all subsidiary and associated undertakings would lead (o a statement of excessive
length A full Iist of the Company's subsidiaries 1s attached to the Company's latst annual return filed at Companies House

5 Debtors
3132007 3132006
£m £m
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 6.5 30
Deferred tax - 40
Prepayments and accrued mcome 02 04
Other 02 -
69 74
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Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings include amounts receivable for the provisional surrender of tax losses amounting to £4 7
mullhion (2006 £1 6 million) The deferred tax asset relates wholly to other timing differences

The deferred tax asset provided in the financial statements comprises

Year to Year to

31.3.2007 3132006

fm fm

Other timing differences - 55
Discount - (15)
Discounted provision for deferred tax - 40

6. Creditors: amounts falhng due within one year

31.3.2007 3132006

£m £m

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 106 93
Accruals and deferred income 03 02
10.9 95

7. Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year

31.3.2007 3132006
£m £m
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 490 0 490 0

31.3.2007 313 2006
£m £m

Loans are repayable as follows
Not wholly repayable within five years 490.0 490 0

The loan bears a rate of interest inked to LIBOR The loan will continue until such time as terminated by mutual agreement
8 Authorised and issued share capital

31.3.2007 3132006

£m £m
Authorised
700 milhon ordinary shares of 10 pence each 700 700
Allotted, called up and fully paid
518 6 million ordinary shares of 10 pence each 519 519

The Northumbrian Water Group plc Employee Trust, through Northumbrian Water Share Scheme Trustees Limited, currently holds
716,917 (2006 976,668) ordmary 10 pence shares in the Company for use under the Company's Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
All of these shares have been conditionally awarded under the LTIP Details of the main features of the LTIP and the conditions for
vesting can be found in the directors’ remuneration report on pages41 to 45 As at 31 March 2007, the share price of the ordinary 10
pence shares in the Company was 310 00 pence (2006 238 75 pence)
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9, Reserves

Share
Treasury premium  Profit and
shares account loss account
£m fm £m
At Apnl 2005 (09 446 3 450
Profit for the year - - 710
Purchase of own shares for the LTIP (08) - -
Share-based payment - - 02
Refund of transaction costs - 02 -
Dividends - - (69 7)
At 31 March 2006 a7 446 5 46 5
Profit for the year - - 569
Purchase of own shares for the LTIP 02) - -
Share-based payment - - 01
Exercise of LTIP awards 06 - {0 6)
Dividends paid - - (55 8)
At 31 March 2007 (13) 446 5 471

10 Commitments

The Company has 1ssued letters of continuing support to subsidiary companies with net habilities amounting to £4 2 mullion (2006
£7 2 milhion) and net current hiabihties £n1l (2006 £ml) These subsidiary companies are expected to meet their working capital
requirements from operating cash flows

The Company 1s guarantor to EIB 11 respect of borrowings to Northumbrian Water Limited The loan principal outstanding at 31
March 2007 amounted to £376 nulhon (2006 £305 2 milhon)

The Company 1s party to a cross guarantee arrangement with other group companies in respect of bank facilities Overdrafts
outstanding at 31 March 2007 1n respect of the arrangement amounted to £1 | mullion (2006 £21 7 mulhon) The directors do not
expect any loss to arise as a result of this arrangement

The Group's subsidiary responsible for a contract with Scottish Water, Caledonian Environmental Services ple (CES), has received a
claim from 1ts Design and Construction Consortium (DCC), primarnily n respect of the DCC's addiional costs attributed by 1t to non-
conforming influent at the treatment works CES 15 defending this claim and has also 1ssued acounterclaim agamst the DCC  As nor-
conforming mfluent 1s ultimately the responsibility of the chent, CES has protected its position by 1ssuing a claim aganst Scottish
Water The directors do not expect any material loss to arise as a result of these clains

93




Shareholder information

Electronic communications

Shareholders can choose to receive an email notification
when reports are available to view or download from our
website, nstead of recewving a printed copy To register,
email the words 'Northumbrian Water Group shareholder' to
ecomms(@capitaregistrars com and include your full name,
address and Investor Code 1n the body of the email

Drip/Serip

The Company receives occasional requests from shareholders
wishing to receive thewr dividends mn the form of shares
instead of cash There are costs mvolved m providing this
service, and at present 1t would not be cost effective This
1ssue 1s kept under regular review

ShareDeal

You can make use of a low cost share dealing service
provided by Capita Registrars to buy or sell shares in NWG
Further information 1s available at www capitaregistrars com,
or by telephoning 0870 458 4577

Disability Discrimination Act

If you wish to receive a copy of our annual or interim reports
on audio tape, i braille or in a large text version, please
telephone us on 0191 301 6704, or email us at
shareholders@nwl co uk.

For queries about your shares please contact Capita
Registrars:

Northern House

Woodsome Park

Fenay Bridge

Huddersfield

West Yorkshire, HDS OLA

Tel 0870 162 3131

From overseas +44 20 8639 3131

Fax 01484 600911

Email shareholder services(@capitaregistrars com
Web WWW capitaregistrars com

For general shareholder queries please contact
Secretariat:

Tel 0191 301 6704/0191 301 6701
Fax 0191 301 6705
Email shareholders@nwl co uk

To request financial statements and other Company
hterature please contact Communications:

Tel 0191 301 6734

Email sharcholdersi@nwl co uk

Annual General Meeting

The Notice of Meeting, information about the AGM to be
held on 2 August 2007 and the proxy voting card are
enclosed with these financial statements Shareholder
questions and special needs requests should be addressed to
Secretariat at our registered office address, by telephone on
0191 301 6701, or by eman] at shareholders@nwl co uk
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Company Secretary and registered office
Martin Parker

Northumbrian Water Group plc
Northumbria House

Abbey Road

Pity Me

Durham, DH1 5F]

Tel 0870 608 4820

Shareholder analysis

Breakdown of share holdings by type as at 31 March 2007

m, A% 7%

a ndn dualke

@ Ontanc Teachers Pension Plan
Board

DO Nomnee accounts

0 Investment trusts pensions
funds and other mstitutions

W Banks and bank nommees

E7%

Number of shareholders by saze of holding as at 31 March 2007

Q Sharcholders wath 1
shares

& Sharchoklers wih 1001 5 000
shares

1000
§v 2% 1% g,

0O Sharchoklers with 5 001
10 090 shares

O Shareholers with 10001
100 000 shares

W Shareholders witk 100 001
1 000000 skares

B Sharchoklers with over
1 000000 gharcs

%

Financial calendar

2007

2 August AGM

15 August Ex-dividend date

17 August Record date

14 September Fmal dividend payment

28 November Interun results announcement

19 December
21 December
2008

1 February

Ex-dividend date
Record date

Interim dividend payment

Group websites

www nwg couk

www nwl co uk

www eswater co uk
www aes-services co uk
WWW agrer com

Northumbrian Water main switchboard
Tel 0870 608 4820
Northumbrian Water customer queries
Customer services 0845 717 1100
Customer accounts 0845 733 5566
Essex & Suffolk Water customer queries
Customer services 0845 782 (999
Customer accounts 0845782 0111




